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789336–W, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 
 

10/28/2021 
 

50 12365 

Defendant’s (Pro Se) Request for 
Petition to be Stricken as it is 
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22, 2011) 
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33. Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law, State 
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Clark County (Mar. 17, 
2014) 

02/13/2019 28 6786–6793 

34. Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus, State v. Johnson, 
Case No. 153154, District 
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2014) 
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Second Petition for Habeas 
Corpus (Post-Conviction), 
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2015) 
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37. Appellant’s Opening Brief, 
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38. Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law), State 
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153154, District Court, 
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40. Appellant’s Reply Brief, 
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Nov. 18, 2015 

02/13/2019 28–29 6980–7078 

45. Autopsy Report for Peter 
Talamantez (Aug. 15, 
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02/13/2019 29 7079–7091 

46. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept. Voluntary 
Statement of Ace Rayburn 
Hart_Redacted (Aug. 17, 
1998) 

02/13/2019 29 7092–7121 

47. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept., Voluntary 
Statement of Brian 

02/13/2019 29 7122–7138 
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17, 1998) 

48. Indictment, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
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Case No. C153154 (Sep. 2, 
1998) 

02/13/2019 29 7139–7149 

49. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept., Voluntary 
Statement of Terrell 
Young_Redacted (Sep. 2, 
1998) 

02/13/2019 29 7150–7205 

50. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept., Voluntary 
Statement of Charla 
Severs _Redacted (Sep. 3, 
1998) 
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51. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
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Statement of Sikia 
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52. Superseding Indictment, 
State v. Johnson, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada Case No. C153154 
(Sep. 15, 1998) 

02/13/2019 30 7270–7284 

53. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept., Voluntary 
Statement of Todd 
Armstrong_Redacted (Sep. 
17, 1998) 

02/13/2019 30 7285–7338 
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Statement of Ace 
Hart_Redacted (Sep. 22, 
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98FM (Jan. 21, 1999) 

02/13/2019 30–31 7359–7544 

56. Trial Transcript (Volume 
VIII), State v. Smith, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153624 (June 17, 1999) 

02/13/2019 31 7545–7675 

57. Trial Transcript (Volume 
XVI-AM), State v. Smith, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
153624 (June 24, 1999) 

02/13/2019 31–32 7676–7824 

58. Motion to Permit DNA 
Testing of Cigarette Butt 
(Aug. 17, 1998) 

02/13/2019 32 7825–7835 

59. Trial Transcript (Volume 
VI), State v. Young, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada, Case No. 
C153154 (Sep. 7, 1999) 

02/13/2019 32 7836–7958 

60. Interview of Charla Severs 
(Sep. 27, 1999) 

02/13/2019 32 7959–7980 

61. Motion to Videotape 
Deposition of Charla 
Severs, State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154 (Sep. 29, 1999) 

02/13/2019 32–33 7981–8004 

62. Opposition to Videotape 
Deposition of Charla 
Severs, State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 

02/13/2019 33 8005–8050 



9 
 

DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154 (Oct. 6, 1999) 

63. Transcript of Video 
Deposition of Charla 
Severs (Filed Under Seal), 
State v. Johnson, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada Case No. C153154 
(Oct. 6, 1999)  

02/13/2019 
SEALED 

33 8051–8160 

64. Cellmark Report of 
Laboratory Examination 
(Nov. 17, 1999) 

02/13/2019 33 8161–8165 

65. Motion for Change of 
Venue, State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154 (Nov. 29, 1999) 

02/13/2019 33 8166–8291 

66. Records from the 
California Youth 
Authority_Redacted 

02/13/2019 33–34 8292–8429 

67. Jury Instructions (Guilt 
Phase), State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154 (June 8, 2000) 

02/13/2019 34 
 

8430–8496 

68. Verdict Forms (Guilt 
Phase), State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154 (June 9, 2000) 

02/13/2019 34 8497–8503 

69. Special Verdict, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 (June 
15, 2000) 

02/13/2019 34 8504–8506 

70. Affidavit of Kristina 
Wildeveld (June 23, 2000) 

02/13/2019 34 8507–8509 
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71. Amended Notice of 

Evidence Supporting 
Aggravating 
Circumstances, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 
(Mar. 17, 2004) 

02/13/2019 34 8510–8518 

72. Second Amended Notice of 
Evidence Supporting 
Aggravating 
Circumstances, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 (Apr. 6, 
2004) 

02/13/2019 34 8519–8527 

73. Opposition to Second 
Amended Notice of 
Evidence Supporting 
Aggravating 
Circumstances, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 (Apr. 
20, 2004) 

02/13/2019 34 8528–8592 

74. Reply to Opposition to 
Notice of Evidence 
Supporting Aggravating 
Circumstances, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 (Apr. 
26, 2004) 

02/13/2019 34–35 8593–8621 

75. Jury Instructions (Penalty 
Phase 3), State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 

02/13/2019 35 8622–8639 
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C153154 (Apr. 28, 2005) 

76. Petition for rehearing, 
Johnson v. State, Nevada 
Supreme Court, Case No. 
45456 (Mar. 27, 2007) 

02/13/2019 35 8640–8652 

77. John L. Smith, Mabey 
takes heat for attending 
his patients instead of the 
inauguration, Las Vegas 
Review-Journal (Jan. 5, 
2007) 

02/13/2019 35 8653–8656 

78. Sam Skolnik, Judge out of 
order, ethics claims say, 
Las Vegas Sun (Apr. 27, 
2007) 

02/13/2019 35 8657–8660 

79. EM 110 - Execution 
Procedure_Redacted (Nov. 
7, 2017) 

02/13/2019 35 8661–8667 

80. Nevada v. Baldonado, 
Justice Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
04FH2573X (Mar. 30, 
2004) 

02/13/2019 35 8668–8698 

81. Birth Certificate John 
White Jr_Redacted 

02/13/2019 35 8699–8700 

82. Declaration of Eloise Kline 
(Nov. 19, 2016) 

02/13/2019 35 8701–8704 

83. Jury Questionnaire 
2000_Barbara 
Fuller_Redacted (May 24, 
2000) 

02/13/2019 35 8705–8727 

84. Media Jury Questionnaire 
2000 

02/13/2019 35–36 8728–8900 

85. Media Jury Questionnaire 
2005 

02/13/2019 36 8901–9025 

86. News Articles 02/13/2019 36–37 9026–9296 
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95. State’s Exhibit 75 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9321–9323 
96. State’s Exhibit 76 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9324–9326 
97. State’s Exhibit 79 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9327–9329 
98. State’s Exhibit 80 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9330–9332 
99. State’s Exhibit 81 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9333–9335 
100. State’s Exhibit 82 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9336–9338 
101. State’s Exhibit 86 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9339–9341 
102. State’s Exhibit 89 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9342–9344 
103. State’s Exhibit 92 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9345–9347 
104. State’s Exhibit 113 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9348–9350 
105. State’s Exhibit 116 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9351–9353 
106. State’s Exhibit 120 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9354–9356 
107. State’s Exhibit 125 – Photo 02/13/2019 37 9357–9359 
108. State’s Exhibit 130 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9360–9362 
109. State’s Exhibit 134 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9363–9365 
110.  State’s Exhibit 137 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9366–9368 
111. State’s Exhibit 145 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9369–9371 
112. State’s Exhibit 146 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9372–9374 
113. State’s Exhibit 148 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9375–9377 
114. State’s Exhibit 151 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9378–9380 
115. State’s Exhibit 180 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9381–9384 
116. State’s Exhibit 181 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9385–9388 
117. State’s Exhibit 216 - 

Probation Officer’s Report - 
Juvenile_Redacted 

02/13/2019 38 9389–9403 

118. State’s Exhibit 217 - 
Probation Officer’s 
Report_Redacted 

02/13/2019 38 9404–9420 
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119. State’s Exhibit 221 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9421–9423 
120. State’s Exhibit 222 – Photo 02/13/2019 38 9424–9426 
121. State’s Exhibit 256 02/13/2019 38 9427–9490 
122. Las Vegas Metropolitan 

Police Dept. Crime Scene 
Report (Aug. 14, 1998) 

02/13/2019 38 9491–9499 

123. VCR at Terra Linda 02/13/2019 38 9500–9501 
124. VCR Remote Control 

Buying Guide 
02/13/2019 38 9502–9505 

125. Jury Instructions (Penalty 
Phase 3), State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154 (May 4, 2005) 

02/13/2019 38 9506–9519 

126. Motion to Bifurcate 
Penalty Phase, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 (Apr. 
27, 2004) 

02/13/2019 38 9520–9525 

127. Motion to Reconsider 
Request to Bifurcate 
Penalty Phase, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 (Apr. 
11, 2005) 

02/13/2019 38 9526–9532 

128. Special Verdicts (Penalty 
Phase 3), State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154 (Apr. 28, 2005) 

02/13/2019 38 9533–9544 

129. Verdict (Penalty Phase 3), 
State v. Johnson, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada Case No. C153154 
(May 5, 2005) 

02/13/2019 38 9545–9549 
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130. Declaration of Arthur Cain 

(Oct. 29, 2018) 
02/13/2019 38 9550–9552 

131. Declaration of Deborah 
White (Oct. 27, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9553–9555 

132. Declaration of Douglas 
McGhee (Oct. 28, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9556–9558 

133. Declaration of Elizabeth 
Blanding (Oct. 29, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9559–9560 

134. Declaration of Jesse 
Drumgole (Oct. 27, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9561–9562 

135. Declaration of Johnnisha 
Zamora (Oct. 28, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9563–9566 

136. Declaration of Johnny 
White (Oct. 26, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9567–9570 

137. Declaration of Keonna 
Bryant (Oct. 30, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9571–9573 

138. Declaration of Lolita 
Edwards (Oct. 30, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9574–9576 

139. Declaration of Loma White 
(Oct. 31, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9577–9579 

140. Declaration of Moises 
Zamora (Oct. 28, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9580–9582 

141. Declaration of Vonjelique 
Johnson (Oct. 28, 2018) 

02/13/2019 38 9583–9585 

142. Los Angeles Dept. of Child 
& Family 
Services_Redacted 

02/13/2019 38–39 9586–9831 

143. Psychological Evaluation of 
Donte Johnson by Myla H. 
Young, Ph.D. (June 6, 
2000) 

02/13/2019 39 9832–9841 

144. Psychological Evaluation of 
Eunice Cain (Apr. 25, 
1988) 

02/13/2019 39 9842–9845 
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145. Psychological Evaluation of 

John White by Harold 
Kates (Dec. 28, 1993) 

02/13/2019 39–40 9846–9862 

146. Student Report for John 
White 

02/13/2019 40 9863–9867 

147. School Records for 
Eunnisha White_Redated 

02/13/2019 40 9868–9872 

148.  High School Transcript for 
John White_Redacted 

02/13/2019 40 9873–9874 

149. School Record for John 
White_Redacted 

02/13/2019 40 9875–9878 

150. Certified Copy SSA 
Records_Eunice 
Cain_Redacted 

02/13/2019 40 9879–9957 

151. Declaration of Robin Pierce 
(Dec. 16, 2018) 

02/13/2019 40 9958–9961 

152. California Department of 
Corrections 
Records_Redacted (Apr. 25, 
2000) 

02/13/2019 40 
  

9962–10060 

153. Letter from Maxine Miller 
to Lisa Calandro re 
forensic lab report (Apr. 
13, 1999) 

02/13/2019 40 10061–10077 

154. Letter from Lisa Calandro 
Forensic Analytical to 
Maxine Miller (Apr. 20, 
1994) 

02/13/2019 40 10078–10080 

155. Memorandum re call with 
Richard Good (Apr. 29, 
1999) 

02/13/2019 40 10081–10082 

156. Letter from Maxine Miller 
to Berch Henry at Metro 
DNA Lab (May 7, 1999) 

02/13/2019 40 10083–10086 

157. Letter from Maxine Miller 
to Richard Good (May 10, 
1999) 

02/13/2019 40 10087–10092 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
158. Letter from Maxine Miller 

to Tom Wahl (May 26, 
1999) 

02/13/2019 40 10093–10098 

159. Stipulation and Order, 
State v. Johnson, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada Case No. C153154 
(June 8, 1999) 

02/13/2019 40 10099–10101 

160. Stipulation and Order, 
State v. Johnson, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada Case No. C153154, 
(June 14, 1999) 

02/13/2019 40 
 

10102–10105 

161. Letter from Maxine Miller 
to Larry Simms (July 12, 
1999) 

02/13/2019 40–41 10106–10110 
 

162. Stipulation and Order, 
State v. Johnson, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada Case No. C153154 
(Dec. 22, 1999) 

02/13/2019 41 10111–10113 

163. Letter from Maxine Miller 
to Nadine LNU re bullet 
fragments (Mar. 20, 2000) 

02/13/2019 41 10114–10118 

164. Memorandum (Dec. 10, 
1999) 

02/13/2019 41 10119–10121 

165. Forensic Analytical 
Bloodstain Pattern 
Interpretation (June 1, 
2000) 

02/13/2019 41 10122–10136 

166. Trial Transcript (Volume 
III), State v. Young, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada, Case No. 
C153461 (Sep. 7, 1999) 

02/13/2019 41 10137–10215 

167. Trial Transcript (Volume 
VII), State v. Young, 

02/13/2019 41 10216–10332 
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District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada, Case No. 
C153461 (Sep. 13, 1999) 

168. National Research Council, 
Strengthening Forensic 
Science in the United 
States: A Path Forward, 
Washington, D.C.: The 
National Academies Press 
(2009) 

02/13/2019 41 10333–10340 

169. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept. Forensic Lab 
Report of Examination 
(Sep. 26, 1998) 

02/13/2019 41 
  

10341–10343 

170. Todd Armstrong juvenile 
records_Redacted 

02/13/2019 41–42 10344–10366 

171. Handwritten notes on 
Pants 

02/13/2019 42 10367–10368 

172. Declaration of Cassondrus 
Ragsdale (Dec. 16, 2018) 

02/13/2019 42 10369–10371 

173. Report of Dr. Kate 
Glywasky (Dec. 19, 2018) 

02/13/2019 42 10372–10375 

174. Curriculum Vitae of Dr. 
Kate Glywasky 

02/13/2019 42 10376–10384 

175. Report of Deborah Davis, 
Ph.D. (Dec. 18, 2018) 

02/13/2019 42 10385–10435 

176. Curriculum Vitae of 
Deborah Davis, Ph.D. 

02/13/2019 42 10436–10462 

177. Report of T. Paulette 
Sutton, Associate 
Professor, Clinical 
Laboratory Sciences (Dec. 
18, 2018) 

02/13/2019 42 10463–10472 

178. Curriculum Vitae of T. 
Paulette Sutton 

02/13/2019 42 10473–10486 
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179. Report of Matthew Marvin, 

Certified Latent Print 
Examiner (Dec. 18, 2018) 

02/13/2019 42 10487–10494 

180. Curriculum Vitae of 
Matthew Marvin 

02/13/2019 42 10495–10501 

181. Trial Transcript (Volume 
V), State v. Smith, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada Case No. C153624 
(June 16, 1999) 

02/13/2019 42–43 
 
 

10502–10614 

182. Trial Transcript (Volume 
VI), State v. Smith, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153624 (June 16, 1999) 

02/13/2019 43 10615–10785 

183. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept. Interview of 
Tod Armstrong_Redacted 
(Aug. 17, 1998) 

02/13/2019 43 10786–10820 

184. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept. Interview of 
Tod Armstrong _Redacted 
(Aug. 18, 1998) 

02/13/2019 43 10821–10839 

185. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept. Interview of 
Charla Severs_Redacted 
(Aug. 18, 1998) 

02/13/2019 43–44 10840–10863 

186. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept. Interview of 
Sikia Smith_Redacted 
(Aug. 17, 1998) 

02/13/2019 44 10864–10882 

187. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Dept. Interview of 
Terrell Young_Redacted 
(Sep. 2, 1998) 

02/13/2019 44 10883–10911 

188. Declaration of Ashley 
Warren (Dec. 17, 2018) 

02/13/2019 44 10912–10915 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
189. Declaration of John Young 

(Dec. 10, 2018) 
02/13/2019 44 10916–10918 

190. Brief of Plaintiffs-
Appellants, Abdur’rahman 
v. Parker, Tennessee 
Supreme Court, Nashville 
Division, Case No. M2018-
10385-SC-RDO-CV 

02/13/2019 44–45 10919–11321 

191. Sandoz’ Inc.’s Motion for 
Leave Pursuant to NRAP 
29 to Participate as Amicus 
Curiae in Support of Real 
Parties in Interest, Nevada 
v. The Eighth Judicial 
Disrict Court of the State 
of Nevada, Nevada 
Supreme Court, Case No. 
76485 

02/13/2019 45 11322–11329 

192. Notice of Entry of Order, 
Dozier v. State of Nevada, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada, Case No. 
05C215039 

02/13/2019 45 11330–11350 

193. Declaration of Cassondrus 
Ragsdale (2018.12.18) 

02/13/2019 45 11351–11353 

194. Affidavit of David B. 
Waisel, State of Nevada, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Case No. 
05C215039 (Oct. 4, 2018) 

02/13/2019 45–46 
  

11354–11371 

195. Declaration of Hans 
Weding (Dec. 18, 2018) 

02/13/2019 46 11372–11375 

196. Trial Transcript (Volume 
IX), State v. Smith, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153624 (June 18, 1999) 

02/13/2019 46 11376–11505 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
197. Voluntary Statement of 

Luis Cabrera (August 14, 
1998) 

02/13/2019 46 11506–11507 

198. Voluntary Statement of 
Jeff Bates 
(handwritten)_Redacted 
(Aug. 14, 1998) 

02/13/2019 46 11508–11510 

199. Voluntary Statement of 
Jeff Bates_Redacted (Aug. 
14, 1998) 

02/13/2019 46 
 

11511–11517 

200. Presentence Investigation 
Report, State’s Exhibit 
236, State v. Young, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153461_Redacted (Sep. 
15, 1999) 

02/13/2019 46 11518–11531 

201. Presentence Investigation 
Report, State’s Exhibit 
184, State v. Smith, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153624_Redacted (Sep. 
18, 1998) 

02/13/2019 46 11532–11540 

202. School Record of Sikia 
Smith, Defendant’s Exhibit 
J, State v. Smith, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada (Case No. 
C153624) 

02/13/2019 46 11541–11542 

203. School Record of Sikia 
Smith, Defendant’s Exhibit 
K, State v. Smith, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada (Case No. 
C153624) 

02/13/2019 46 11543–11544 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
204. School Record of Sikia 

Smith, Defendant’s Exhibit 
L, State v. Smith, District 
Court, Clark County, 
Nevada (Case No. 
C153624) 

02/13/2019 46 11545–11546 

205. Competency Evaluation of 
Terrell Young by Greg 
Harder, Psy.D., Court’s 
Exhibit 2, State v. Young, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153461 (May 3, 2006) 

02/13/2019 46 11547–11550 

206. Competency Evaluation of 
Terrell Young by C. Philip 
Colosimo, Ph.D., Court’s 
Exhibit 3, State v. Young, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153461 (May 3, 2006) 

02/13/2019 46 11551–11555 

207. Motion and Notice of 
Motion in Limine to 
Preclude Evidence of Other 
Guns Weapons and 
Ammunition Not Used in 
the Crime, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 (Oct. 19, 
1999) 

02/13/2019 46 11556–11570 

208. Declaration of Cassondrus 
Ragsdale (Dec. 19, 2018) 

02/13/2019 46 11571–11575 

209. Post –Evidentiary Hearing 
Supplemental Points and 
Authorities, Exhibit A: 
Affidavit of Theresa 
Knight, State v. Johnson, 

02/13/2019 46 11576–11577 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154, June 5, 2005 

210. Post –Evidentiary Hearing 
Supplemental Points and 
Authorities, Exhibit B: 
Affidavit of Wilfredo 
Mercado, State v. Johnson, 
District Court, Clark 
County, Nevada Case No. 
C153154, June 22, 2005 

02/13/2019 46 11578–11579 

211. Genogram of Johnson 
Family Tree 

02/13/2019 46 11580–11581 

212. Motion in Limine 
Regarding Referring to 
Victims as “Boys”, State v. 
Johnson, District Court, 
Clark County, Nevada 
Case No. C153154 

02/13/2019 46 11582–11585 

213. Declaration of Schaumetta 
Minor, (Dec. 18, 2018) 

02/13/2019 46 11586–11589 

214. Declaration of Alzora 
Jackson (Feb. 11, 2019) 

 

02/13/2019 46 11590–11593 

Exhibits in Support of 
Petitioner’s Motion for Leave to 
Conduct Discovery 

12/13/2019 49 12197–12199 

1. Holloway v. Baldonado, 
No. A498609, Plaintiff’s 
Opposition to Motion for 
Summary Judgment, 
District Court of Clark 
County, Nevada, filed Aug. 
1, 2007 

12/13/2019 49 
 

12200–12227 

2. Handwritten letter from 
Charla Severs, dated Sep. 
27, 1998 

12/13/2019 49 12228–12229 



23 
 

DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Exhibits in Support of Reply to 
State’s Response to Petition for 
Writ of Habeas Corpus 

12/13/2019 47 11837–11839 

215. Holloway v. Baldonado, 
No. A498609, Plaintiff’s 
Opposition to Motion for 
Summary Judgment, 
District Court of Clark 
County, Aug. 1, 2007 

12/13/2019 47–48 11840–11867 

216. Holloway v. Baldonado, 
No. A498609, Opposition to 
Motion for Summary 
Judgment Filed by 
Defendants Stewart Bell, 
David Roger, and Clark 
County, District Court of 
Clark County, filed Jan. 
16, 2008 

12/13/2019 48–49 11868–12111 

217. Letter from Charla Severs, 
dated Sep. 27, 1998 

12/13/2019 49 12112–12113 

218. Decision and Order, State 
of Nevada v. Johnson, Case 
No. C153154, District 
Court of Clark County, 
filed Apr. 18, 2000 

12/13/2019 49 12114–12120 

219. State’s Motion to 
Disqualify the Honorable 
Lee Gates, State of Nevada 
v. Johnson, Case No. 
C153154, District Court of 
Clark County, filed Apr. 4, 
2005 

12/13/2019 49 12121–12135 

220. Affidavit of the Honorable 
Lee A. Gates, State of 
Nevada v. Johnson, Case 
No. C153154, District 

12/13/2019 49 12136–12138 



24 
 

DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Court of Clark County, 
filed Apr. 5, 2005 

221. Motion for a New Trial 
(Request for Evidentiary 
Hearing), State of Nevada 
v. Johnson, Case No. 
C153154, District Court of 
Clark County, filed June 
23, 2000 

12/13/2019 49 12139–12163 

222. Juror Questionnaire of 
John Young, State of 
Nevada v. Johnson, Case 
No. C153154, District 
Court of Clark County, 
dated May 24, 2000 

 

12/13/2019 49 16124–12186 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 
Law and Order, Johnson v. 
Gittere, et al., Case No. A–19–
789336–W, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 
 

10/08/2021 49 12352–12357 

Minute Order (denying 
Petitioner’s Post–Conviction 
Writ of Habeas Corpus, Motion 
for Discovery and Evidentiary 
Hearing), Johnson v. Gittere, et 
al., Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

05/15/2019 49 12264–12266 

Minutes of Motion to Vacate 
Briefing Schedule and Strike 
Habeas Petition 
 

07/09/2019 47 11710 

Motion and Notice of Motion for 
Evidentiary Hearing, Johnson v. 

12/13/2019 49 12231–12241 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Gittere, et al., Case No. A–19–
789336–W, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 
 
Motion and Notice to Conduct 
Discovery, Johnson v. Gittere, et 
al., Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

12/13/2019 49 12187–12196 

Motion for Leave to File Under 
Seal and Notice of Motion 
 

02/15/2019  11600–11602 

Motion in Limine to Prohibit 
Any References to the First 
Phase as the “Guilt Phase” 
 

11/29/1999 2 302–304 

Motion to Vacate Briefing 
Schedule and Strike Habeas 
Petition, Johnson v. Gittere, et 
al., Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

05/16/2019 46–47 11609–11612 

Motion to Vacate Briefing 
Schedule and Strike Habeas 
Petition, Johnson v. Gittere, et 
al., Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

05/23/2019 47 11621–11624 

Motion to Withdraw Request to 
Strike Petition and to Withdraw 
Request for Petition to be 
Stricken as Not Properly Before 
the Court), Johnson v. Gittere, 
et al., Case No. A–19–789336–

06/26/2019 47 11708–11709 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
W, Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 
Notice of Appeal, Johnson v. 
Gittere, et al., Case No. A–19–
789336–W, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 

11/10/2021 50 12366–12368 

Notice of Entry of Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law and 
Order, Johnson v. Gittere, et al., 
Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

10/11/2021 49–50 12358–12364 

Notice of Hearing (on Discovery 
Motion), Johnson v. Gittere, et 
al., Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

12/13/2019 49 12330 

Notice of Objections to Proposed 
Order, Johnson v. Gittere, et al., 
Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

02/02/2021 49 12267–12351 

Notice of Supplemental Exhibit 
223, Johnson v. Gittere, et al., 
Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 

02/11/2019 49 11242–12244 

223. Declaration of Dayvid J. 
Figler, dated Feb. 10, 2020 

 

02/11/2019 49 12245–12247 

Opposition to Defendants’ 
Motion in Limine to Prohibit 

12/02/1999 2 305–306 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Any References to the First 
Phase as the “Guilt Phase” 
 
Opposition to Motion in Limine 
to Preclude Evidence of Other 
Guns, Weapons and 
Ammunition Not Used in the 
Crime 
 

11/04/1999 2 283–292 

Opposition to Motion to Vacate 
Briefing Schedule and Strike 
Habeas Petition, Johnson v. 
Gittere, et al., Case No. A–19–
789336–W, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 
 

05/28/2019 47 11625–11628 

Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus, Johnson v. Gittere, et 
al., Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 

02/13/2019 24–25 5752–6129 

Post–Evidentiary Hearing 
Supplemental Points and 
Authorities 
 

06/22/2005 22 5472–5491 

Reply to Opposition to Motion to 
Vacate Briefing Schedule and 
Strike Habeas Petition 
 

06/20/2019 47 11705–11707 

Reply to State’s Response to 
Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus 
 

12/13/2019 47 
 

11718–11836 

State’s Response to Defendant’s 
Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus (Post–Conviction), 

05/29/2019 47 11629–11704 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Johnson v. Gittere, et al., Case 
No. A–19–789336–W, Clark 
County District Court, Nevada 
 
Stipulation and Order to Modify 
Briefing Schedule, Johnson v. 
Gittere, et al., Case No. A–19–
789336–W, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 
 

09/30/2019 47 11711–11714 

Stipulation and Order to Modify 
Briefing Schedule, Johnson v. 
Gittere, et al., Case No. A–19–
789336–W, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 
 

11/22/2019 47 11715–11717 

Transcript of All Defendant’s 
Pending Motions 
 

03/02/2000 2 416–430 

Transcript of Argument to 
Admit Evidence of Aggravating 
Circumstances 
 

05/03/2004 12 2904–2958 

Transcript of Argument:  
Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus (All Issues Raised in the 
Petition and Supplement) 
 

12/01/2011 22–23 5498–5569 

Transcript of Arguments 
 

04/28/2004 12 2870–2903 

Transcript of Decision:  
Procedural Bar and Argument:  
Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus 
 

07/20/2011 22 5492–5497 

Transcript of Defendant’s 
Motion for Leave to File Under 

02/25/2019 46 11594–11599 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Seal, Johnson v. Gittere, et al., 
Case No. A–19–789336–W, 
Clark County District Court, 
Nevada 
 
Transcript of Defendant’s 
Motion to Reveal the Identity of 
Informants and Reveal Any 
Benefits, Deals, Promises or 
Inducements; Defendant’s 
Motion to Compel Disclosure of 
Existence and Substance of 
Expectations, or Actual Receipt 
of Benefits or Preferential 
Treatment for Cooperation with 
Prosecution; Defendant’s Motion 
to Compel the Production of Any 
and All Statements of 
Defendant; Defendant’s Reply to 
Opposition to Motion in Limine 
to Preclude Evidence of Other 
Guns, Weapons, Ammunition; 
Defendant’s Motion in Limine to 
Preclude Evidence of Witness 
Intimidation 
 

11/18/1999 2 293–301 

Transcript of Evidentiary 
Hearing 
 

05/17/2004 12 2959–2989 

Transcript of Evidentiary 
Hearing 
 

06/14/2005 22 5396–5471 

Transcript of Evidentiary 
Hearing 
 

04/04/2013 23 5570–5673 

Transcript of Evidentiary 
Hearing 

04/11/2013 23 5674–5677 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
 
Transcript of Evidentiary 
Hearing 
 

06/21/2013 23 5678–5748 

Transcript of Evidentiary 
Hearing 
 

09/18/2013 23–24 5749–5751 

Transcript of Excerpted 
Testimony of Termaine Anthony 
Lytle 
 

05/17/2004 12 2990–2992 

Transcript of Jury Trial – Day 1 
(Volume I) 
 

06/05/2000 2–4 431–809 

Transcript of Jury Trial – Day 2 
(Volume II) 
 

06/06/2000 4–5 810–1116 

Transcript of Jury Trial – Day 3 
(Volume III) 
 

06/07/2000 5–7 1117–1513 

Transcript of Jury Trial – Day 4 
(Volume IV) 
 

06/08/2000 7–8 1514–1770 

Transcript of Jury Trial – Day 5 
(Volume V) 
 

06/09/2000 8 1771–1179 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 1 (Volume I) AM 
 

04/19/2005 12–13 2993–3018 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 1 (Volume I) PM 
 

4/19/20051 
 

13 3019–3176 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 10 (Volume X) 
 

05/02/2005 20–21 4791–5065 

 
1 This transcript was not filed with the District Court nor is it under seal. 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 10 (Volume X) – 
Exhibits 
 

05/02/2005 21 5066–5069 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 11 (Volume XI) 
 

05/03/2005 21–22 5070–5266 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 12 (Volume XII) 
 

05/04/2005 22 5267–5379 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 12 (Volume XII) – 
Deliberations 
 

05/04/2005 22 5380–5383 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 13 (Volume XIII)  
 

05/05/2005 22 5384–5395 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 2 (Volume I) AM 
 

04/20/2005 13 3177–3201 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 2 (Volume II) PM 
 

04/20/2005 13–14 3202–3281 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 3 (Volume III) PM 
 

04/21/2005 14–15 3349–3673 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 3 (Volume III–A) 
AM 
 

04/21/2005 14 3282–3348 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 4 (Volume IV) AM 
– Amended Cover Page 
 

04/22/2005 16 3790–3791 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 4 (Volume IV) PM 
 

04/22/2005 15–16 3674–3789 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 4 (Volume IV–B) 
 

04/22/2005 16 3792–3818 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 5 (Volume V) PM 
 

04/25/2005 16 3859–3981 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 5 (Volume V–A) 
 

04/25/2005 16 3819–3858 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 6 (Volume VI) PM 
 

04/26/2005 17–18 4103–4304 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 6 (Volume VI–A) 
PM 
 

04/26/2005 16–17 3982–4102 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 7 (Volume VII– 
PM) 
 

04/27/2005 18 4382–4477 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 7 (Volume VII–A) 
 

04/27/2005 18 4305–4381 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 8 (Volume VIII–
C) 
 

04/28/2005 18–19 4478–4543 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty – Day 9 (Volume IX) 
 

04/29/2005 19–20 4544–4790 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty Phase – Day 1 (Volume 
I) AM 
 

06/13/2000 8 1780–1908 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty Phase – Day 1 (Volume 
II) PM 

06/13/2000 8–9 1909–2068 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
 
Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty Phase – Day 2 (Volume 
III) 
 

06/14/2000 9–10 2069-2379 

Transcript of Jury Trial – 
Penalty Phase – Day 3 (Volume 
IV) 
 

06/16/2000 10 2380–2470 

Transcript of Material Witness 
Charla Severs’ Motion for Own 
Recognizance Release 
 

01/18/2000 2 414–415 

Transcript of Motion for a New 
Trial 
 

07/13/2000 10 2471–2475 

Transcript of Petition for Writ of 
Habeas Corpus and Setting of 1. 
Motion for Leave and 2. Motion 
for Evidentiary Hearing, 
Johnson v. Gittere, et al., Case 
No. A–19–789336–W, Clark 
County District Court, Nevada 
 

02/13/2020 49 12249–12263 

Transcript of Preliminary 
Hearing 
 

10/12/1999 2 260–273 

Transcript of State’s Motion to 
Permit DNA Testing 
 

09/02/1999 2 252 – 254 

Transcript of State’s Motion to 
Videotape the Deposition of 
Charla Severs 
 

10/11/1999 2 255–259 

Transcript of Status Check:  
Filing of All Motions 
(Defendant’s Motion to Reveal 

10/21/1999 2 274–282 



34 
 

DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
the Identity of Informants and 
Reveal Any Benefits, Deals, 
Promises or Inducements; 
Defendant’s Motion to Compel 
Disclosure of Existence and 
Substance of Expectations, or 
Actual Receipt of Benefits or 
Preferential Treatment for 
Cooperation with Prosecution; 
Defendant’s Motion to Compel 
the Production of Any and All 
Statements of Defendant; State’s 
Motion to Videotape the 
Deposition of Charla Severs; 
Defendant’s Motion in Limine to 
Preclude Evidence of Other 
Crimes; Defendant’s Motion to 
Reveal the Identity of 
Informants and Reveal any 
Benefits, Deals’ Defendant’s 
Motion to Compel the 
Production of any and all 
Statements of the Defendant 
 
Transcript of the Grand Jury, 
State v. Johnson, Case No. 
98C153154, Clark County 
District Court, Nevada 
 

09/01/1998 1–2 001–251 

Transcript of Three Judge Panel 
– Penalty Phase – Day 1 
(Volume I) 
 

07/24/2000 10–11 2476–2713 

Transcript of Three Judge Panel 
– Penalty Phase – Day 2 and 
Verdict (Volume II) 
 

07/26/2000 11–12 2714–2853 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOLUME PAGE(S) 
Transcript Re:  Defendant’s 
Motions 
 

01/06/2000 2 307–413 

Verdict Forms – Three Judge 
Panel 
 

7/26/2000 12 2854–2869 
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 I hereby certify that on May 27, 2022, I electronically filed the 

foregoing Appendix with the Nevada Supreme Court by using the 

appellate electronic filing system.  The following participants in the 

case will be served by the electronic filing system:     

Alexander G. Chen 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Clark County District Attorney’s Office 
 
 
 
     /s/ Celina Moore      
     Celina Moore                                                    
     An employee of the Federal  
     Public Defender’s Office 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

DECS 
JUDGE JEFFREY D. SOBEL 
District Court Dept. V 
200 South Third Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
(702) 455-4655 

·:"It·~•,'. ; f. D r ., ... i;-••• 

~PR \6 2 24 f~ '00 

ett-~ ;t;j:d~ 
CLERK 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * * * 8 STATE OF NEVADA, 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

l4 

15 

16 

17 

?laintiff, 

vs. 

DONTE JOHNSON, 

Defendant. 

Case No. Cl53154 
Dept No. V 
Docket No. H 

DECISION AND ORDER 

Defendant ~as moved to suppress evidence seized by police in 
lS a warrantless search of premises at 4815 Everman in August 1990. 
19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

The residence was owned by Todd Armstrong's mother and 
primarily but not exclusively occupied by Todd r (Transcript of 

Hearing pp8 -1 O; hereinafter "T") . The resolution of whether 
movant, .· Donte Johnson, was a person with an expectation of privacy 
with respect to the living room and master bedroom at Everman is 
dispositive of this motion. 

Todd consented to the search in writing. T pp42-43. Johnson 

1 '\ 

EXHIBIT "7" 

AA12115



l 

2 

3 

4 

5 

• 
had apparently spent parts of at least two to four weeks 

immediately preceding the search, visiting and sometimes slccu~ .. v 

at Everman. Compare T p84 with 103. Sometimes Johnson would sleep 

in the master bedroom, sometimes on a couch. T p84, 87. Usually 

6 
the bedroom was a place other people would come in and out o:i 

7 several people had clothes in it. T p92. 

8 Todd had the only key to Everman and Johnson and h.; c:: 

9 girlfriend would usually gain entry through a rear window. ~ 

10 
pp12;58;94;104. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

No rent was paid by Johnson for his contact with Everman, 

though he may have contributed drugs directly for the privilege of 

using Everman as a place to chill and sleep. T p89. 

When asked immediately prior to the search whether he lived 

at Everman, he told two police detectives, unequivocally, that he 

did not live at Everman. T p6;p65 Johnson appears not to recall ; 

that question being posed, though he did not deny it could have 

20 been. T p102. 

21 

22 

23 

The detectives testified if Johnson claimed to reside there 

they would have gotten a search warrant for the already secured 

24 premises. T ppl9; 64. 

25 If the law required a warrant to search premises where police 

26 have consent to search from the only permanent resident; in 

27 
2 

28 

AA12116



• • 
1 circumstances where the person now insisting on such a warrant was 

2 first asserting his expectation of privacy in a motion to 

3 

4 

5 

6 

suppress, after having denied living there when asked before the 

search, and with reference to premises where that person usually 

climbed in a window, over a very short period of time, paid no 

7 rent (only occasionally contributing drugs) it would be a very 

8 peculiar law. 

9 

10 

11 

1 think Johnson's contacts with Everman are on the extreme 

low end of a continuum one could construct. Surely, given the 

12 
passage of time and the different facts that time might have 

13 brought, Johnson might have eventually moved along the continuum 

14 to a point where he was a legitimate co-tenant (perhaps with a 

15 
key of his own) . Those facts were not present here on August 18, 

16 
1998. 

17 

18 I I I 

19 I I I 
20 I I I 
21 I I I 
22 

23 
I I I 

24 I I I 

25 I I I 
26 I I I 
27 

3 

28 

AA12117



• • 
1 Where the facts are as I find them, and Todd Armstrong 

2 consents to a search of premises Johnson disclaims an interest in, 

3 the police acted properly and the Motion to Suppress should be and 

4 
is denied. See United States v. Matlock, 415 US 164 ( 1974) ; 

5 

6 
United States v. Sanders, 130 F3d 1316 (8 th Cir.1998) ;United States 

7 v. Mangum, 100 F3d 164 (CADC Cir. 1996); People v. Welch, 20 Cal 

8 4 th 701, 976 P2d 754 (1999); Snyder v. State, 103 Nev 275, 738 P2d 

9 1303 (1997). 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 
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1 DECLARATION OF MAILING 

2 DONNA POLLACK, an employee with the Clark County Special 

3 Public Defender's Office, hereby declares that she is, and was when 

4 the herein described mailing took place, a citizen of the United 

5 States, over 21 years of age, and not a party to, nor interested in, 

6 the within action; that on the 9th day of May, 2000, declarant 

7 deposited in the United States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada, a copy of 

8 the Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the case of State of Nevada vs. 

9 Donte Johnson, Case No. Cl53154, enclosed in a sealed envelope upon 

10 which first class postage was fully prepaid, addressed to Frankie Sue 

11 Del Papa, Attorney General, 100 North Carson Street, Carson City, 

12 Nevada 89701-4717, that there is a regular communication by mail 

13, between the place of mailing and the place so addressed. 

14 I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is 

15 true and correct. 

16 EXECUTED o 
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1 RECEIPT OF A COPY of the foregoing Petition for Writ of 

2 Prohibition is hereby acknowledged this 9th day of May, 2000. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

JEFFREY R. SOBEL 
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE, DEPARTMENT V 

RECEIPT OF A COPY of the foregoing Writ of Prohibition is 

10 hereby acknowledged this 9th day of May, 2000. 

11 STEWART L. BELL 
CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
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• OR/GI/VAL • 
0001 
DAVID ROGER 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #002781 
ROBERT J. DASKAS 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #004963 
200 South Third Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 455-4711 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

THE ST ATE OF NEV ADA, ) 

Plaintiff, 

-vs-

DONTE JOHNSON, 

Defendant. 

CASENO: C153154 

DEPT NO: VIII 

STATE'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE HONORABLE LEE GATES 

DATE OF HEARING: 
TIME OF HEARING: 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by DA YID ROGER, District Attorney, through 

ROBERT J. DASKAS, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby submits the attached 

Points and Authorities in Support of the State's Motion to Disqualify the Honorable Lee 

Gates. 

This Motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the 

attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if 

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

Ill 

I I I 

Ill 
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• • 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On or about September 16, 1998, Donte Johnson (Defendant) was charged in a 

Superseding Indictment with one count of Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm, four 

counts of Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, four counts of Robbery with Use of a 

Deadly Weapon, and four counts of First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon. 

The case was prosecuted by Deputy District Attorneys Gary Guymon and Robert Daskas of 

the Clark County District Attorney's Office. 

On or about June 09, 2000, a jury returned guilty verdicts on all thirteen counts of the 

Superseding Indictment, including four counts of First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly 

Weapon. At a subsequent penalty hearing, the State sought the death penalty. 

On or about June 16, 2000, a hung jury was declared in Defendant's penalty hearing. 

On or about July 28, 2000, a three-judge panel imposed a sentence of death on each of 

the four first degree murder convictions. 

On December 18, 2002, the Nevada Supreme Court vacated the sentences of death 

and remanded the case for a new penalty hearing based on Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 

122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002). 

The penalty hearing is scheduled to be heard before the Honorable Lee Gates on April 

19, 2005, in District Court VIII of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada. 

There are motions in the instant matter pending before the Honorable Lee Gates which are 

scheduled to be heard on April 04, 2005. 

Ill 
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• • 
Ms. Nancy Bernstein is currently the law clerk employed by the Honorable Lee 

Gates; she will be the law clerk in District Court VIII during the hearing on April 04, 2005, 

and during the penalty hearing in the instant matter which is scheduled to commence on 

April 19, 2005. 

Prior to her employment with Judge Gates, Ms. Bernstein was employed as a legal 

intern by the Clark County District Attorney's Office between June O I, 2003, and August 26, 

2003; Ms. Bernstein was assigned to work with Chief Deputy District Attorney Gary 

Guymon. See Affidavit of Robert J. Daskas (attached hereto as Exhibit A). During her 

tenure, Ms. Bernstein worked, inter alia, on the Donte Johnson case with Deputy District 

Attorneys Gary Guymon and Clark Peterson. Id. As a result of her employment, Ms. 

Bernstein had access to work-product of the District Attorney's Office, as well as police 

reports, witness statements, photographs, autopsy reports and other material germane to the 

Donte Johnson prosecution. Id. Ms. Bernstein completed research and/or similar 

assignments on the case on behalf of both prosecutors Guymon and Peterson. Id. Ms. 

Bernstein also had numerous, extensive, detailed discussions about the Donte Johnson case 

with Chief Deputy District Attorney Gary Guymon; some of these discussions involved 

prosecution strategies in the instant matter. Id. Ms. Bernstein also had conversations with 

Chief Deputy District Attorney Robert Daskas, the current prosecutor assigned to the case, 

about the Donte Johnson prosecution while employed by the Clark County District 

Attorney's Office. Id. 

Ill 

I II 
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• • 
INTRODUCTION 

The State of Nevada is seeking the death penalty against convicted quadruple 

murderer Donte Johnson. The penalty hearing is scheduled to be heard in the courtroom of 

the Honorable Lee Gates. The judge's current law clerk, however, was previously employed 

by the Clark County District Attorney's Office and personally worked on Defendant 

Johnson's case. This creates a conflict that mandates disqualification of Judge Gates. 

DISCUSSION 

APPLICATION OF THE NEVADA CODE OF JUDICIAL CONDUCT, 
STATUTORY LAW AND CASELA W MANDATES DISQUALIFICATION OF THE 

HONORABLE LEE GATES 

The Preamble to the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct states: "[J]udges, individually 

and collectively, must respect and honor the judicial office as a public trust and strive to 

enhance and maintain confidence in our legal system." 

Canon 2 of the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct provides that a 'Judge shall avoid 

... the appearance of impropriety in all of the judge's activities." The Commentary to this 

Canon states that this proscription is "necessarily cast in general terms" because it is not 

possible to list all prohibited acts. 

Canon 3 of the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct provides that a "judge shall perform 

the duties of judicial office impartially ... " The Code places an affirmative duty on judges to 

prevent his or her staff from acting impartially. See Canon 3(B)(5) of the NCJC (a judge ... 

shall not permit staff, court officials and others subject to the judge's discretion and control 

todoso). 

I II 
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• • 
Canon 3E of the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct provides, in relevant part: 

(1) A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in a proceeding in which the judge's 
impartiality might reasonably be questioned including but not limited to instances 
where: 

(a) the judge has ... personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts 
concerning the proceeding. 

(Emphasis added.); see also NRS 1.230(3) (a judge, upon his own motion, may disqualify 

himself from acting in any matter upon the ground of actual or implied bias). The 

Commentary to Canon 3E(l) states that a judge is disqualified under this rule "whenever the 

judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, regardless of whether any of the 

specific rules in Section 3E(l) apply." (Emphasis added.) The United States Supreme Court 

has held that 28 U.S.C. §455(a), a similar provision, is designed to "avoid even the 

appearance of partiality." Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp., 486 U.S. 847, 860, 

108 S.Ct. 2194 (1988). 

In Turner v. State, 114 Nev. 682, 962 P.2d 1223 (1998), the Nevada Supreme Court 

relied upon, inter alia, the Canons of the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct to declare that a 

trial judge's failure to recuse himself based merely on implied bias mandates automatic 

reversal. In that case, the trial judge was previously employed by the district attorney's 

office and was present at the defendant's initial arraignment. Id. at 685. The judge disclosed 

his participation in the case to the defendant, and the defendant waived the potential conflict. 

Id. Later, however, the defendant attempted to withdraw his waiver. Id. at 687. The case 

proceeded to trial, the defendant was convicted, and the Nevada Supreme Court overturned 

the conviction. 

I II 
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• • 
We ... conclude that this error mandates automatic reversal. The Preamble to the 
NCJC states: "[J]udges, individually and collectively, must respect and honor the 
judicial office as a public trust and strive to enhance and maintain confidence in our 
legal system." 

* * * 
We conclude that it would be inconsistent with these goals to apply a harmless error 
analysis to a judge's failure to recuse himself. Therefore, we conclude that such 
failure mandates automatic reversal. 

Id. at 688; see also Ham v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 93 Nev. 409, 566 P.2d 420 (1977) 

( court recognized that there may exist a number of circumstances over and above those 

which simply go to bias or prejudice toward a party which could require disqualification). 

In the instant matter, the basis for disqualification of the Honorable Lee Gates is 

stronger than the basis for disqualification of the judge in the Turner case. Cf NRS 1.230(2) 

(a judge shall not act as such in a proceeding where implied bias exists in any of the 

following respects: ( c) when he has been attorney or counsel for either of the parties in the 

particular action or proceeding before the court). In Turner, the judge simply appeared at the 

defendant's arraignment and the defendant waived the conflict. Here, it is undisputed that 

Ms. Bernstein, the judge's law clerk, acquired information about the Donte Johnson case 

during her employment with the Clark County District Attorney's Office; indeed, she was 

assigned to work - - and did work - - on the Donte Johnson prosecution itself. During her 

tenure with the District Attorney's Office, Ms. Bernstein had numerous discussions about the 

case with various prosecutors, including Clark Peterson, Gary Guymon and Robert Daskas, 

the prosecutor who will try the case before the Honorable Lee Gates; some of these 

discussions involved prosecution strategies. Ms. Bernstein is now the law clerk to the judge 

who will preside over the Donte Johnson penalty hearing. Undoubtedly, Ms. Bernstein will 
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• • 
be called upon in her role as law clerk to complete legal research, offer advice, and render 

her opinion on issues that arise before and during Donte Johnson's penalty hearing. It would 

be virtually impossible for Ms. Bernstein to eradicate the knowledge she gleaned from her 

employment with the District Attorney's Office in completing the tasks required in her role 

as law cleric This knowledge could potentially prejudice the State or, more likely, the 

Defendant if the case remains before the Honorable Lee Gates. At the very least, this creates 

a situation in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned. See 

Commentary to Canon 3E(l)(ajudge is disqualified under this rule "whenever the judge's 

impartiality might reasonably be questioned, regardless of whether any of the specific rules 

in Section 3E(l) apply."). 

THE INFORMATION ACQUIRED BY THE JUDGE'S LAW CLERK 
MAY BE IMPUTED TO THE JUDGE THEREBY REQUIRING 

DISQUALIFICATION 

Significantly, the Commentary to Canon 3E(l)(b) of the NCJC provides that "a judge 

formerly employed by a government agency ... should disqualify himself or herself in a 

proceeding if the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned because of such 

association." In the instant matter, the judge's law clerk, not the judge, was formerly 

employed by the government agency; however, the knowledge that Ms. Bernstein obtained 

during her tenure with the Clark County District Attorney's office could very well be 

imputed to the Honorable Lee Gates. A law clerk, after all, is an extension of the judge. See 

Vaska v. State, 955 P.2d 943 (Alaska 1998). This is particularly evident in many of the 

Canons and the Commentary to the NCJC which place an affirmative duty on judges to 

ensure that their staff does not violate the Canons of the NCJC. For example, the 
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• • 
Commentary to Canon 3B(7) of the NCJC provides that a judge "must make reasonable 

efforts ... to ensure that Section 3B(7) is not violated through law clerks or other personnel 

on the judge's staff. See also NCJC Canon (5) (a judge "shall not permit staff, court officials 

and other subject to the judge's direction and control to do so."); Commentary to NCJC 

Canon 3B(5) (a judge "must require the same standard of conduct of others subject to the 

judge's direction and control."); NCJC Canon 3(9) (the judge "shall require similar 

abstention on the part of court personnel subject to the judge's direction and control). 

Law clerks play a significant role in judicial decision-making; they are not merely the 

judge's errand runners. Vaska, 955 P.2d at 945. They are sounding boards for tentative 

opinions and they are legal researchers who seek the authorities that affect decisions. Id. 

Codes of judicial conduct have long recognized the principle that it is not enough for judicial 

officers to be untainted by bias; judicial officers must, in addition, conduct themselves so as 

to avoid engendering reasonable suspicions of bias. Id. Because of the close working 

relationship between judges and their law clerks, there comes a point where a law clerk's 

bias for or against a particular party or attorney rises to an intolerable level - - a level where 

the judicial decision-making process comes under reasonable suspicion. Id. 

In addition to the concerns outlined above, the information acquired by the judge's 

law clerk could constitute a violation of Canon 3E of the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct if 

the case remains with the Honorable Lee Gates. That section provides, in relevant part: 

(2) A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in a proceeding in which the judge's 
impartiality might reasonably be questioned including but not limited to instances 
where: 

(a) the judge has ... personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts 
concerning the proceeding. 
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• • 
(Emphasis added.) As outlined above, Ms. Bernstein was actively involved in the 

preparation of Donte Johnson's penalty hearing while employed with the District Attorney's 

Office. She had access to the entire case file and was privy to conversations involving 

prosecution strategies. If Ms. Bernstein shares any of the information she acquired during 

her employment with the District Attorney's Office with Judge Gates, even unknowingly, a 

violation of Canon 3E would arguably result. This is not a chance either party can afford to 

take, particularly since the instant case potentially involves multiple death sentences. 

The only remedy to cure the conflict that has arisen in this case is to disqualify the 

Honorable Lee Gates and randomly reassign the matter to a different judge. Even if 

Defendant Johnson waived the conflict that now exists, there is nothing to prevent Defendant 

Johnson from withdrawing his waiver during the penalty hearing; the withdrawal would then 

result in the judge's disqualification in any event. See Turner v. State, 114 Nev. 682 (error 

for judge to remain on case after defendant sought to withdraw his waiver of conflict). 

Moreover, defense counsel's advice to Defendant Johnson to waive any conflict would, 

undoubtedly, result in a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at a later date. 

Consequently, any such waiver would be defective. Thus, no remedy exists other than 

disqualification and reassignment. 

Ill 

Ill 

II I 

Ill 

II I 
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• • 
CONCLUSION 

The State of Nevada is seeking the death penalty against convicted quadruple 

murderer Donte Johnson. The penalty hearing is scheduled to be heard in the courtroom of 

the Honorable Lee Gates. The judge's law clerk was previously employed by the Clark 

County District Attorney's Office and personally worked on Defendant Johnson's case. This 

creates a conflict that mandates disqualification of Judge Gates. Based on the foregoing, the 

State of Nevada respectfully requests that this Court grant the instant Motion to Disqualify 

the Honorable Lee Gates. 

DATED this Ql/ day of April, 2005. 

Respectfully submitted, 

DAVID ROGER 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #002781 
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CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION 

3 I hereby certify that service of STATE'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE 

4 HONORABLE LEE GATES was made this !/If-: day of April, 2005, by facsimile 

5 transmission to: 
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RJD/ddm 

SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE 

FAX#455-o73 @£1 
Lt';;l(J the District Attorney's 
Office 
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1 AFFIDAVIT 

2 STATEOFNEVADA 

3 COUNTY OF CLARK 

4 

5 

6 
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ROBERT J. DASKAS, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: 

1. That I am a Deputy District Attorney employed by the Clark County District 

Attorney's Office and have been so employed since September 18, 1995. 

2. In June 2000, Deputy District Attorney Gary Guymon and I prosecuted Donte 

Johnson in Case C153154. Donte Johnson was convicted of one count of Burglary While in 

Possession of a Firearm, four counts of Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, four counts of 

Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon, and four counts of First Degree Kidnapping with 

Use of a Deadly Weapon. Following Johnson's convictions, a jury was unable to reach a 

unanimous verdict on Johnson's penalty and a hung jury was declared. 

3. In July 2000, a three-judge panel imposed a sentence of death against Johnson on 

each of his four first degree murder convictions. Deputy District Attorney Gary Guymon 

and I prosecuted Johnson before the three-judge panel. Those sentences of death were 

subsequently vacated by the Nevada Supreme Court. 

4. A penalty hearing is scheduled in Case C153154 before the Honorable Lee Gates 

in Department VIII of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, on April 19, 

2005. Donte Johnson faces four possible death sentences. Deputy District Attorney David 

Stanton and I are assigned the prosecution of Johnson at the upcoming penalty hearing. 

5. There are motions in the Donte Johnson case pending before the Honorable Lee 

Gates which are scheduled to be heard on April 04, 2005. 

6. Ms. Nancy Bernstein is currently the law clerk employed in Department VIII of 

the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, by the Honorable Lee Gates. 

7. Prior to her employment with Judge Gates, Ms. Bernstein was employed as a legal 

intern by the Clark County District Attorney's Office between June 01, 2003, and August 26, 

2003; Ms. Bernstein was assigned to work with Chief Deputy District Attorney Gary 

Guymon. 
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• • 
8. During her tenure with the Clark County District Attorney's Office, Ms. Bernstein 

worked on the Donte Johnson case with Deputy District Attorneys Gary Guymon and Clark 

Peterson. 

9. Ms. Bernstein had access to work-product of the District Attorney's Office, as well 

as police reports, witness statements, photographs, autopsy reports and other material 

germane to the Donte Johnson prosecution. 

10. Ms. Bernstein completed research and/or similar assignments on the Donte 

Johnson case on behalf of Deputy District Attorneys Gary Guymon and Clark Peterson. 

11. Ms. Bernstein had numerous discussions about the Donte Johnson case with 

Chief Deputy District Attorney Gary Guymon while employed by the Clark County District 

Attorney's Office; some of these discussions involved prosecution strategies in the Donte 

Johnson case. 

12. Ms. Bernstein had conversations with Chief Deputy District Attorney Robert 

Daskas, the current prosecutor assigned to the case, about the Donte Johnson prosecution 

while employed by the Clark County District Attorney's Office. 

13. This Affidavit and the accompanying Motion to Disqualify the Honorable Lee 

Gates are filed in good faith and not interposed for the purpose of delay. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the law of the State o 

foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on April 04, 2005 

hief Deputy District Attorney 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARKCOUNTY,NEVADA 

THE STATE OF NEV ADA, ) 

Plaintiff, 

-vs-

DONTE JOHNSON, 

Defendant. 

11---------------

CASE NO: Cl53154 

DEPT NO: VIII 

STATE'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE HONORABLE LEE GATES 

DATE OF HEARING: 
TIME OF HEARING: 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, through 

ROBERT J. DASKAS, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby submits the attached 

Points and Authorities in Support of the State's Motion to Disqualify the Honorable Lee 

Gates. 
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LEE A. GATES 

DISTRICT JUDGE, DEPT. VIII 

200 SOUTH THIRD STREET 
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

• 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

ZOOS APR -5 'P 2: 55 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

DONTE JOHNSON, 

Defendant. 

State ofNevada ) 
)ss: 

County of Clark ) 

CASE NO. Cl53154 

DEPT. NO. VIII 

AFFIDAVIT 

Judge Lee A. Gates, being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

( 

I am the presiding Judge in the case entitled State of Nevada vs. Donte Johnson. 

I have presided over this case for approximately three (3) years. 

I am not bias or prejudiced in this case. 

I have never worked on this case other than as a Judge. 

My law clerk, Nancy Bernstein has never been employed by the Clark County 

District Attorney's Office. Nancy Bernstein was a law student in 2003 and interned at 

the Clark County District Attorney's Office for approximately two months . 

Nancy Bernstein has not worked on this case while employed as my law clerk. I have 

not received any information about the case from Nancy Bernstein. 
Ill 

Ill 

SU 
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LEE A. GATES 

DISTRICT JUDGE, DEPT. VIII 

200 SOUTH THIRD STREET 
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

• • 
Moreover, Nancy Bernstein is not working on this case and will not be working 

on this case. 

That this motion to disqualify was filed a few hours before the hearings on 

motions and less than twenty days before trial, consequently, the State's motion is 

untimely. 

There are no conflicts between the Court and the Clark County District Attorney's 

Office. 

There are no conflicts between the Court and the defendant. 

That the defendant and his lawyer have waived any conflict on the record, if any 

existed and does not object to this Court hearing the case. 

~t(,J2Ja,; 
lli1RICTCOURTJUDGE 

LEA. GATES 

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN before me on this L day of April, 2005. 

. 
w~· 

Notary Public 
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PHILIP J. KOHN 

2 SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER 
Nevada Bar #0566 

3 JOSEPH S. SCISCENTO 
DEPUTY SPECIAL PUBUC DEFENDER 

4 Nevada Bar #4380 
DA YVID J. FIGLER 

5 Nevada Bar # 4264 
309 South Third Street, 4th Floor 

6 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2316 
(702) 455-6265 

Attorney for Defendant 

-
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7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

12 THE STA TE OF NEVADA, 

13 

14 vs. 

15 DONTE JOHNSON, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Plaintiff, 

Defendant. 

Case No. C153154 

Dept. No. V 

n 1,,-·# 4 
Hearing Date: /I 
Hearing Time: CJ+-,_ 

MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL 
(Request for Evidentiary Hearing) 

20 COMES NOW, Defendant, DONTE JOHNSON, by and through his attorneys, PHILIP 

21 J. KOHN, Special Public Defender, JOSEPH S. SCISCENTO, Deputy Special Public 

22 Defender, and DA YVID J. FIGLER, Deputy Special Public Defender, and requests this 

23 Honorable Court to conduct an evidentiary hearing and thereafter order a new trial 

® 
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This Motion is made and based upon the attached Points and Authorities, pleadings 

2 and papers on file herein, together with any such oral or documentary evidence which this 

3 court may adduce at the hearing on this matter. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

DA TED this 23rd day of June, 2000. 

PHILIP J. KOHN 
CLARK COUNTY SPECIAL PUBLIC 

8 . S SCENT 
PUTY SPECIAL PUBLIC 

9 NEVADA BAR #4380 
309 SOUTH THIRD STREET, 4 H FLOOR 

10 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155-2316 

11 NOTICE OF MOTION 

12 TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 

13 TO: STEWART L. BELL, District Attorney, Attorney for Plaintiff 

14 YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersign d will bring on the above and 

15 foregoing MOTl9~0R A NEW TRIAL on the ~ day of~~:;.....;--• 2000, at the 

16 hour of M., in Department No. V of the abov -entitled Court, or as soon 

17 thereafter as counsel may be heard. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

DATED this _ day of June, 2000. 

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Donte Johnson was convicted by a jury of four counts of murder as well as 

28 burglary, robbery and conspiracy counts on or about June 9, 2000. The prosecutor 

2 
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proceeded upon multiple theories of criminal liability and it will never be known which 

2 theory was the prevailing one, nor if there was unanimous belief the Donte Johnson (aka 

3 John White) was, beyond a reasonable doubt, even proven to be the shooter. Prior to 

4 trial, Defendant had filed motion to suppress the contents of a search done in his 

5 residence, that being the master bedroom in at the Everman address. That Motion was 

6 denied by Order of this Court. (See Decision and Order of District Court, April 18, 2000). 

7 Subsequent to that ruling, however, the prosecutors conceded through multiple reference 

8 that contrary to the position taken in their Opposition to Motion to Suppress, that the 

9 Everman address was the residence of Defendant. (See Transcript, June 8, 2000, pp. 

10 213,214,215,216,217). 

11 During the penalty phase two additional items came to the court's attention~ 

12 Juror Kathleen Bruce sent a note to the court which related an incident which was 

13 reported to have occurred during the guilt phase where she encountered an African-

14 American individual and became quite afraid. (See Transcript, June 16, 2000, pp. 73-74). 

15 9it was brought to the Court's attention that a victim's family member was 

16 in the restricted jury lounge at least once. (See Transcript, June 16, 2000, pp. 68-70). 

17 ~ after the jury was dismissed and while discussing the case with counsel, 

18 Juror Kathleen Bruce also indicated that she was discussing the case with an outside 

19 party while still empaneled on this jury and that she was also aware of news accounts of 

20 this highly publicized trial. Juror Connie Patterson also implied that she had been 

21 discussing the matter and was aware of the media accounts. (See attached affidavit of 

22 Kristina M. Wildeveld). 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

These four points are the grounds for Defendant's motion for a new trial. 

ARGUMENT 

Nevada Revised Statutes provides for the granting of a new trial as follows: 

NRS 176.515 New trial: Grounds; time for flllng motion. 

1 • The court may grant a new trial to a defendant if required 
as a matter of law or on the ground of newly discovered 
evidence. 

3 
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2 

3 

4 

s 
6 

7 

-
2. If trial was by the court without a jury the court may vacate 
the judgment if entered, take additional testimony and direct 
the entry of a new judgment. 

3. A motion for a new trial based on the ground of newly 
discovered evidence may be made only within 2 years after the 
verdict or finding of guilt. 

4. A motion for a new trial based on any other grounds must 
be made within 7 days after verdict or finding of guilt or within 
such further time as the court may fix during the 7-day period. 

In Oliver v. State, 85 Nev. 418, 456 P.2d 431 (1969) the Nevada Supreme Court 

8 set out the criteria granting a new trial: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

!9..:.At424. 

• . . Consideration by the trial court in granting or denying a 
new trial has been clearly set down in several recent cases. 
Pacheco v. State, 81 Nev. 639, 408 P.2d 715 (1965); Burton 
v. State, 84 Nev. 191, 437 P.2d 861 (1968); State v. 
Crockett, 84 Nev. 516,444 P.2d 896 (1968). The statute 
governing the granting of new trials was amended by the 1967 
legislature and appears as NRS 176.515. Appellant contends, 
and we agree, that in seeking a new trial the newly-discovered 
evidence must be (1) newly discovered, (2) material to 
movant's defense, (3) such that it could not with reasonable 
diligence have been discovered and produced for the trial, (4) 
not cumulative, and (5) such as to render a different result 
probable upon retrial. To which we add {6) that it does not 
attempt only to contradict a former witness or to impeach or 
discredit him, unless witness impeached is so important that a 
different result must follow, Whlse y. Whise, 36 Nev. 16, 131 
P. 967 ( 1 91 3); and (7) that these facts be shown by the best 
evidence the case admits, People v. Sutton, 15 P. 86 (Cal. 
1887); People v. Beard, 294 P.2d 29 (Cal. 1956). 

In the instant matter, counsel orally made Motion for A New Trial based on the new 

21 position taken by the State that the Everman residence was "Donte' s house and room." 

22 (Sea Transcript June 8, 2000, page 221 ). The oral motion was denied by the court. The 

23 Defendant raises this Motion anew with the following written points and authorities and 

24 asks the Court to take it in consideration cumulatively with the juror and witness 

25 misconduct issues in ruling on the present motion. 

26 "It is well established that when no new significant evidence comes to light a 

27 prosecutor cannot, in order to convict two defendants at separate trials, offer inconsistent 

28 theories and facts regarding the same crime." Thompson y. Calderon, 120 F.3d 1045 (9th 

4 
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Cir. 1997) reversed on other grounds 523 U.S. 538 (1998). In United States v. Kojayan, 

2 8 F.3d 1315, 1323 (9th Cir. 1993), the 9th Circuit stated: "While lawyers representing 

3 private parties may - indeed, must - do everything ethically permissible to advance their 

4 clients' interests, lawyers representing the government in criminal cases serve truth and 

5 justice first. The prosecutor's job isn't just to win, but to win fairly, staying well within 

6 the rules." citing United States v. Kattar, 840 F.2d 118, 127 (1st Cir. 1988) (stating that 

7 the function of the prosecutor "is not merely to prosecute crimes, but also to make certain 

8 that the truth is honored to the fullest extent possible"). In the present case, it is 

9 improper to allow prosecutors to change position within the SAME TRIAL in contravention 

10 of the truth by advancing that Donte Johnson after the Motion to Suppress had been 

11 denied to then take the position that Donte Johnson was actually living in the Everman 

12 residence. Such should allow the Defendant a new trial. 

13 Juror misconduct raises serious concerns in evaluating Motion for a New Trial. 

14 First, a Juror who admits an unreasonable fear of black men would not be properly seated 

15 in the jury. The fact that this Juror harbored this fear for a week and only revealed it to 

16 the Court after guilt deliberations, and then only when she thought that the information 

17 may help unseat a conscientious juror who did not want to impose the death penalty is 

18 highly prejudicial to the Defendant in the present matter. Second, this same juror 

19 admitted that she, despite the admonition to the contrary, was discussing the trial with 

20 her husband and was additionally discussing news accounts especially those relating to 

21 the debate over a hung penalty jury. Third, Juror Connie Patterson indicated that she 

22 "heard" that people (obviously not the jurors) were postulating that she was "the hold out 

23 since she was emotional." This clearly implies that Juror Patterson was aware of media 

24 accounts and discussions about such. 

25 To serve on a jury, a juror must be free of all bias, including racial bias. See N.R.S. 

26 175.036. The right of a citizen accused to challenge jurors for actual bias is axiomatic. 

27 See Darbin y, Nourse. 664 F.2d 1109 (9th Cir. 1981 ), State v. McClear, 11 Nev. 39 

28 (1876). Juror Bruce was not free of bias, and was not forthright with this tribunal in a 
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timely fashion when an obvious incident occurred. 

2 Compounding the error, this Juror admitted to discussing the matter with others 

3 in contravention of statute and gaining knowledge of media accounts. N.R,S, 175.401. 

4 The Nevada Supreme Court has established a review procedure for juror 

5 misconduct, to wit: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

IO 

11 

12 

We have established certain considerations which are relevant to the 
decision of whether the error is harmless or prejudicial. These include 
whether the issue of innocence or guilt is close, the quantity and character 
of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged. 

Hui v. State, 103 Nev. 321 (1987) citing Big Pond v. State. 101 Nev. 1, 3 {1985). 

In the present case, it cannot be disputed that the gravity of the crime charged 

could be no more serious under any circumstances. This alone should be the decisive 

factor in determining prejudice. Additionally, however, the jury did deliberate for a 

substantial period of time on the issue of guilt and since the case was greatly covered in 
13 

14 

16 

17 

the media, especially with regard to the horrific impact on the victims, any exposure to 

the media is necessarily grounds for a new trial. 

Finally, there can be no justification for family members of the victim to be in the 

restricted area of the jury lounge. Irrespective of a family member's belief that they are 

allowed to go "wherever they wish" the jury must be free from this prejudicial encounter 
18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

in the jury-only designated areas. The fact that one instance was revealed is sufficient 

to question whether there were more unreported instances, and since the gravity of the 

charges and the other misconduct was apparent, the mere fact of one transgression by 

the victim's family with regard to jury room contamination must give the Court pause to 

evaluate the propriety of the entire proceeding in light of the Federal and State due 

process rights of the Defendant in addition to the standards set forth in Bjg Pond. supra. 

In the case at bar, the new position of prosecutor coupled with the juror and 

victim's family misconduct supports that a different result would have occurred if the trial 

was free from these errors. 

6 
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WHEREFORE, Defendant prays that this Honorable Court conduct an evidentiary 

2 hearing on this matter tor new a trial. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Respectfully submitted, 

PHILIP J. KOHN 
CLARK CO TY SPECIAL PUBLI 

P • ISCEN 
EPUTY SPECIAL PUBL 

NEVADA BAR #4380 
309 SOUTH THIRD STREE , 4TH FLOOR 
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155·2316 
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AFFIDAVIT OF KRISTINA M. WILOEVELD 

STATE OF NEVADA 
ss. 

COUNTY OF CLARK 

KRISTI NA M. WILDEVELD, being first duly sworn according to law, deposes and 

states as follows: 

1 • I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada and 

am a Deputy Special Public Defender with the Office of the Special Public Defender. 

I make this Affidavit based upon my own personal knowledge except as to those 

matters stated upon information and belief, and as to those matters I believe them to 

be true. 

2. That on June 16, 2000, I was present immediately after the jury in the 

Donte Johnson trial was discharged and was present when the jury spoke with counsel 

regarding the deliberations on both penalty and guilt phase. 

3. That I was present in the Courtroom when Juror Kathleen Bruce indicated 

that she had a fear of an African-American in an elevator during the course of the trial. 

4. That I noted that the same Juror, Kathleen Bruce, had asked both the 

State and the Defense attorneys if the media was referring to her on last night's news 

account when it was related that a uhold-out" juror was a woman. 

5. That I watched the evening news the night before and in fact there was 

an account that the jury was hung and that the "hold-out" was a woman juror. 

6. That Juror Bruce brought this fact out on her own without any prompting 

or previous discussion from anyone in the room. 
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7. That upon asking the question, Mr. Oayvid Figler, counsel for Donte 

Johnson, inquired how she would know what was on television regarding this matter, 

and that Juror Bruce nervously responded that she had discussed the matter with her 

husband, however, it appeared to me that she had full and complete personal 

knowledge of the entirety of the news account. Juror Bruce also indicated that she 

felt that she was being singled out by the media as the "hold out." 

8. At that time, another female juror, number 11, Connie Patterson, 

indicated "Really, I heard everyone thought it was me since I was emotional during the 

return of the verdict." 

Further Affiant sayeth naught. 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me 

this ,S,/4.f day of June, 2000. 

~~~ / J~ 
NOTARY PUBLIC, In and for the 
County of Clark, State of Nevada 
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N:itary Public • Nn11i.d11 
My appt. exp. Sol). l, tOOO 
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1 do that, logically we might as well take up whatever you have 

2 to tell us. And I'm in receipt of a note that's signed by you 

3 you are Kathleen Bruce? 

4 

5 

JUROR BRUCE: Right. 

THE COURT: It says, 11 I have an incident that 

6 occurred last week that I need to bring to your attention as 

7 soon as possible. 11 So we've cleared the courtroom, there's no 

8 one else around, the cameras are off. Don't worry about it, 

9 just tell us what you felt you have to tell us. 

10 JUROR BROCE: Okay. A week ago last Wednesday when 

11 we all were dismissed, we all left for the evening, we went to 

12 the normal parking garage. Most of the group went to the 

13 first elevator; my car was on the other side, so I went to the 

14 other elevator. I was standing there, didn't realize somebody 

15 was standing behind me. I got startled, I turned around, it 

16 was Tim, Juror Number 7. I said, oh, you scared me. He says, 

17 oh, I -- he says, I sneak up on people a lot, and he laughed. 

18 Okay. We were waiting for the elevator to come down 

19 from the roof, we were talking a little bit. It finally came 

20 down to the first floor, everybody got out of the elevator 

21 except one African -- African-American man; he had some kind 

22 of a bag with him. It was the day of the duffel bag and the 

23 guns and everything, so it kind of startled me at first, that 

24 he was on the elevator, did not get off at 1. But I thought 

25 for a second, Tim's here, okay, I'll get in -- I'll get in the 

IV-73 

Page: 3581 

AA12151



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

-
elevator. 

At that point I asked -- I pushed number 3, for the 

third floor, I asked Tim what floor he was on. He said, I'm 

on 3. I said, oh, you're on 3, too. And he said, yeah. And 

I said, okay. 

Well, it got to 3, I got off. My car was right in 

the handicapped spot right there. He didn't get off, he 

stayed on the elevator. I was rifling around in my purse for 

stuff, I called my husband to let him know I was coming home. 

About a minute later the elevator opened again, and he got 

off. 

I don't know, it just was very odd -­

THE COURT: Okay. 

JUROR BRUCE: -- that he said he was on 3 and then 

he stayed on the elevator with the other gentleman and then 

got off on 3 later. 

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you very much. We'll,see 

18 you in a minute or two. 

19 JUROR BRUCE: Okay. 

20 

21 seat. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: Matter of fact, just stay there in your 

And just 

JUROR BRUCE: Oh, okay. 

THE COURT: -- bring the other jurors in. 

(Off-record colloquy) 

MR. SCISCENTO: Don't we have another note? 

IV-74 
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2 scene. 

Point number seven, Donte's fingerprint at the crime 

We've alluded to this, the Black and Mild cigar box. 

3 Charla told us, Bryan told us that Donte smokes Black and 

4 Milds. 100 percent positive that is Donte Johnson's 

5 fingerprint. Corroboration, scientific evidence that the 

6 witnesses who testified are telling the truth. 

7 Point number eight, Matt's VCR at Dante's house. 

8 The VCR was found at the Everman home shortly after Donte was 

9 arrested. The ·VCR didn't appear there until August 14th, 

10 1998, the morning following the murders. And what do we know 

11 about that VCR? The remote control that is kept by Matt's 

12 father turned on that VCR, proof that that is Matt's VCR in 

13 the defendant's home. And we know that Dante's co-

14 conspirator, Sikia Smith, held that VCR, you recall the 

15 testimony again of Ed Guenther. And we also hQve 

16 corroboration of LaShawnya's testimony, she told us that Sikia 

17 bought -- I'm sorry, Sikia sold the VCR to Donte for twenty 

18 dollars ($20). We know Sikia's palm print is on there, we 

19 know the VCR turned up at Donte's home. Scientific evidence 

20 that corroborates LaShawnya Wright. 

21 Point number nine, Pete's pager at Donte's house. 

22 Pager found buried in the backyard of the Everman home where 

23 Donte Johnson stayed. You heard the stipulation that that 

24 Peter [sic], in fact, belonged to Peter Talamantez. 

25 Corroboration of all the witnesses in this case when they told 

IV-213 
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1 you Donte confessed to committing these crimes, to killing 

2 Peter Talamantez because he doesn't like Mexicans. Scientific 

3 corroboration. Physical corroboration when the pager is 

4 buried in the defendant's backyard. 

5 Point number nine, gun in Deco's car. You saw the 

6 enforcer rifle that Sergeant Honea impounded after he stopped 

7 Donte and Terrell just three days after the quadruple murders. 

8 Charla, Tod and LaShawnya all identified that gun as a gun 

9 that was commonly kept in the tote bag, and we know that the 

10 tote bag left the Everman home shortly before Donte committed 

11 the crimes. Corroboration. 

12 Point number nine, gun in Deco's room. When 

13 Sergeant Hefner searched the Everman home after arresting 

14 Donte Johnson he found the collapsible Ruger rifle that 

15 everybody described in this case. Just three days after the 

16 murder it's recovered. And Charla and Tod described that gun 

17 as the gun that was commonly kept in the tote bag, and the 

18 tote bag left the Everman home the night that Donte Johnson 

19 killed these boys. 

20 Point number twelve, duct tape in Deco's room. All 

21 four victims in this case restrained with duct tape. You saw 

22 the photographs. And isn't it interesting that there's a 

23 partial roll of duct tape recovered from the room where Donte 

24 Johnson's stays, sitting in the duffel bag that everybody 

25 testified about in this case. And doesn't that evidence· 

IV-214 
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1 corroborate the testimony you heard from the witness stand, 

2 the witnesses who said Donte told them about the victims being 

3 taped up with duct tape. 

4 Twelve points, if you will, that establish Donte 

5 Johnson's guilt. 

6 Now, I suppose it's possible we can take each one of 

7 these points and explain it away. I guess Charla Severs is 

8 lying, perhaps Tod Armstrong is lying, Bryan Johnson he ~ust 

9 be lying too. 

10 MR. FIGLER: Your Honor, they objected during the 

11 course as to that terminology, we would have to object at this 

12 time for that as well. 

13 THE COURT: I think he's saying in terms of argument 

14 what might be anticipated, as such it's overruled. 

15 MR. DASKAS: And if Donte Johnson is not guilty then 

16 LaShawnya Wright must be lying too. So Charla is lying, Tod 

17 is lying, Bryan is lying and LaShawnya Wright is lying .. And 

18 apparently somehow the victims' blood just turned up on Donte 

19 Johnson's pants. Somebody -- the true killer apparently wore 

20 Donte Johnson's pants to the crime scene and then returned 

21 those pants to Donte Johnson's bedroom before the police 

22 showed up. And let's not forget that somebody must have 

23 deposited Donte Johnson's semen on his own pants. 

24 Deco's DNA at the murder scene. Apparently 

25 somebody, for Donte Johnson to be found not guilty, took a 

IV-215 
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1 cigarette butt that Donte Johnson had smoked and placed it at 

2 the cri~e scene. Unlucky for Donte Johnson. 

3 Deco's fingerprint at the murder scene. For Donte 

4 Johnson to be found not guilty you must conclude that somebody 

5 took the cigar box holding his fingerprint, and they planted 

6 it at the crime scene. Unlucky Donte Johnson. 

7 Matt's VCR at Deco's house. For Donte Johnson to be 

8 found not guilty, apparently somebody took Matt's VCR from the 

9 Everman home -- from the Terra Linda and placed it in the home 

10 where Donte Johnson stayed. Is that reasonable to believe? 

11 Peter's pager at Deco's house. For Donte Johnson to 

12 be found not guilty you must conclude, speculate that somebody 

13 else buried the pager in Dante's backyard, along with all 

14 these o~her speculations you must conclude. 

15 The Ruger in Deco's room. Isn't it interesting that 

16 all these witnesses described the guns that Donte had 

17 possession of, and sure enough we find the Ruger rifle in his 

18 -- in his room. I guess somebody planted that. The Enforcer 

19 rifle in Dante's car, you heard the testimony about the fact 

20 that that gun was kept in the duffel bag, the duffel bag left 

21 the night of the murders, and it just happened to be found in 

22 his room -- in his car rather, three nights after the 

23 homicides. 

24 And the duct tape in Deco's room. Apparently the 

25 true killer, for you to find Donte Johnson not guilty, placed 

IV-216 
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1 a partial roll of duct tape in Donte Johnson's room before the 

2 police showed up. 

3 I suppose it's possible to explain away each of 

4 these points, but the thing about reasonable doubt is, it must 

5 be reasonable. And is it reasonable to conclude that all 

6 these witnesses are lying, that the evidence was planted, that. 

7 the guns were planted in his car. Is it reasonable to 

B conclude that Donte Johnson is not guilty? 

9 This ·evidence does not point to Ace Hart, and the 

10 evidence does not point to Bryan Johnson as having committed 

11 these crimes, and no, the evidence does not even point to Tod 

12 Armstrong in this case. The evidence points to one person and 

13 only one person, Donte Johnson. And you must find him guilty 

14 of all the crimes with which he's charged, including four 

15 counts of first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. 

16 Thank you. 

17 THE COURT: Thank you. 

18 Would counsel approach the bench please. 

19 MR. FIGLER: Can we pull the screen down? 

20 THE COURT: Why don't we do it in the order -- this 

21 order that I'm going to suggest. 

22 MR. FIGLER: Note for the record, it's still up. 

23 (Off-record bench conference) 

24 THE COURT: Okay. Take the screens out and turn 

25 them off please. 

IV-217 
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1 Figler? 

2 MR. SCISCENTO: We'll submit it, Your Honor. I 

3 don't know what you're asking. We've provided --

4 THE COURT: What I'm asking you is, I indicated to 

5 you that I'd appreciate some assistance with reference to the 

6 Allen charge. Yesterday, I believe around 3 o'clock, my 

7 question is very simple is, do you have anything that might 

8 assist me if this comes up. Not submitted. 

9 

10 

11 

MR. FIGLER: No, Judge, there's nothing 

THE COURT: I'm asking you, did you do any research? 

MR. FIGLER: there's nothing further. If an 

12 Allen charges does come forward. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

want any 

Honor. 

THE COURT: 

MR. FIGLER: 

THE COURT: 

MR. GUYMON: 

of the cases? 

THE COURT: 

ATTORNEYS: 

I want to ask you is 

Our research is the same as theirs. 

Okay. Thank you. 

Judge, being that we all agree, do you 

I didn't --

No. No. That's my thinking too. 

Thank you, Judge. Thank you, Your 

(Court recessed) 

THE COURT: And before we start them deliberating, 

23 let's go back on the record. 

24 The final issue, which to me is a non-issue, it is 

25 my understanding that, at some point late in the day, the 

IV-68 
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1 victim -- some member of the one of the victim's families 

2 found themselves in the jury lounge where this magazine was 

3 sitting. Now, Stony has represented to me they -- they sit in 

4 the jury lounge where they are all assembled and then they 

5 start deliberating, that he didn't see this, whatever that's 

6 worth, in the morning. To me it's a non-issue. 

7 I mean there is (a), no doubt that for the last six 

8 months at least, there's been a pretty raging controversy in 

9 this country about the propriety of the death penalty if you 

10 have a -- any degree in the news of interest in news at 

11 all, you know that the State of Illinois has a moratorium on 

12 the death penalty now and you know that it's an issue in the 

13 presidential campaign with Bush. And you know that there's 

14 been daily newspaper articles for the last week, not 

15 concerning Mr. White, but concerning the death penalty 

16 practice in Nevada and if people are exposed to this it has 

17 nothing to do with this case particularly, of course. In 

18 part, because the major emphasis is cases can be a bad result 

19 because they didn't use DNA evidence. We had, at least 

20 according to the State positive DNA evidence in this case, to 

21 me it's a non-issue. Does anybody wish to pursue it? 

22 MR. DASKAS: No, Judge. 

23 MR. FIGLER: No, Judge, I mean I'm curious as to why 

24 a victim's family member would be in the jury lounge, bu~. 

25 THE COURT: Well, I would say Mr. Figler, because if 

IV-69 
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1 you've been around this courthouse longer, you would form the 

2 perception that his courthouse has many problems with it. One 

3 of them is that there's no real segregation of the jurors, 

4 from the witnesses, from the family members, from the lawyers 

5 and in the new courthouse it's gonna be remedied. But that is 

6 a problem. People are free, thinking that they are taxpayers 

7 to wander almost anywhere in this building. 

8 They should be deliberating. 

9 (Court recessed at 10:10 a.m., until 11:35 a.m.) 

10 (Jury is not present} 

11 THE COURT: All right. As you know, we have a note 

12 -- well, we have two. 

13 11 We find ourselves stalemated. There does not 

14 appear to be any possibility of movement by either side." 

15 That came out about 11:00 o'clock. 

16 And about the same time we get from Juror Number 1, 

17 Kathleen Bruce, 11 I have an incident that occurred last week 

18 that I need to bring to your attention as soon as possible." 

19 I have no idea what Kathleen Bruce, it's signed Juror Number 

20 1, wants to tell us, but I would assume, as long as we're 

21 doing everything on the record, I'm -- I have the feeling it's 

22 nothing that's going to in any way impact on this, but I 

23 gather we should hear from her before we hear from the others. 

24 Don't you think? 

25 MR. GUYMON: I would think that'd be appropriate, 
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THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Plaintiff, 

vs . 

DONTE JOHNSON 

Defendant. 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

CASE NO: C153154 
DEPT. NO: V 

JURY QUESTIONNAIRE 

ll 7ooag: s-~6 
JUROR NUMBER BADGE NO. PRINT NAME 

DATE OF BIRTH 
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Dear Prospective Juror: 

You have been placed under oath. Please answer all questions truthfully and 
completely as though the questions were being asked of you in open court. You may be 
asked additional questions in open court during the jury selection process. Some of the 
questions asked in court may be similar to the questions included in the questionnaire. 
Every effort will be made to keep duplication of questions to a minimum. 

All questions asked, either by way of this questionnaire or by way of oral 
examination, are intended to facilitate the selection of a fair and impartial jury to hear 
this case. The answers provided in response to the written questions will be made 
available to counsel for both the State and the defense. Your answers will also become 
part of the Court's permanent record and therefore, a public document. If you cannot 
answer a question, please leave the response area blank. During regular questioning by 
the court and the attorneys you will be given an opportunity to explain or expand upon 
any answers, if necessary. 

To assist the Court and counsel in evaluating any knowledge you may have 
concerning this case, please read the brief synopsis of this case provided with this 
questionnaire. The State has the burden of proving these allegations beyond a 
reasonable doubt. Because this questionnaire is part of the jury selection process, you 
must answer the questions under penalty of perjury and you must fill out the 
questionnaire by yourself. After you have completed filling out the questionnaire, please 
leave it with a jury assistant. 

If you wish to make further comments regarding any of your answers, please do 
so on the last page of this questionnaire. If you need additional pages, please ask a jury 
assistant and they will be provided to you. As you answer the questions that follow, 
please keep in mind that every person is fully entitled to his or her own opinions and 
feelings, and that there is no right or wrong answers, only complete and incomplete 
answers. Complete answers are far more helpful than incomplete answers because they 
make long and tiresome questioning unnecessary, therefore, shortening the time it takes 
to select a jury. 

Your answers will be used solely in the selection of a jury and for no other 
purpose. 

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE JEFFREY SOBEL 
DEPARTMENT V 
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SYNOPSIS OF CASE 

On or about the 14th day of August, 1998, it is alleged that DONTE JOHNSON, 
TERREL YOUNG, and SIKIA SMITH entered a home at 4825 Terra Linda, Las Vegas , 
Nevada, wiht the intent to commit a robbery. During the robbery, it is alleged that 
MATTHEW MOWEN, TRACEY GORRINGE, JEFFREY BIDDLE, and PETER TALMENTEZ, 
were tied up w ith duct-tape and shot and killed. 

PROCEDURE 

Donte Johnson is charged by way of Indictment with: 

1 Count of BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM 

1 count of CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY AND/OR KIDNAPING AND/OR 
MURDER 

4 counts of ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON 

4 counts of FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPING WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON 

4 counts of MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON 

An indictment is but a formal method of accusing a person of a crime and is not of 
itself any evidence of .his guilt. 

PLEASE REMEMBER THESE ARE ONLY ALLEGATIONS AND THE STATE ALWAYS 
HAS THE BURDEN OF PROVING, BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, THAT THE 
DEFENDANT COMMITTED THE CRIMES AS ALLEGED. 

DEMOGRAPHICS 

1 . Your full name: __ fc_· -"-~_r'l_Co._f'-_/_,J-·,_O __ V_tl-:~~----------- -
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2. Your age: __ S ___ / ________________________ _ 

3. Your place of birth: j).t,froi±, ln,cl~¾ 

4. Your parents' place of birth: 

Mother: ~ ct Sc-,,t feru ;J a-t"f-{_ :D a fuf o... 
Father: _ __..,D"=.g'--ft:w. ~c ..... r +.l......,,-L.:(n;.:..:.:ic::..:.:.4.;..!1~~;.:;.:..::;.._ _______________ _ 

) r::::::r 

5. Your marital status (married, divorced, single, separated): fYlCAY-t~ 

How long: ol 'I '1'<M6 
6. Children: · 

Age Sex Education Occupation 

a.    
 

  

b.        

c.     
d. 

e. 

PLACE OF RESIDENCE 

7. In what area of town do you live? 

g have y;~ved in that location? __ -i?i.....,.,~~_;;;;:;..._ __________ _ 

8. How long have you lived in the Las Vegas Metropolitan area: q ~fld s: 

EDUCATION 

9. What is the highest grade you have completed? 'f h]) ~ 

10. Did you attend College or University? ~ If so, please complete the following: 

College/ Major/ 
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University Degree 

11 . Have you received any other special training or schooling? 

Concentration 

 

 

 

If so, explain: /J a._5 ~:/e-n U t1 t J~s 'dy 5+ .. l~ is 
1 
S~ ~~ 

()Ps~-~~ -k-t~s~ ~ .e4YiS& fe}z,~'isfry 

12. What is the education level of your spouse or person you are living with? 

13. Did he/she attend college or university? 3.s Graduate school? Jtf-$ 
If either, what was his/her degree and major area of concentration? 

14. Has he/she received any special training? 8-6 - If so, please explain : 

/M~ re,~~~ ~ wtrtl•b ~ - 71~ (~~ 

15 . If you have taken courses or had training in any of the behavioral sciences (e.g. 
psychology, sociology, counseling or similar areas), please identify such courses/training 
by title and subject matter: 

v~k~ '"~ ~ •s25,.:,.... .osy~~ c6 ~~<le( r u 

16. If you have taken courses or had training in any of the legal fields, (i.e . law, 
administration of justice, corrections, law enforcement), please identify such 
courses/training by title and subject matter: 

NOtJe-
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1 7 . If you have taken courses or had training in any of the medical sciences, and in 
particular the medical specialty of psychiatry, please identify such courses/training by 
subject matter or title: 

tJJ, 4 (r/-- 1 ,.__ f ~p ~ ~ t1 s fid d cl,, d,_,,Q /:"'Ji' am 

PRE-TRIAL PUBLICITY 

Based upon the synopsis of the case attached to this questionnaire: 

18. Do you recall hearing or seeing anything about this case prior to today? 
Yes ✓ No __ _ 

If yes, describe what you saw or heard? 

'&~ M ~S-~ /)~> ~ /1€-u)Sf P..(~ 
J 

19. How many times, in the last two years, have you heard something about this case? 
5'-(i:, 

20. How would your prior knowledge of the case affect your ability to sit as an impartial 
juror? 

2 1. As a result of what you have seen or heard , have you formed any opinion as to the 
guilt or innocence of the defendant(s) ? Yes ___ No V 

22. Do you subscribe to any local newspaper? If yes which one(s) --------

23. Do you watch local newscast? If so which one(s) -------------
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24. Other than what you have learned today what information do you know about this 
case? --------------------------------

ATTITUDES REGARDING THE DEATH PENAL TY 

The defendant(s) in this case has been charged with First Degree Murder. The 
Nevada State Legislature has determined that if a person is convicted of First Degree 
Murder, then a jury must further decide which of four possible punishments provided by law 
should be imposed. For each count of First Degree Murder a Defendant can be sentenced 
to four possible punishments which are: 

A. The death penalty, 

8. Life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, 

C. Life imprisonment with the possiblity of parole, 

D. Definite term of 50 years with the possibility of parole after 20 years. 

The law requires that whenever the District Attorney seeks death as a possible 
punishment for a charge, prospective jurors must be asked to express their views on both 
the death penalty and the penalty of life in prison '-'."ith or without the possibility of parole, 
and a term of years . Asking about your views at this time is a routine part of the procedure 
to be followed in all cases in which death is sought as a possible punishment. By asking 
these questions, the court is not implying that the defendant is guilty or that you will 
necessarily need to decide the penalty in this case. 

This trial will be divided into two phases. 

During the first phase the jury will determine if the defendant is guilty or not guilty 
of First Degree Murder. You will not be concerned with the punishment to be imposed at 
this phase of the trial. If the defendant is found not guilty, or is found guilty of any offense 
other than First Degree Murder, the trial will end and you will not be involved in any further 
proceedings. 
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If, after listening to all of the evidence presented in the first phase, you and your 
fellow jurors should find the defendant guilty of first degree murder, then under the laws 
of the State of Nevada, you would be involved in a second phase of the trial to determine 
if the penalty will be: 

A. Life imprisonment with the possibility of parole, 

B. Life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, 

C. The imposition of the death penalty, 

D. Definite term of 50 years with the possibility of parole after 20 years. 

25. Will asking questions concerning your views about the death penalty and the 
penalty of life in prison with or without the possibility of parole suggest to you that the 
defendant(s) must be guilty? Yes ___ No v If yes, please explain: 

26. Do you understand that there may never be a penalty phase in this case, and 
that the asking of these questions is only done to prepare for that possibility? 
Yes / No __ 

27. Do you belong to any organization that advocates the abolition of the death 
penalty? Yes __ No ✓ If yes, what organization: 

28. Do you belong to any organization that agrees with the death penalty? 
Yes _ _ No_✓_ If yes, what organization: 
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29. How do you feel the legal system treats persons accused of crimes? ---

30. As a juror, would you feel an obligation to reach a verdict because that was 
the vote of the majority? Yes __ No _jL_ 

31 . How would you feel if the jury you sat on was unable to reach a verdict? 

32. Would you vote a certain way solely because you wanted to see a unanimous 
verdict reached in this case? Yes __ · No _L 

33. Would you say that you are generally: (circle one) 

a. in favor of the death penalty, 
b. generally opposed to it, 

@ would consider it in certain circumstances, 
d. never thought about it. 

34. Do you believe that you personally could vote to impose the death penalty, if 
you believed that it was warranted in a particular case? Yes _L No __ 

35. Are you open to considering all four forms of punishment in a capital case, 
depending on the evidence presented at the trial and what you learn about the defendant 
in a penalty phase, should you find him guilty of first degree murder? Yes __.Y'.'.:_ No_ 

36. In your present state of mind, can you, if selected as a juror, consider all four 
possible forms of punishment, with out giving preference to one over the other and select 
the one that you feel is the most appropriate depending upon the facts and the law? Yes 
_L No __ If no, please explain: 
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37. What do you think of the saying "an eye for an eye": 

~ C@t.t.ci; ,~~ ,"s ''no 01 rrn +eu,,.,._ a-,...~~ 

~ ~ J . y') 0 f?1:0:U.-~ a.. ~ 'fl_ ~ a_ ~ f{, V - ~ ~i S k~ 
mus+ I, ~ "t~ ~ ~ ~ 

38. Do you feel that one convicted of murder should be sentenced to death 
without consideration of background information? 

Always __ Probably__ Possibly __ Never Unsure~ 

Please explain : 

r,-1 w~d oJ e ~~ ~ ~~ ;zcr.~ Gl -i{1JJ- ba,cl~ ,~bm& , ~I-iAc~/~ 
cfw- ~pi<- D-f m,f--<:1i-1'~ C<Ab~S-~ V 

39. Overall, in co'nsidermg general issues of punishment, which do you think might 
be worse for a defendant: 

Death __ _ Life in prison without possibility of parole ✓ 

Please explain: 

ikL ,il,..~kk "f 5~ (,O -7tJ ~ . j,t, a..n. ?A'/D~"7 ~ 

-kn eel ·;zl It~ CA-ciao cs mt11J. au,nkt~ -

40. Without having heard any evidence in this case, what are your general 
thoughts about the benefit of imposing a death sentence on a person convicted of murder 
in the first degree? 

.4 I~ o dR.a.'fl. SR,,.,t-fj~ m'tl ~ccirts fy Sa~~ ,1~~ ,,A~) 

~~ us-( of ~"1 ~s ,;.,,,_+eW?~ ca..S:€s, :ek.k t--{;- /s 

cf,~~ ck~ ~ ~ U>S-f-~*~ t ~ ~ 
lo ~~ .;,,,_ J]9h ·/1'-~S 6-y,_ ; 

~~~~, ~~~ ~ ~ J~CJ{~­

~1t~17~ 
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41 . Without having heard any evidence in this case, what are your general 
thoughts about the benefit of imposing a sentence of life without the possibility of parole 
on a person convicted of murder in the first degree? 

a c,c~~ ~ ~ ~-
IS :5C.C~ 

42. Without having heard any evidence in this case, what are your general 
thoughts about the benefit of imposing a sentence of life with the possibility of parole, or 
a term of years with the possibility of parole on a person convicted of murder in the first 
degree? 

pea,._~ ff,-,. lif)-f) tJ ~ ~ :;.,,,,..,._ & b,.,i., ~td;;MU, 
Z> ~ -t. $l> ~ 14: f"<''-'a k ~ {& 55 ~ ,..;._ a. 7 o -8V ~Jed-!-,L 
P~ a-} tL.... '/4 -57)~ ;Yl~ fut- -~~~ 

43. Do you feel tnat life in prison without the possibility of parole is a severe 
punishment? Yes~ No __ Please explain: 

c.·u,·13 w[!fuk - ~wtf o~ ~ tA~e - ..f ~ Mrl· of:.~ 

tf-- ,s.eyns /l$,f6 s~ i, i'>1fl-

44. Indicate your opinion of the following statements : 

A . If the prosecutor goes to the trouble of bringing someone to trial, the 
person is probably guilty. 

Strongly Agree __ _ Agree __ Disagree __ _ 

Strongly Disagree __ _ No opinion __ v __ 

B. A defendant in a criminal trial should be required to prove his or her 
innocence. 

Strongly Agree __ _ Agree __ Disagree __ _ 

St rongly Disagree ✓ No opinion ___ _ 
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C. A person is entitled to a fair and thorough investigation by law enforcement 
officers before he/she is arrested and charged with a serious crime. 

Yes _ _ ✓ __ No ___ _ No Opinion __ _ 

45 . If you were convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was 
guilty of first degree murder, would you say that: 

A. Your beliefs about the death penalty are such that you would ALWAYS 
vote for the punishment of life imprisonment and NEVER vote for the death 
penalty regardless of the facts and circumstances of the case. 

Yes __ _ No __ ./ __ 

B. Your beliefs about the death penalty are such that you would ALWAYS 
vote for the death penalty and NEVER vote for life imprisonment regardless of 
the facts and circumstances of the case. 

Yes _ _ _ No __ ✓ __ 

OCCUPATIONAL/VOLUNTEER WORK 

46. Have you performed any volunteer work in the last five (5) years; if yes please 
provide the name of the agency, organization or charity, and the description of the work 
performed. -----------~-------~l177-~---;K ___ _ 

/J s j D J'fl.. ~ c~ N ud.a WIA._J I) s s r f"tlA- /.deS-f ~~ &~~ 

MILITARY 

4 7. Have you ever had military experience? _ _../J-'o=------...-------
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48. If so, indicate branch of service, dates of service, position/rank held, and 
duties: 

Branch Position/Rank Duties 

49. Were you ever a member of the military police or shore patrol? Yes __ _ 
No 1/ 

50 Were you ever involved in a military court martial? Yes __ _ No t/ 
If yes, please describe your role in the proceedings? 

PARTICIPATION IN CLUBS, ORGANIZATIONS. COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES 

51. Do you belong to any group or organization active in political matters (e.g. 
Mothers Against Drunk Drivers, The American Civil Liberties Union, The John Birch society, 
Amnesty International, etc.) ? DD If yes, please explain: 

52. Do you attend religious services? Yes ✓ No ___ _ 
often? [n~ l asf d<'.(s " 11/R.R.,Jfu ~ i: '{Bvd:: 

If yes, how 

53. Are you active in church activities of any kind? Yes ___ _ No t/ 

LEGAL SYSTEM 

54. . Do you have any relatives or close friends who are judges or attorneys? ~ 
If yes , please state your relationship to that person(s) and indicate how often ibu 
communicate with them regarding law-related subjects: 

lJfL ~ c4X-~ ~ at/r#.!-'j/ U d»11d ~ I)~ a.~ 
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55. Do you have any acquaintances who are practicing criminal lawyers? ~ 
lfyes, please give the n~mes and_ the relationship you t,ave with them: U 

~ . ~ a¼ -ikvtduSM. 

56. Do you have any relatives or close friends who are now, or have been in the 
past, involved in law enforcement (police officers, security guard, military police, etc.)? 

<f,· s If yes, please state your relationship to that person(s) and indicate how 
often you communicate with them regarding law-related subjects: 

' ,s~s 

57. Do you believe that your relationship with any of the above persons would 
affect your ability to be fair and impartial to both sides in this case? no If yes, 
please explain: 

JURY SYSTEM/JUROR ROLE 

58 . If you have ever been a juror before, please state .for each case: 
Civil Nature Submitted 

or of to 
Year Criminal Case Jury 

Did you 
Reach a 
Verdict 

........ l?......,.'13 ____ _.,__~_- - ~----------q.,__SS=~~/t,=~=-.· ,,.__~~ --S ___ Y ✓ N _ 

_ _ ___________________________ Y __ N __ 

____________________________ y __ N __ 

59. Did you find your experience as a juror to be: 

Positive--✓-- Negative ___ _ 

60. If you have ever been a juror before, did you talk with the Judge, Prosecutor 
or Defense Attorney after returning your verdict? _ ___.;n...;....::o ______________ _ 
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61 . What types of opinions do you have that could affect your judgment in a 
criminal law trial? 

ncd,w._Di ~ 

62. Are you taking any medication regularly that might make it difficult for you to 
pay attention or concentrate for long periods of time? a o If yes, please specify the 
medication , the purpose for which you are taking it, and describe its effects upon your 
abil ity to concentrate: 

63. Do you have any difficulty with your hearing? _n_o __ _ If so, might it 
affect your performance as a juror? ______ _ 

64. Do you have a problem with your vision? n O If yes, please specify the 
nature of that difficulty and how it might affect your performance as a juror: 

CRIME AND VIOLENCE 

65. In general, what are your opinions and feelings about how the criminal justice 
system works? 

sy5k tcm-ks well mos'-f o-f ~ ~ - ~~, rJum~ &f-

U-1 m /r1 ~ 2 ud k h cu)~ s ~ t L_ ~ cl- - LJttt s b; L + ~all 
f'-{~5vrw_5-( k.R.. ..-U..>~ 

136. Have you or any family member or close friend ever been arrested and/or 
charge with a crime? no If yes, please explain (what happened, when did it 
happen) : 
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67. If you or any family member or close friend has ever been arrested and/or 
charged with a crime, how has this affected your feelings about the criminal justice 
system? 

68 . Have you or any family member or close friend ever been the victim of a 
crime? 

~S If yes, please explain (who was the victim, what happened, and when did it 
happen) : 

~ 4) a5 /YIM.t~cl ~ :t w ~ ; ~ ~1 k s ~ ~ 1) e'#'~ - 4.)o.ll,_.t st L 

Was there a conviction? 11° /fe..(J,bii was/,:IJ. -.. , 69. 

70. 
system? 

How has this experience affected your feelings about the criminal justice 

71 . Have you or any family member or close friend ever been a witness to a crime? 
If yes, please explain (what type of crime, when did it happen, did you ~ave to testify in 
a court proceeding): 

72. Do you own any firearms (guns, rifles)? Yes ___ _ No i./ 
If yes, what type(s)? 
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73. If you have ever used a weapon for any purpose other than target, skeet 
shooting or hunting, please explain: 

Yl.o 

LEGAL EXPERIENCE 

74. Have you had any experience working in any legal field? ___ !1_0 __ If yes, 
please explain: 

75. Have you ever testified as a witness in any type of matter in a court of law? 
~ € S If yes, please explain? 

w~ss ~ f r~cJ.. "-f ])~Too ~ UtJL.v ~ wfl),s,1J-fJ ~'<-~ ; 

J19Y 

76. Whether or not you have had any experience with the, what is your opinion 
of: 

a. Defense Attorneys clo ~ r#l s wdJ 
b. Public Defenders ~~ , UMc.&.._ ~ 

C. Prosecutors r~~ ~ )~ 
77. Would you have tendency to give more weight or credence to the testimony 

of a police officer simply because he/she is a police officer? Yes ____ No ✓ 

Why?--------------------------------

78. How do you feel the crime problem is handled in your community? 

Adequately __ ✓ __ Inadequately ____ _ No opinion ____ _ 
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79. Do you belong to a crime prevention group in your neighborhood? fl O 
If yes, what is the nature of your participation? 

80. Generally what is your opinion of the punishment that convicted criminals 

receive? ~ 0J¾ ¢' w4d ~ Ji._~ 

81. If you had your choice, would you give the police more or less power than they 
have now? Yes ___ No v 
If yes, please explain: 

f 1.,;$4 Ctm ft Su,.,~ fatu ~ l>i~ C6-M. v ,~c ~ " f ~ ~ 
-l ti c.&dL um S fi~fuJJ llA,l) kl fu ~ 4 f t4 / ti£ f J $?f<kck.s e~ 
~~s , 0 

82. When a defendant is · charged with a crime, do you think he should have to 
prove his innocence? Yes ___ No ✓ 

If yes, please explain: 

t n no~ lAnL~ ;Iv~ ~ - ~&- k~ tJ:/ ,1½%f: 
-£ ~"lc-oc.J(.c-,,,'\.. ';;) ~ ,- --~ . 

RACIAL OR ETHNIC BIASES 

83. Do you have some biases of some sort against a young African-American 
man? · 

Yes ✓ No__ ;.)o bt4 . 
Please explain your answer: ::t,,-, ~~ 'iJii,> J h.CAJ.A- >~ 

1e.e,;~f ~ ~o. i bwi-~ v-~ ~ 
~/µ_0,~ -l etc¥ ~ci.dt_ ~ > tlolw.s 1 ~~ > 

,1,U~4,_ ~~~..de.-£:~ tl~. 

'K 1a . 
~~ ~ _ os<-H-ac,~J ~ .~ ~ ~ 
½ tt~~ ""{ ~ ~ ~ ._ 
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A. Do you think that some biases exist, in our society, against an African­
American male ? 
YesLNo__ . ,.. 
Please ~a in: l!!'r:;'i'¥:j;_..,,., _ ~ k;,,,_.J /,' t es {1<M > I :::J o--nJ''.,~a, , 
- . • ~ +:::. ; U S ~ b.i..A. ~s.. .u..,s--t- "1; ~ 

~~s-~~~se--/~ J 
8. Would you say that you were raised in an atmosphere free of biases? 

Yes ✓ No 
Plea;;-explain your answer: ~ ~s ~ .,.,.,:.\-~ ~~ 
~~ "1 0~ ~ tr"'- "7~> 

C. Have you been exposed to persons who exhibit, or have exhibited, racial, 
sexual, religious, and/or ethnic prejudice? 
Yes,/ No 
Plea;;-explain your answer: -:r; ~ '41 ~ J;e¼,Zl ;.,.... --14 SD~ <:160$ 
~ ;;J;t.,~s~ ~-- .e,s~ ~~~ ~ ·t-L--1?~·7 

D. . . Please list_ any bifises you might have: _ :..p.a,;_iel,;u. ~ .~ 
~~ &.-<·~.,-;,~d_ C,<.,~ ~Si:L ~cR,c Al>~ ·i k4. , ) _ WOv. :t-

pttzs:- ~ cW ~¥ r;t ~ Uµc,~ ""\ JJ"Q ,-A~ 4tN'l'if~1. 
~h-~ -t;-+k>?. 7 ~~/ ~ ~ ~ ~~ ~ ~ €4,,~t-rc:Q._, 

b 'iL,__ ~ r•2A:o cirrr 4-s&kw ~ <1&1>'tr ~ C ~ ~ S -£ rtl,t_ 
( ; ~ ~,~ 

E. Would you say you have some racist or ethnic attitudes? 
Strong _ Moderate _ Mild _L'None _ 

84. Do you think an African-American man can receive a fair trail, in Clark County 
Nevada, free of racial biases? Please Explain. 

85. Can you think of any reason(s) you might be biased or prejudiced either for or 
against a young African-American male? 

Yes_NoL 
Please explain your answer: _C._o._S,2...;...__~=· __ _,;;,_~_~__,::;ca_~_~·· ____ ,M,,t-<f4._,__ _______ U ___ ~ __ 
~~ -

86. What is it about yourself that makes you feel you can be an impartial juror on 
th is case? :t- be- ~u;__ fl. > '<- h -S cd--1 s:-f :J; ~ +v-cu.,.,u;df "t> 
e,.,~~ ~ ctoetc o ~~d:wj k·~ rn~a_ ~ 
&--1~~ lc-'Ylc/4~. -::r:.-+ ;6~ ,zs.~"-f~ 
S~{t ,11-U ct> s; -
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J -

87. Given what you know about the nature of this case, please list any biases you 
may have which could interfere with your ability to be an impartial juror, if 
selected to sit on this case: _________________ _ 

88. Can you think of any reason you might not be an impartial juror, if selected to 
serve on this case? Yes No ✓ 

If "Yes", please explain: ____________________ _ 

89. Please state why you might like or not like to sit on this case? ____ _ 

~tf5> ~~ 
i,~ fno)_~ -

J 

-t, m ,ck~ i,;,:H/"~: fc -i-e..__ ~ 

y ~I.,,__~ ;,.,.._=u~ i+" as/Jt; 
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I . 

I swear or affirm that the responses given are true and accurate to the best of my 

knowledge and belief. 

Date 

JEFFREY SOBE , District Judge 
/ I ,,= I 
I I ; J 
U·. // 

( ' 
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NOTICE OF MOTION  
 

TO: CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the MOTION FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

filed in this Court on December 13, 2019, will come on for hearing before this Court 

in Department No. 6 on ___________________________ at the hour of ______________  

located at the Regional Justice Center, 200 Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 

89101. 

     DATED this 13th day of December, 2019. 

 Respectfully submitted 
 RENE L. VALLADARES 
 Federal Public Defender 
 
 
  /s/ Randolph M. Fiedler  
  RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
  Assistant Federal Public Defender 
   
  /s/ Ellesse Henderson  
  ELLESSE HENDERSON 
  Assistant Federal Public Defender 
 
  Attorneys for Petitioner 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Peter Baldonado, an investigator for the Clark County District Attorney’s 

office, was accused of raping a witness in another case before Johnson’s conviction 

became final.1 As early as 2001, the district attorney’s office knew there was a 

problem, namely that Baldonado had a practice of sexually assaulting and 

harassing female witnesses.2 

Charla Severs was a female witness in Johnson’s case.3 Baldonado took a 

statement from Severs, memorialized in a transcription that is undated, without 

detail of its location, or indication of context.4 Later, Severs left a letter with the 

prosecutor in this case indicated that she should have let a “B-lodeuce” “fuck me off” 

rather than provide a statement incriminating Johnson.5 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to conduct discovery related to the State’s 

suppression of evidence. 

II. ARGUMENT 

During post-conviction proceedings, after a hearing has been set, a party may 

conduct discovery “to the extent that the judge or justice for good cause shown 

grants leave to do so.” NRS 34.780(2).6 There appear to be no cases defining good 

                                            
1 See Pet. Ex. 80 at 21–22. 
2 See Reply Ex. 215.  
3 See 6/7/00 TT at III-2. 
4 See Pet. Ex. 60. 
5 See Reply Ex. 217; but see 06/06/00 TT at III-79. 
6 Contemporaneous with the filing of this motion, Johnson files a Motion for 

Evidentiary Hearing. 
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cause or what circumstances constitute “good cause.” The federal analogue of NRS 

34.780, Rule 6 of the Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases, however, requires “good 

cause” for the court to allow discovery. In federal habeas cases, “[g]ood cause exists 

‘where specific allegations before the court show reason to believe that the 

petitioner may, if the facts are fully developed, be able to demonstrate that he is . . . 

entitled to relief . . . .” Smith v. Maloney, 611 F.3d 978, 996 (9th Cir. 2010) 

(omissions in original) (quoting Bracy v. Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 908–09 (1997)). 

“Where good cause exists, ‘it is the duty of the court to provide the necessary 

facilities and procedures for an adequate inquiry.’” Id. at 996–97 (quoting Harris v. 

Nelson, 394 U.S. 286, 300 (1969)). Federal courts also grant discovery when it is 

needed to establish good cause and prejudice to excuse any procedural default. See, 

e.g., Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 684–85, 692–92 (2004) (petitioner established 

cause to overcome procedural default based on documents obtained during 

discovery); Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 285–86 (1999) (referencing federal 

discovery). 

Johnson has shown good cause under NRS 34.780 because Johnson has 

provided specific allegations that, if fully developed, will establish good cause and 

prejudice to overcome any applicable procedural default.  

A. The State suppressed evidence related to Peter Baldonado. 

The State’s violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) establishes 

good cause and prejudice to overcome a procedural default. See, e.g., Rippo v. State, 

134 Nev. 411, 431, 423 P.3d 1084, 1103 (2018).  Here, the State suppressed evidence 

of Baldonado’s misconduct. That evidence is favorable both because it could serve as 
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impeachment of Charla Severs’s testimony and because it would undermine the 

integrity of the State’s investigation. See United States v. Mincoff, 574 F.3d 1186, 

1199 (9th Cir. 2009) (“Giglio [v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (9 th Cir. 2008)] 

requires that the government disclose “any promises, inducements, or threats made 

to witnesses to gain cooperation in the investigation or prosecution.”). In addition, 

suppression of the evidence was prejudicial because Severs offered critical 

testimony—that Johnson confessed to being the triggerman for all four killings. 

These specific allegations, if fully developed, will establish good cause and 

prejudice to overcome any procedural default. Thus, Johnson requests leave of 

Court to conduct the following discovery. 

1. Discovery from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 
Department. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the Las 

Vegas Metropolitan Police Department for all records referencing Baldonado’s 

participation in Johnson’s case, records related to investigations of Baldonado, and 

records related to allegations of misconduct by Baldonado.7 These records are 

necessary to demonstrate that the State knew of Baldonado’s misconduct, the 

extent of Baldonado’s misconduct, and that the State suppressed this evidence. 

2. Discovery from the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the Federal 

Bureau of Investigation for all records related to investigations of Baldonado, 

                                            
7 Ex. 3. 
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allegations of Baldonado’s misconduct, and communications related to Baldonado 

between the FBI and other entities.8 These records are necessary to demonstrate 

that the State knew of Baldonado’s misconduct, the extent of Baldonado’s 

misconduct, and that the State suppressed this evidence. 

3. Discovery from the United States Attorney’s Office for the 
District of Nevada. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the United 

States Attorney’s Office for the District of Nevada for all records related to 

investigations of Baldonado, allegations of Baldonado’s misconduct, and 

communications related to Baldonado between the United States Attorneys’ Office 

and other entities.9 These records are necessary to demonstrate that the State knew 

of Baldonado’s misconduct, the extent of Baldonado’s misconduct, and that the State 

suppressed this evidence. 

4. Discovery from the United States Department of Justice. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the United 

States Department of Justice for all records related to investigations of Baldonado, 

allegations of Baldonado’s misconduct, and communications related to Baldonado 

between the United States Department of Justice and other entities.10 These 

records are necessary to demonstrate that the State knew of Baldonado’s 

misconduct, the extent of Baldonado’s misconduct, and that the State suppressed 

this evidence. 

                                            
8 See Ex. 4. 
9 See Ex. 5. 
10 See Ex. 6. 
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5. Discovery from the Clark County District Attorney’s office. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the Clark 

County District Attorney’s office for all records related to investigations of 

Baldonado, allegations of misconduct by Baldonado, references to Baldonado’s 

participation in the investigation of Johnson’s case, Baldonado’s personnel records, 

and records related to any lawsuits related to Baldonado.11 These records are 

necessary to demonstrate that the State knew of Baldonado’s misconduct, the 

extent of Baldonado’s misconduct, and that the State suppressed this evidence. 

6. Discovery from the Nevada Attorney General’s office. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the Nevada 

Attorney General’s office for all records related to investigations of Baldonado, 

allegations of Baldonado’s misconduct, and communications related to Baldonado 

between the Nevada Attorney General’s Office and other entities.12 These records 

are necessary to demonstrate that the State knew of Baldonado’s misconduct, the 

extent of Baldonado’s misconduct, and that the State suppressed this evidence. 

B. The State suppressed evidence related to Tod Armstrong. 

The fact that Armstrong was not prosecuted for these homicides, despite 

evidence inculpating him, raises an inference he received undisclosed benefits. 

Additionally, Armstrong received assistance clearing a warrant. Benefits received 

by Armstrong would be favorable or impeaching evidence. See Jimenez v. State, 112 

Nev. 610, 621, 918 P.2d 687, 693 (1996). Because the State has not disclosed any 

                                            
11 See Ex. 7. 
12 See Ex. 8. 
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benefits, the State has suppressed this evidence. And this evidence is material 

because Armstrong testified against Johnson. 

 These specific allegations, if fully developed, will establish good cause and 

prejudice to overcome any procedural default, thus Johnson requests leave of Court 

to conduct the following discovery. 

1. Discovery from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 
Department. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the Las 

Vegas Metropolitan Police Department for all records related to Tod Armstrong.13 

These records are necessary to demonstrate that the State provided benefits to 

Armstrong in exchange for his testimony. 

2. Discovery from the Clark County District Attorney’s Office. 

Johnson seeks leave of Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum on the Las 

Vegas Metropolitan Police Department for all records related to Tod Armstrong.14 

These records are necessary to demonstrate that the State provided benefits to 

Armstrong in exchange for his testimony. 

 

 

 

 

                                            
13 Ex. 9. 
14 Ex. 10. 

AA12194



 

9 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

 

 

III. CONCLUSION 

Johnson requests that this Court grant leave to conduct discovery. 

 
 DATED this 13th day of December, 2019. 

 Respectfully submitted 
 RENE L. VALLADARES 
 Federal Public Defender 
 
 
  /s/ Randolph M. Fiedler  
  RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
  Assistant Federal Public Defender 
   
  /s/ Ellesse Henderson  
  ELLESSE HENDERSON 
  Assistant Federal Public Defender 
 
  Attorneys for Petitioner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

In accordance with EDCR 7.26(a)(4) and 7.26(b)(5), the undersigned hereby 

certifies that on December 13, 2019 a true and accurate copy of the foregoing 

MOTION AND NOTICE OF MOTION FOR LEAVE TO CONDUCT DISCOVERY 

(HEARING REQUESTED) was filed electronically with the Eighth Judicial District 

Court and served by Odyssey EFileNV, addressed as follows: 

Steven S. Owens 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
Eileen.davis@clarkcountyda.com 

    
   

/s/ Celina Moore  
An Employee of the  
Federal Public Defenders Office 

 

 

AA12196



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

 

 

EXH 
RENE L. VALLADARES 
Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 11479 
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ELLESSE HENDERSON 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 14674C 
Ellesse_Henderson@fd.org 
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1.    Holloway v. Baldonado, No. A498609, Plaintiff’s Opposition to Motion 
for Summary Judgment, District Court of Clark County, Nevada, filed 
August 1, 2007 

2.  Handwritten letter from Charla Severs, dated September 27, 1998 
3.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 

Department for all records referencing Peter Baldonado 
4.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Federal Bureau of Investigation 
5.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the United States Attorney’s Office in Las 

Vegas, Nevada 
6.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the United States Department of Justice 
7.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office 

for all records referencing Peter Baldonado 
8.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Attorney General’s Office of the State of 

Nevada 
9.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 

Department for all records referencing Tod Armstrong 
10.  Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office 

for all records referencing Tod Armstrong 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

In accordance with EDCR 7.26(a)(4) and 7.26(b)(5), the undersigned hereby 

certifies that on December 13, 2019 a true and accurate copy of the foregoing 

EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF PETITIONER’S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO 

CONDUCT DISCOVERY was filed electronically with the Eighth Judicial District 

Court and served by Odyssey EFileNV, addressed as follows: 

Steven S. Owens 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
Eileen.davis@clarkcountyda.com 

    
   

/s/ Celina Moore  
An Employee of the  
Federal Public Defenders Office 

 

AA12199



EXHIBIT 1 

EXHIBIT 1 

AA12200



1 Richard A. Harris, Esq. 
Nevada State Bar No. 505 

2 RICHARD HARRIS LAW FIRM 
801 S. Fourth Street 

3 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 3 85-1400 

4 William C. Jeanney, Esq. 
Nevada State Bar No. 1235 

5 BRADLEY, DRENDEL & JEANNEY, LTD. 
401 Flint Street 

6 Reno, Nevada 89501 
Telephone: (775) 335-9999 

7 Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Electronically Filed 
08/01/2007 04:04:09 PM 
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27 

28 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

LOVE HOLLOWAY, ) 

Plaintiff, l 
vs. 

~ 
PETER BALDONADO, individually and in his ) 
official capacity as former investigator for the )) 
Office of the Clark County District Attorney; 
STEWART BELL, individually and in his capacity )) 
as former Clark County District Attorney; DAVID 
ROGER, individually and in his official capacity ) 
as Clark County District Attorney; BILL YOUNG, ) 
individually and in his official capacity as Sheriff )) 
of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department; 
CLARK COUNTY, a political subdivision of the ) 
State of Nevada, on relation of its Office of the ) 
Clark County District Attorney, and on relation )) 
of its Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department; 
CITY OF NORTH LAS VEGAS, a municipal ) 
corporation existing under the laws of the State of )) 
Nevada in the County of Clark ex rel. its North 
Las Vegas Police Department; DOES I through X; ) 
inclusive; and ROES I through X, inclusive, ) 

) 
Defendants ) ---------""""""""'~==-------

Case No. A498609 
Dept. No. XVI 

PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

COMES NOW Plaintiff, above named, acting by and through her counsel of record, and 

hereby opposes "Sheriff Bill Young's Motion for Summary Judgment," filed herein on June 25, 

2007. This opposition is made pursuant to NRCP 56 and is based on the acco1npanying 
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I Me1norandum of Points and Authorities, together with all other 1natters properly of record. 

2 DA TED this 1st day of August, 2007. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

By ..,,,,W"""77ill,....i+---='-~-+-,~-------

401 Fl Street 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
Telephone: (775) 335-9999 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

As explained below, Young has failed to comply with NRCP 56(c) (as amended effective 

01/01/05). To facilitate consideration of motions for su1nmary judg1nent, movants are required to 

13 list each and every 1naterial fact that allegedly is not in dispute and to support the enumeration with 

14 appropriate references to the summary judgment record. This has the laudatory effect of forcing the 

15 movant to 'think through' his position before presenting it. It also narrows the issues for all parties, 

16 as well as the Court. When this requirement is met, the nonmovant can readily determine which 

17 parts of the summary judgment record to cite in his or her own list of 1naterial issues claimed to be 

18 in genuine dispute. As aresultofYoung's resort to the prior 'scatter gun' approach, these goals have 

19 been thwarted. Nevertheless, Ms. Holloway will list each fact she deems significant to her 

20 opposition. 

21 1. In preparing a news story for the Las Vegas Review-Journal, reporter Glenn Puit 

22 interviewed, among others, Defendant Stewart Bell. See Affidavit of Glenn Puit, annexed as Exhibit 

23 2. 

24 2. In the resulting article (hereinafter "Article," a true copy of which is annexed as to 

25 Puit's affidavit), Bell confirmed the basics of certain allegations of one, Crystal Chipman, also 

26 reported in Puit's news story. Article, p. 1. 

27 

28 

3. The basics of Chipman's allegations consisted of the following: 

a. That she and one, Crystal Brooks, met with Bell in 2001 and 

2 
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I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

complained that Peter Baldonado had been "fixing warrants in return for sexual 

favors." 

b. 

C. 

That Chipman and Brooks were thereafter interviewed by police detectives; 

That Chipman and Brooks volunteered to participate in a sting operation in 

any investigation of Baldonado's nefarious conduct; and 

d. That Chipman and Brooks were never thereafter contacted concerning their 

7 complaints. 

8 Article, pp. 1-2. 

9 4. Bell also acknowledged that he contacted the police to investigate the allegations 

10 made by Chipman and Brooks. Article, p. 2. 

11 5. Puit, in his own affidavit, attests that it is his habit and practice, when reporting on 

12 the content of other persons' statements, to do so accurately. Ex. 2. 

13 6. Ms. Holloway has retained a private investigator in an effort to locate the other 

14 females who reportedly were victimized by Baldonado and, although the investigator is optimistic 

15 concerning the prospects, he has not yet been able to contact any of these wo1nen. Affidavit of 

16 William C. Jeanney, annexed as Exhibit 3. 

17 7. The Discovery Commissioner's Scheduling Order was not entered in this case until 

18 late last year, on October 3, 2006. Declaration of David Boehrer, annexed as Exhibit 1. 

19 

20 

21 

22 Ex. 1. 

23 

8. 

9. 

I 0. 

11. 

The discovery period in this case does not end until September 28, 2007. Ex. 1. 

No depositions have yet been taken in this case. Ex. 1. 

The parties have until October 12, 2007, within which to filed dispositive motions. 

Knowledge concerning the role Baldonado played in the investigation of the criminal 

24 case he used as a pretext for raping Ms. Holloway, as well as his conduct in other cases, is within 

25 the exclusive possession of the Defendants. Ex. 1. 

26 ARGUMENT 

27 I. 

28 

CONSIDERATION OF YOUNGiS SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION SHOULD BE 
DEFERRED 

3 
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1 There are significant procedural difficulties with Young's summary judgment 1notion. 

2 Among other problems, he has failed to co1nply with Rule 56(c)'s requirement that he list, and 

3 support with specific citations to the su1nmary judgment record, each and every fact he contends is 

4 not genuinely in issue. As will be shown, this failure makes opposition to, and the Court's 

5 consideration of, Young's motion unduly burdensome. Additionally, Young's motion is premature. 

6 It is based, in substantial part, on contentions that no evidence exists to support certain aspects of 

7 Ms. Holloway's claims. Yet, no depositions have yet been taken and the discovery cut-off is still 

8 two months away. For these and other reasons that will be discussed, infra, Ms. Holloway will 

9 demonstrate that consideration ofY oung' s su1nmary judgment motion should be continued until he 

10 complies with Rule 56( c) and until after the close of discovery. Because this is only about two 

11 months from now, there can be no serious contention that Young will be prejudiced in any way. 

12 A. 

13 

Young Has Not Complied with NRCP 56(c) and Consideration of His Motion Should 
Be Deferred Until He Separately Lists Each Fact He Contends Is Not In Dispute And 
Supports Each Item With References To The Summary Judgment Record 

14 Effective January 1, 2005, NRCP 56(c) was amended to include a requirement similar to 

15 Local Rule 56-1 of the U.S. District Court, District of Nevada. NRCP 56(c) now requires the 

16 movants and nonmovants to set forth "each fact the party claims is or is not genuinely in issue, citing 

17 the particular portions of any pleading, affidavit, deposition, interrogatory, answer, ad1nission, or 

18 other evidence upon which the party relies." The clear purpose of this requirement is to focus the 

19 issues in an organized way. Young's "Statement of Facts" does not follow the required format and 

20 he thwarts the purpose of Rule 56(c). Neither Ms. Holloway nor this Court should be required to 

21 sift through Young's 30-page filing to do his work for him. 

22 The problem is exacerbated by Young's reliance on conclusory statements in his affidavit. 

23 For example, Young purports to attest that "Defendant Peter Baldanado has never been an employee 

24 of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Depart1nent." Young's Ex. D, ,r 6. However, the Court can 

25 take judicial notice that the Clark County District Attorney's Office and Metro work closely on the 

26 investigation and prosecution of criminal cases. NRS 47 .130. And whether a particular investigator 

27 of one agency became the loaned or shared employee of another is ordinarily a question of fact. See, 

28 e.g., Campbell v. State of Washington, 118 P.3d 888, 892 (2005). 

4 
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1 Conclusory state1nents in affidavits may not be considered su1n1nary proceedings. Clauson 

2 v. Lloyd, 103 Nev. 432,434, 743 P.2d 631,633 (1987). Rule 56(e) requires that such affidavits 1nust 

3 set forth facts, rather than mere conclusions. And District Court Rule 13(5) mandates that affidavits 

4 "shall contain only factual, evidentiary matter ... and shall avoid mere general conclusions .... " 

5 Affidavits that do not meet these requirements may be stricken (id.) and reliance on an affidavit that 

6 is defective in this respect is reversible error. Havas v. Hughes Estate, 98 Nev. 172, 643 P .2d 1220 

7 (}982). 1 

8 B. Young's Motion For Summary Judgment Is Premature And Its Consideration Should 
Be Deferred For That Reason As Well 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Defendant Young accurately points out that, in Woodv. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 121 

P .3d 1026 (2005), the Nevada Supreme Court recently adopted the federal su1nmary judgment 

standards enunciated in a well-known constellation of U.S. Supreme Court cases, i.e., Anderson v. 

Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 2505 (1986); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 

106 S.Ct. 2548 (1986); and Matsushita Electrical Industrial Co. v. Zenith Radio, 477 U.S. 574, 106 

S.Ct. 1348 (1986). Under these standards, the movant adequately supports his summary judgment 

motion "by 'showing' --that is, pointing out to the district court--that there is an absence of evidence 

to support the nonmoving party's case." Celotex, 477 U.S. at 325, 106 S.Ct. at 2554. 

However, a necessary corollary is that the nonmovant must first have adequate opportunity 

to conduct discovery on the particular issue. Id. at 322, 106 S.Ct. at 2552. This is especially critical 

when the information needed to oppose the motion is in the hands of the nonmovant' s opponents. 

10B Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 

2741 (2007). In fact, some state courts have gone further, holding that any motion for summary 

judgment made before the close of discovery is "precipitous." Payne's Hardware & Building 

Supply, Inc. v. Apple Valley Trading Co. a/West Virginia, 490 S.E.2d 772,778 (W.Va. 1997). 

The Discovery Commissioner's Scheduling Order was not entered in this case until late last 

27 1It should also not go unnoticed that Young's affidavit is not in cognizable fonn. See, generally, 

28 White v. State, I 02 Nev. 153, 717 P .2d 45 (1986). 
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1 year, on October 3, 2006. Declaration of David Boehrer, annexed as Exhibit 1, ~ 3. The discovery 

2 cut-off does not occur until another two (2) months, on Septe1nber 28, 2007. Ex. 1, ~ 4. Not a single 

3 deposition has yet been taken. Ex. 1, ~ 5. And dispositive motions, such as Young's request for 

4 summary judgment, may be filed a full six (6) weeks after the discovery cut-off, until October 12, 

5 2007. Ex. 1, ~ 6. Moreover, the evidence that is essential to fleshing out Young's role is clearly in 

6 the possession of Young and other Defendants. Ex. 1, ~ 7. 

7 Ms. Holloway's counsel are informed and believe that Defendant Baldonado's conduct was 

8 widespread and occurred over a substantial period of time. See Affidavit of Glenn Puit, annexed 

9 hereto as Exhibit 2. Puit authored the newspaper article that is attached to his affidavit "Article"). 

10 In the Article, Puit quoted Young's Co-Defendant, Stewart Bell, as having "confirmed the basics" 

11 of a complainant's factual recitation. Article, p. 1. The complainant, Crystal Chipman, stated that 

12 she and another woman, Crystal Brooks, personally 1net with Bell in 2001 when he was the Clark 

13 County District Attorney. Ibid. During such meeting, the two women informed Bell that Baldonado 

14 had been "fixing warrants in return for sexual favors." Ibid. This was in excess of two (2) years 

15 before Baldonado raped Ms. Holloway. 

16 It is anticipated that the Defendants will contend that this news account is hearsay. While 

17 this is undoubtedly true as to much of the material contained in the Article, it is not true insofar as 

18 Bell confirms Chipman's statements. Because Bell is a Defendant, his statements are excluded from 

19 the definition of hearsay. NRS 51.035(3) provides, in relevant part, as follows: 

20 "Hearsay" 1neans a statement offered in evidence to prove the truth of the 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

matter asserted unless: 

3. 
a. 

capacity. 

The statement is offered against a _party and is: 
His own statement, in either his individual or a representative 

And, while Puit does not wish to directly reveal his sources, his report of Bell's statement 

is admissible under NRS 48.059(1), which provides as follows: 

Evidence of the habit of a person or the routine practice of an organization, 
26 whether corroborated or not and regardless of the presence of eyewitnesses, is 

relevant to prove that the conduct of the person or organization on a particular 
27 occasion was in conformity with the habit or routine practice. 

28 In his affidavit, Puit states that it is his habit to attribute to those he interviews only the statements 

6 
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1 those individuals actually 1nake. Therefore, Puit's state1nent concerning Bell's confinnation of 

2 Chipman's account is admissible. 

3 Puit also attributes to Bell his recollection that he asked the "Las Vegas police to investigate 

4 the matter." Article, p. 2. This can legitimately be viewed as a reference to the Las Vegas 

5 Metropolitan Police Department. It is admissible evidence (see, again, NRS 51.035(3)), and, at a 

6 minimum, warrants a continuance of the sum1nary judgment motion until further discovery can be 

7 accomplished. 

8 Counsel for Ms. Holloway have been reasonably diligent in their efforts to obtain more 

9 information. The Affidavit of William C. Jeanney, annexed as Exhibit 3, reflects that a private 

10 investigator has been attempting for so1ne time to locate three of the women mentioned in the 

11 Article. Ex. 3, 'i[ 9. While the investigator's efforts have not yet yielded positive results, he remains 

12 optimistic at the prospects of locating some or all of these witnesses. Ex. 3, 'ii 10. 

13 In summary, Baldonado's conduct occurred over a substantial period of time. Because his 

14 direct employer clearly works hand-in-glove with Metro, it is entirely conceivable that Baldonado 

15 became the loaned servant to Metro at times, and thus became subject to that agency's supervision. 

16 Certainly, nothing that Young has presented forecloses such a possibility. And even at this juncture 

17 it is possible to draw an inference that Bell asked Metro to investigate the 2001 charges that 

18 Chipman and Brooks leveled against Baldonado. The further discovery that Ms. Holloway's counsel 

19 intend to conduct is set forth in Mr. Boehrer's Declaration, at 'ii 8. In these circumstances, Young's 

20 motion for summary judgment is premature. See, e.g., Dulanyv. Carnahan, 132 F.3d 1234 (8th Cir. 

21 1997). 

22 III. 

23 

YOUNG HAS FAILED TO NEGATE ANY ELEMENT OF MS. HOLLOWAY'S 
INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY CLAIM 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Young's argument concerning Ms. Holloway's individual capacity§ 1983 claim is rife with 

unsworn statements that are devoid of the requisite evidentiary support. For example, he states that 

"[h]e has [s;c, had] no ability and had no opportunity to select or supervise Pete Baldonado in his 

employment as an investigator in the Clark County District Attorney's Office." Motion, p. 10, II. 

26-27. This is not shown, even by the self-serving conclusory affidavit tendered by Young. Merely 
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1 because Baldonado 1nay have been actually e1nployed by the District Atton1ey' s Office, this does not 

2 preclude the possibility that he n1ay have been subject to supervision and control by Young, 

3 especially given the close working relationship between the two entities. 

4 Young precedes this assertion with another naked statement, i.e., that he is only the policy 

5 1naker for Metro. (Elsewhere Young contends, in equally undocumented fashion, that Ms. I-Iolloway 

6 "mistakenly contends that Sheriff Young 'was acting as a policymaker for Defendant CLARK 

7 COUNTY."' Motion, p. 3, 11. 7-9.) Whether a sheriff is the policymaker for the county he serves 

8 requires more analysis than Young has undertaken. See Brewster v. Shasta County, 275 F.3d 803 

9 (9th Cir. 200 I) (holding that sheriff was the final policymaker for the county in the particular context 

10 there considered). 

11 Young also repeats his error of relying on an alleged lack of evidence, when he has not yet 

12 even been deposed, see Motion, p. 10, L 9 ("nor is there any evidence"); p. 10, 1. 28 ("[t]here is not 

13 even slight evidence"), and seeking to take refuge in his self-serving affidavit that is conveniently 

14 conclusory and has not be subject to cross examination. Motion, p. 11, L 2.2 

15 IV. 

16 

THE COURT HAS ALREADY REJECTED THE NOTION THAT MS. 
HOLLOW A Y'S § 1983 CLAIM IS GOVERNED THE "DeSHANEY DOCTRINE'' 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Late last year, on November 29, 2006, this Court entered its order denying the City of North 

Las Vegas' motion to dismiss. Like Young, the City of North Las Vegas relied heavily on the 

doctrine enunciated in DeShaney v. Winnebago County Dept. of Social Services, 489 U.S. 189, 109 

S.Ct. 998 (1989). In denying the City's motion to dismiss, the Court clearly found DeShaney and 

its progeny to be inapposite. This is not a case in which a "private actor" caused Ms. Holloway's 

constitutional injury. Thus, Young's long-winded discussion of DeShaney and its progeny is simply 

2Young also takes a glancing shot at the sufficiency of Ms. Holloway's individual capacity 

allegations against him. Motion, p. 10, I. 8 ("Plaintiff has not averred any valid claim against Sheriff 

Young in his individual capacity as to any of his [sic, her] federal claims .... "). A review of the 

co1nplaint reveals this statement to be false. Moreover, Young has not utilized the correct procedural 

tool to challenge the sufficiency of Ms. Holloway's allegations against hitn. See NRCP 12(6)(5). 
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1 off the n1ark. 

2 As was pointed out in Ms. Holloway's prior opposition, the instant case can readily be 

3 viewed as one in which the "state-created danger" doctrine applies. Wood v. Ostrander, 879 F.2d 

4 583 (91h Cir. 1989). Baldonado gained access to Holloway's ho1ne by wielding the authority 

5 conferred upon him by the state. On the basis of several complaints that had previously been made 

6 against Baldonado by African-American women, the Defendants (including, according to Bell's 

7 recollection when he was interviewed in 2004, Metro) undertook to "investigate" hi1n. Fairly 

8 construed, Holloway's complaint alleges that due to a lack of employee training and supervision, the 

9 need for which was obvious, the "investigation" of Baldonado was so grossly inadequate that it 

10 amounted to a de facto policy of condonation, or at least deliberate indifference. In these 

11 circumstances, DeShaney v. W;nnebago Cy. Dept. of Social Serv., 498 U.S. 189, 109 S.Ct. 998 

12 (1989), and its progeny are inapposite. Cf Amnesty America v. Town of West 1-Jartford, 361 F.3d 

13 113, 129 (2nd Cir. 2004) (where policymaking official had actual notice of a potentially serious 

14 problem of unconstitutional conduct, such that the need for corrective action was obvious, the 

15 policymaker' s failure to investigate or rectify the situation evidences deliberate indifference). 

16 V. 

17 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT CANNOT PROPERLY BE ENTERED ON MS. 
HOLLOW A Y'S § 1983 CLAIMS BASED ON POLICY AND CUSTOM 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Young begins this portion of his argument by suggesting that an single constitutional 

deprivation is ordinarily insufficient to establish a longstanding practice or custom. Motion, p. 16, 

11. 26-28, citing and quoting Christie v. Iopa, 176 F.3d 1231, 1235 (9th Cir. 1999). 

In the first place, it can hardly be contended that there was only a single constitutional 

deprivation in this case. If Bell's admission is credited, Baldonado was engaging in his nefarious 

activity for at least two years before he raped Ms. Holloway. 

Secondly, it is well-established that "ordinarily" does not mean "always" in this situation. 

As the Ninth Circuit teaches in Christie, there are three exceptions to "ordinarily." Ibid. Young has 

addressed none ofthe1n. Particularly apropos is the exception for cases in which the a policy maker 

exhibited deliberate indifference. Id., at 1240 (and cases cited therein). Indeed, in Christie the Ninth 

Circuit reversed an entry of summary judg1nent on that basis. 
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1 VI. 

2 

YOUNG IS NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY .JUDGMENT ON MS. HOLLOWAY'S 
§ 1981 CLAIM 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

Contrary to Young's assertions, 42 U.S.C. § 1981 has been utilized to enforce civil rights 

beyond the realm of contracts. In March v. Carrasquillo, 782 F.Supp. 593, 599 (M.D.Fla. 1992), 

for example, utilization of the statute against law enforcement officials was approved to redress a 

racially 1notivated arrest and consequent denial of "equal benefit of the laws." And, in National 

Association for the Advancement of Colored People v. Levi, 418 F.Supp. 1109 (D.D.C. 1976), the 

Court refused to dismiss an action based on § 1981, where it was alleged that racial motives of 

criminal investigators led them to undertake only a token investigation of a crime against a black 

1nan.3 This is closely analogous to Ms. Holloway's allegations. 

V. MS. HOLLOWAY AGREES THAT MOST OF HER STATE-LAW TORT 
CLAIMS AGAINST YOUNG ARE BARRED BY NRS 41.0335 

To the extent her state-law tort claims against Young rest on principles of respondeat 

13 superior, Ms. Holloway agrees that they are barred by NRS 41.0335. Ms. Holloway does not 

14 concede, however, that the other statutes cited by Young also insulate him and Metro from 

15 liability. Given Ms. Holloway's concession concerning NRS 41.0335, Young's other arguments 

16 are moot and need not be considered. 

17 Additionally, Young is incorrect in his assertion that Baldonado could not have been 

18 Young's employee. As shown above, the evidence to be uncovered during the remainder of the 

19 discovery period may establish facts from which a reasonable jury could infer that Baldonado 

20 was a loaned servant. Young is also incorrect in his related contention that Baldonado's rape of 

21 Ms. Holloway could not have occurred within the course and scope of his employment. Wood v. 

22 Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005). 

23 VI. 

24 

25 

26 

PUNITIVE DAMAGES ARE NOT PRECLUDED ON MS. HOLLOWAY'S 
INDIVIDUAL-CAPACITY FEDERAL CLAIMS AGAINST YOUNG 

While Young artfully skirts the issue in his Motion, punitive da1nages may be awarded 

27 3Levi has been superceded by statute on another point. See Williams v. Glickman, 936 F.Supp. 1 

28 (D.D.C. 1996). 
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1 against him in Ms. Holloway's individual-capacity federal clain1. See, e.g., City of Newport v. 

2 Fact Concerts, Inc., 453 U.S. 247, 101 S.Ct. 2748 (1981). Because Young's clai1n concerning 

3 the availability of punitive damages is based solely on the law rather than the facts, this aspect of 

4 his request for summary judg1nent on the punitive damages issue should be denied. 

5 CONCLUSION 

6 Young invites this Court to be 'penny wise and pound foolish,' when he exhorts the Court 

7 as follows: 

8 Plaintiff in su1n has developed no facts after having well over a year to 
conduct discovery and cannot develop any facts in the short time left in the 

9 discovery phase to resist summary judgment. 

10 Motion, p. 15, 11. 25-27. In the interest of saving the minimal expenses that will be incurred by 

11 permitting continued discovery during the two months remaining during such period, he asks the 

I 2 Court to risk piecemeal appeal, possible reversal, and the expense of an additional trial. 

13 Respectfully, the interests of judicial economy militate strongly in favor of postponing 

14 consideration of Young's sum1nary judgment motion until discovery has closed. At such time, 

15 Young should be permitted to resubmit his 1notion with instructions that he comply strictly with 

16 NRCP 56(c). 

17 DA TED this 1st day of August, 2007. 

18 BRADLEY, DfENDEL & JEANNEY, LTD. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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1 

2 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

3 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of BRADLEY, 
DRENDEL & JEANNEY, LTD., and that on this 1st day of August 2007, I served a true and 

4 correct copy of the foregoing document by: 

5 Placing an original or true copy thereof in a sealed envelope placed for collecting 
and mailing in the United States mail, at Reno, Nevada, postage prepaid, following 

6 ordinary business practices. 

7 
Richard A. Harris, Esq. 

8 Harris Law Finn 
801 South Fourth Street 

9 Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for: Love Holloway 

10 
Peter Baldonado 

11 2923 Matese Drive 
I-Ienderson, NV 89052 

12 Attorney for: Peter Baldonado 

13 Robert W. Freeman, Jr., Esq. 
Law Offices of Robert Freeman 

14 375 Stephanie Street, Building 8 
Henderson, NV 89014 

15 Attorney for: City of North Las Vegas 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Tom Dillard, Esq. 
Olson, Cannon, Gormley & Desruisseaux 
9950 West Cheyenne Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89129 
Attorney for: David Roger, 

Bill Young, 
Clark County, 
Stewart Bell 

•· I • ~1) ' Cif\c-\t\_(0\_,_ 
Emp oyee of Bradley, Dren el & Jeanney 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA 

AFFIRMATION 
Pursuant to NRS 239B.030 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding docu1nent filed in case number 

6 A498609 does not contain the social security number of any person. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated this 1st day of August, 2007. 

W . , Esq. 
A orney for Pla1 · ff 
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DECLARATION OF DAVID BOEIIRER IN OPPOSITION TO 
"SfIERIFF BILL YOUNG'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT" 

I, David Boehrer, 1nake this declaration pursuant to § 53.045 of the Nevada Revised 

Statutes: 

L I an1 an attorney duly adn1itted to practice law in the State of Nevada and I 

represent the Plaintiff in the case entitled Love Holloway v. Peter Baldonado, et at, pending in 

Depai1n1ent XVI of the Eighth Judicial District Cou11 of the State of Nevada, in and for the 

County of Clark, as Case No. A498609. 

2. . This Declaration is 1nade upon 1ny personal knowledge and is tendered in 

opposition to "Sheriff Bill Young's Motion for Su1mnary Judgn1ent, filed in the above-

1nentioned action on June 25, 2007. 

3. The Discovery Con11nissioner's Scheduling Order was entered in the above-

1nentioned action on October 3, 2006. 

4. Such Order sets the close of the discovery period at Septe111ber 28, 2007. 

5. No depositions have yet been taken in the above-referenced action. 

6. The Order provides that dispositive 1notions are to be filed by October 12, 2007. 

7. All knowledge of the role played by Baldonado in the crin1inal case he used as a 

pretext for raping Ms. Holloway, as well as his conduct in other cases, is within the exclusive 

possession of the Defendants. 

8. At a n1inin1w11, the further discovery that counsel for Ms. Holloway intend to 

conduct within the next two 1nonths includes taking the depositions of Bill Young, Stewmi Bell, 

and Peter Baldonado to detennine the working 1:elationships between the Las Vegas Metropolitai1 

Police Departn1ent, the Office of the Clark County District Attorney, and Peter Baldonado's 

AA12215



1 
specific role in relation to these two entities. 

2 

FURTHER DECLARANT SA YETI-I NAUGI-IT. 
3 

4 I declare under penalty of pe1jury that the foregoing is true and coITect. 

5 Executed on the 1st day of August, 2007. 
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AFF1DAVIT 

I, Glenn Puit. hereby attest as follows: 

L I was a reporter for the Las Vegas Review-Journal (the '"Newspaper') from 
l9't ~ to Jbot . , 

2. I have been a professional news reporter since l :19 L../ . 

3. I authored the attached article entitJed "District Atton1ey's Office: Baldonado 
subject of complaint'' which appeared in the Newspaper on April 18~ 2004 
(the HArticle"). 

4, It is my habit and practice to quote persons named in news articles accurately 
and fairly. I believe I quoted all the persons in the attached Article accurately 
and fairly. 

5. Pursuant to NRS 49.275, I was employed as an editorial employee of the 
Newspaper. I am not required to disclose, pursuant to NRS 49.275, the 
sources of any infonnation. See} Diaz v Eighth Judicial District. I do not 
waive my privilege pursuant to NRS 49.275 in executing this affidavit. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that 
the foregoing is true and correct. 

Dated: I / ). I \ 0 J 

L~?f--
Glenn Puit 

Affiant 
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Sunday, April 18, 2004 
Copyright@ Las Vegas Review-Journal 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE: 
Baldonado subject of complaint 

But charges were never pursued against investigator 

fu.'. GLENN PUIT 
REVIEW-JOURNAL 

Peter Baldonado 
Investigator with district 
attorney's office charged 
with bribery, sexua I 
assault 

case. 

An investigator who was recently 
charged with bribery and sexual 
assault was the subject of a detailed 
con1plaint to the district attorney's 
office in 2001, but no charges were 
ever pursued. 

Peter Baldonado, an investigator 
with the district attorney's office, 
was arrested this year amid 
accusations he demanded sex from 
women in return far quashing 
warrants, In addition, Baldonado. 
has been charged with raping a 
witness in a Clark County murder 

But according to federal reports and interviews conducted 
by the Review-Journal, the district attorney's office was 
warned that Baldonado might be a problem employee as 
early as 2001. 

One woman, Crystal Chipman, told the Review-Journal that 
she and another woman, Crystal Brooks, personally met 
with then-District Attorney Stewart Bell in 2001 to tell him 
about questionable behavior by Baldonado. 

Chipman said during the 2001 meeting, the women told 
Bell that Baldonado was fixing warrants in return for sexual 
favors, Bell promised he would investigate the matter, and 
as a result, Chipman said she and Brooks eventually met 
with two police detectives at a North Las Vegas restaurant. 

Chipman said she and Brooks told the detectives they 
would be willing to help the police investigate Baldonado, 

http://v,rv,rN. reviev,rjoumaLcom/1vrj_l1orne/2004/.4.pr-18-Sun-2004/nes.:vs/23670295.htrnl 
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and there was even talk of a sting operation targeting 
Baldonado, But Chipn1an said after the meeting with 
police, she and Brooks were never contacted again. 

Three years later, when the FBI took up the matter, they 
organized a sting operation in which Baldonado talked to a 
confidential informant about quashing warrants in 
exchange for sex. 

"To me, with an issue as serious as this, it should have 
been looked into/ Chipman said. 

Bell, who is now a district judge, confirmed the basics of 
Chipman's account. Bell said when the Baldonado 
complaint was reported to him, he took the matter very 
seriously and asked police to initiate an investigation. 

However, he said he was subsequently told by police that 
the allegations against Baldonado could not be proven. 

"They looked into it and could not substantiate it," Bell 
said. 

It was unclear exactly who investigated Baldonado and to 
what extent. Bel! said he believes he asked Las Vegas 
police to investigate the matter, but he can't be sure. 
Chipman said the detectives she met with were from the 
North Las Vegas Police Department. 

Regardless, Baldonado was free to continue his work as an 
investigator with the district attorney's office. Nearly two 
years after Chipman and Brooks reported their suspicions, 
a vvoman said Baldonado raped her while he was working 
ln his capacity as an investigator. 

The alleged sexual assault victim is a potential witness in 
the Las Vegas Valley murder case of Kenneth Curtis, who 
is accused of killing his girlfriend in 1997. The woman said 
Baldonado showed up at her house and raped her in 2003. 

District Attorney David Roger, who took office in January 
2003, said he was not aware of the allegation that 
Chipman and Brooks made against Baldonado 1n 2001. 
"Absolutely not," he said Friday. 

Roger said he also was not aware, before Baldonado's 
arrest, that the investigator had a prior conviction for 
stealing thousands of dollars from Caesars Palace, where 
he worked as a floorman in a blackjack pit. 

The Review-Journal has previously reported that 
Baldonado was granted a pardon by the Nevada Pardons 
Board in 19891 and went to work as an investigator with 

http://vvv1vv.revie\vjoumal.com/lvrj_home/2004/Li\pr- l 8-S un-2004/news/23 67029 5 .ht1nL 
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the district attorney's office in 1991. 

He was promoted to a senior investigative position in 
1996, and was assigned to several major cases in recent 
years. Investigators with the district attorney's office carry 
a gun and a badge, and perform investigations on behalf of 
prose cu to rs. 

"I had no idea about his background. I didn't know about 
his prior conviction," Roger said. "All I knew was that he 
was a hardworking investigator and apparently a good 
employee." 

Baldonado's defense attorney, Bill Terry, declined 
comment on this story. 

The FBI 1 Henderson police and the Nevada attorney 
general's office charged Baldonado this year with sexual 
assault and asking for or receiving a bribe by a public 
officer or employee. He immediately resigned from his 
position as an investigator. 

The charges were filed after another woman, a confidential 
informant for the FBI, told authorities Baldonado promised 
to quash traffic warrants for her if she had sex with him. 
The FBI and Henderson police caught Baldonado discussing 
such an arrangement during a tape-recorded sting. 

On April 1 in Henderson Justice Court, prosecutors from 
the attorney general's office announced Baldonado had 
accepted a plea agreement. Baldonado agreed to waive his 
right to a preliminary hearing and indicated he will p!ead 
riuilh1 heforc Distr1"ct ludno ncnald M,-,510'1 on (\p,-;! ,, tr-. 
~ 11,._f U' I ._ I I ',,. ....1 ':::f'- 1.-' ~L I I IV 1'--f I r7. a; I ~~ LU 

one count of coercion and one count of misconduct by a 
public employee. 

Baldonado faces a potential sentence ranging from 
probation to 10 years in prison if Mosley accepts the 
negotiation. Part of the negotiation dictates that he will not 
be prosecuted for any other crimes that investigators are 
currently aware of. 

According to federal documents obtained by the Review­
Journal, multiple witnesses have told authorities that 
Baldonado has been quashing warrants in exchange for sex 
for years. 

Desiree Gillard told the FBI she first met Baldonado in the 
early 1990s when he was serving a subpoena to one of her 
friends. According to an FBI report, Gillard said she was 
working at an escort service at the time. She told agents 
she "had been receiving help with warrants from 
Baldonado in exchange for sex since 1994," the FBI report 
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said. 

\1\/hen contacted, Gillard said much of what she told the FBI 
is not true. She said she told the FBI "what they wanted to 
hear" because they intimidated her. 

"I spoke to them because of other problems," Gillard said. 
"They called my cousin, making her believe if I didn't meet 
with them, a warrant would be issued for my arrest." 

Gillard denied ever having sex with Baldonado. She said 
Baldonado did, however, help her with several outstanding 
traffic warrants. 

Gillard also doubts Baldonado is capable of sexual assault. 

"I would bet my life that is a complete lie," she said. "Peter 
is not that type of person. He's passive and quiet." 

.A.ccording to the FBI reports, Gillard told the FBI that 
Baldonado would help her and others fix warrants if they 
found someone who was willing to have sex with him. 

The report states that Gillard told agents Baldonado helped 
one woman's boyfriend with "tons of stuff" when the man's 
girlfrlend "paid a gir! $50 to have sex with Baldonado." 

Gillard told the FBI that she lost contact with Baldonado for 
a couple of years, but then one day he suddenly 
reappeared in her life. 

"'v'✓ hen she asked him how he had located her, Baldonado 
replied, 'I'm an investigator, I saw that you applied for 
food stamps,' " the report states. 

According to the FBI, Gillard told agents she was arrested 
on traffic warrants in May or June 2003. She called 
Baldonado, and he said he would get her out of jail. 

But Gillard said she didn't immediately get out of jail. She 
told the FBI she called Baldonado from jail the next day to 
ask why she hadn't been released. 

"Baldonado became very angry and said, 'Everything 
should have been taken care of already .... I spoke to the 
judge the other day.' 11 

Gillard told the FBI that Baldonado called a judge's 
chambers and then called the jail back with the unnamed 
judge on the other line. 

"Gillard advised that, 1Nithin minutes of the phone call, her 
name was called over the intercom system to be released," 
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the FBI report states. 

The report goes on to say that Gillard told the FBI that 
Baldonado "had taken care of a 'material witness warrant 
for $10,000.'" 

In addition, Gillard told the FBI Baldonado had helped out 
another woman who "was involved in a robbery at an 
Aibertson 's store." 

In addition, the FBI reports state Gillard knows two 
individuals who once tried to blackmail Baldonado by 
recording him as he talked about trying to exchange 
warrants for sex. 

The blackmail plot eventually fe!I through. 

The FBI asked Gillard if she knew anything about 
Baldonado being involved in fraudulent identifications, 
check-cashing schemes or insurance fraud. 

"Gillard stated that she had never known Baldonado to be 
involved in anything like that, and that it 'would 

-completely go against his character/ " the report said. 

In a statement to the FBI, Crystal Brooks said she knew of 
a man who had a robbery case pending, and that the 
individual was denied a release from jail on his own 
recognizance during a court appearance. 

"Brooks said that Baldonado called a North Las Vegas 
judge and got (the man) released from ja!!," an FBI report 
states. 

Another person who gave a statement to the FBI, Tony 
Dodson, told the FBI that he knew several women who 
dealt with Baldonado. He said none of them "liked 
Baldonado but that they all used him to get things done." 

Review-Journal writer Carri Geer Thevenot contributed to 
this report. 
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1 William C. Jeanney, Esq. 
Nevada State Bar No. 01235 

2 BRADLEY, DRENDEL & JEANNEY 
401 Flint St. 

3 Reno, Nevada 89501 
Telephone No. (775) 335-9999 

4 Facsimile No. (775) 335-9993 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEV ADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK 

LOVE HOLLOWAY, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 
10 

PETER BALDONADO, individually and in 
11 his official capacity as former investigator 

for the Office of the Clark County District 
12 Attorney; STEW ART BELL, individually 

and in his official capacity as former Clark 
13 County District Attorney; DAVID ROGER, 

individually and in his official capacity as 
14 Clark County District Attorney; BILL 

YOUNG, individually and in his official 
15 capacity as Sheriff of the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department; CLARK 
16 COUNTY, a political subdivision of the 

State of Nevada, on relation of its Office of · 
17 the Clark County District Attorney, and on 

relation of its Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 
18 Department; CITY OF NORTH LAS 

VEGAS, a municipal corporation existing 
19 under the laws of the State of Nevada in the 

County of Clark ex rel. its North Las Vegas 
20 Police Department; DOES I through X; 

inclusive; and ROES I through X inclusive, 

Defendants. _______________ _,/ 

Case No. 05-A-498609-C 

Dept. No. 16 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

AFFIDAVIT OF WILLIAM C. JEANNEY, ESQ. 

LAW OFFICE OF 
BRADLEY, DRENDEL 

&JEANNEY 
401 FLINT STREET 

RENO, NV 89501 
(775) 335-9999 

I, William C. Jeanney, being first duly sworn, under penalty of perjury, depose and say: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

I am the attorney of record for plaintiff LOVE HOLLOWAY; 

That, based upon information and belief, that there are three witnesses to the facts 

a1leged in plaintiffs Complaint as against these defendants; 

That based upon infonnation and belief believes that these three witnesses reside in 

-1-
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16 
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22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

LAW OFFICE OF 
BRADLEY, DRENDEL 

&JEANNEY 
401 FUNT STREET 

RENO, NV 89501 
(775) 335-9999 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

11. 

Las Vegas, Nevada; 

That these three witnesses are known as Crystal Chipman, Crystal Brooks and 

Desiree Gillard; 

That based upon information and believe, these three witnesses will testify that they 

personally met with defendant then District Attorney BELL in 2001 and informed 

him in regards to inappropriate sexual behavior by defendant BALDON AD while an 

employee of the District Attorney's Office; 

That based upon information and belief, that defendant BELL informed these 

witnesses that he would have this information investigated by the North Las Vegas 

Police Department; 

That based upon information and belief these witnesses will testify that they were 

then interviewed by detectives from the North Las Vegas Police Department; 

That based upon information and belief, defendant BELL then told them that North 

Las Vegas Police Department had investigated and could not substantiate the 

allegations; 

That counsel for the plaintiff has retained the services of a private investigator in Las 

Vegas, Nevada who is attempting to locate these individuals, but as of this date has 

been unable to do so. 

That the investigator hired by plaintiffs counsel has stated his optimism in locating 

these witnesses. 

That discovery is ongoing, no depositions have been taken and are now being 

scheduled, and the locating and deposing/interviewing these witnesses will all greatly 

impact the factual tenor of this case. 

Dated this 3/ day of July 2007. 

BRADLE(f DRENDEL & JEANNEY 

I / . 
i 
\ 

Willi 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

**** 

 

Donte Johnson, Plaintiff(s) 

vs. 

William Gittere, Defendant(s) 

Case No.: A-19-789336-W 

  

Department 6 
 

 

 

NOTICE OF HEARING 

 

 

      Please be advised that the Motion and Notice of Motion for Leave to Conduct 

Discovery in the above-entitled matter is set for hearing as follows:  

Date:  January 16, 2020 

Time:  Chambers 

Location: RJC Courtroom 10C 

   Regional Justice Center 

   200 Lewis Ave. 

   Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 

NOTE: Under NEFCR 9(d), if a party is not receiving electronic service through the 

Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System, the movant requesting a 

hearing must serve this notice on the party by traditional means. 

 

 STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court 

 

 

By: 

 

 

/s/ Kadira Beckom 

 Deputy Clerk of the Court 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that pursuant to Rule 9(b) of the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion 

Rules a copy of this Notice of Hearing was electronically served to all registered users on 

this case in the Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System. 

 

 

By: /s/ Kadira Beckom 

 Deputy Clerk of the Court 
 

 

Case Number: A-19-789336-W

Electronically Filed
12/13/2019 1:33 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MOT 
RENE L. VALLADARES 
Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 11479 
RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 12577 
ELLESSE HENDERSON 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 14674C 
411 E. Bonneville, Ste. 250 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(702) 388-6577 
(702) 388-5819 (Fax) 
 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
DONTE JOHNSON, 
 
  Petitioner, 
 
 v. 
 
WILLIAM GITTERE, Warden, Ely State 
Prison; AARON FORD, Attorney General, 
State Of Nevada, 
 
  Respondents. 
 

 Case No. A-19-789336-W 
Dept. No. 6 
 

 
MOTION AND NOTICE OF MOTION 
FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING 
(HEARING REQUESTED) 

 
(DEATH PENALTY CASE) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Number: A-19-789336-W

Electronically Filed
12/13/2019 11:20 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE OF MOTION  
 

TO: CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the MOTION FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

filed in this Court on December 13, 2019, will come on for hearing before this Court 

in Department No. 6 on ___________________________ at the hour of ______________  

located at the Regional Justice Center, 200 Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 

89101. 

     DATED this 13th day of December, 2019. 

 Respectfully submitted 
 RENE L. VALLADARES 
 Federal Public Defender 
 
 
  /s/ Randolph M. Fiedler  
  RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
  Assistant Federal Public Defender 
   
  /s/ Ellesse Henderson  
  ELLESSE HENDERSON 
  Assistant Federal Public Defender 
 
  Attorneys for Petitioner 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES       

I. INTRODUCTION 

Johnson in his second post-conviction petition pled several claims for relief, 

supported by specific factual allegations not belied by the record. In addition, in the 

concurrently filed Reply to the State’s Response, Johnson argued that he can 

overcome procedural default of these claims. Johnson requests an evidentiary 

hearing to develop the factual record for the merits of his claim and for cause and 

prejudice, and to show that denying him relief will result in a fundamental 

miscarriage of justice.  

II. ARGUMENT 

A petitioner is entitled to a post-conviction evidentiary hearing when he 

asserts claims supported by specific factual allegations not belied by the record that, 

if true, would entitle him to relief. Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 

1231 (2002); Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 226 (1984). This is 

the appropriate standard to be applied when evaluating a request for an evidentiary 

hearing to establish good cause to overcome procedural defaults. Berry v. State, 131 

Nev. Adv. Op. 96, 363 P.3d 1148, 1155 (2015). A claim is not “belied by the record” 

just because a factual dispute is created by the pleadings or affidavits filed during 

the post-conviction proceedings. A claim is “belied” when it is contradicted or proven 

to be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made.  

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “[w]here . . . something more than a 

naked allegation has been asserted, it is error to resolve the apparent factual 

dispute without granting the accused an evidentiary hearing.” Vaillancourt v. 
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Warden, 90 Nev. 431, 432, 529 P.2d 204, 205 (1974). The Court “has consistently 

recognized a habeas petitioner’s statutory right to have factual disputes resolved by 

way of an evidentiary hearing.” Mann, 118 Nev. at 356, 46 P.3d at 1231. An 

evidentiary hearing is appropriate to resolve substantive claims, to demonstrate 

good cause to overcome a procedural bar, and to show a fundamental miscarriage of 

justice to overcome a procedural bar. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 883-87, 34 

P.3d 519, 535-37 (2001). Johnson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing for all of 

these reasons. 

A. Johnson has met the standard for this Court to order an 
evidentiary hearing so he can establish cause and prejudice 

 A showing of good cause and prejudice overcomes the procedural bars in NRS 

34.716, NRS 34.810, and NRS 34.800, and NRS 34.800. See State v. Powell, 122 

Nev. 751, 756–59, 138 P.3d 453, 456–58 (2006); Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 620–

21, 81 P.3d 521, 525–26 (2003). To show good cause, Johnson must show that any 

delay in raising claims was not his fault, i.e., that an “impediment external to the 

defense” prevented him from raising his claims sooner. Powell, 122 Nev. at 756–59, 

138 P.3d at 456–58; see Clem, 119 Nev. at 620–21, 81 P.3d at 525–26. And Johnson 

must additionally show that dismissal of the petition would be unduly prejudicial. 

See Powell, 122 Nev. at 756–59, 138 P.3d at 456–58; Clem, 119 Nev. at 620–21, 81 

P.3d at 525–26. Johnson has raised specific factual allegations not belied by the 

record that, if true, would establish cause and prejudice to overcome procedural 

bars. Johnson is consequently entitled to an evidentiary hearing.  
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1. Johnson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to prove his 
claims that initial post-conviction counsel were ineffective 

Johnson, as a capital petitioner, had the right to effective assistance of 

counsel during his prior state post-conviction proceeding. See Crump v. Warden, 

113 Nev. 293, 934 P.2d 247, 302–05, 252–54 (1997); see also Rippo v. State, 134 

Nev. 411, 418, 423–27, 423 P.3d 1084, 1094, 1097–1100, amended on denial of reh'g, 

432 P.3d 167 (2018). As a result, prior counsel’s ineffectiveness, if proven, would 

constitute good cause to overcome procedural bars. See Rippo, 134 Nev. at 418, 423–

27, 423 P.3d at 1094, 1097–1100; Crump, 113 Nev. at 293, 93 P.2d at 302–05, 252–

54. Johnson has alleged ineffective assistance of initial post-conviction counsel, and 

he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to prove this allegation.   

Johnson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to establish the deficiency of 

initial post-conviction counsel’s performance. Contrary to well-established 

professional norms, Johnson’s counsel treated his petition as nothing more than 

another review of the record created at trial. Counsel did only minimal extra-record 

investigation in support of Johnson’s petition and failed to consult with any 

experts—at the same time criticizing prior counsel for identical failures.1 Instead, 

counsel raised primarily record-based claims, which, without support from outside 

investigation and experts, he pled in a deficient, conclusory manner. See Hargrove 

v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502–03, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984) (explaining that claims for 

relief are insufficient if they are “‘bare’ or ‘naked’” and “unsupported by specific 

                                                 
1 See generally Ex. 28; Ex. 29. 
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factual allegations”).2 This approach is antithetical to counsel’s duties in a capital 

post-conviction proceeding, which require counsel to investigate constitutional 

violations that the cold record does not reveal. See Martinez, 566 U.S. at 13 

(“Ineffective-assistance claims often depend on evidence outside the trial record.”); 

United States v. Benford, 574 F.3d 1228, 1231 (9th Cir. 2009) (“[I]neffectiveness of 

counsel claims usually cannot be advanced without the development of facts outside 

the original record.” (quoting United States v. Jeronimo, 398 F.3d 1149, 1156 (9th 

Cir. 2005)); Hoffman v. Arave, 236 F.3d 523 (9th Cir. 2001) (“[A] claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel requires that new counsel have the opportunity to conduct an 

investigation beyond the court records to uncover possible omissions made by trial 

counsel in the investigation and presentation of the case.” ). Indeed, “winning 

collateral relief in capital cases will require changing the picture that has 

previously been presented. The old facts and legal arguments are unlikely to 

motivate a collateral court.” Nash v. Ryan, 581 F.3d 1048, 1054 n.9 (9th Cir. 2009) 

(quoting ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Defense Counsel 

in Death Penalty Cases § 10.1.1, cmt (2003)), abrogated on other grounds by Ryan v. 

Gonzales, 568 U.S. 57 (2013).  

Johnson is also entitled to an evidentiary hearing to establish prejudice from 

post-conviction counsel’s deficient performance, which “is intricately related to the 

merits of his claims.” Bennett v. State, 111 Nev. 1099, 1103, 901 P.2d 676, 679 

(1995); see Rippo, 134 Nev. at 422, 423 P.3d at 1097. In order to establish prejudice, 

                                                 
2 See generally Ex. 28; Ex. 29. 
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Johnson needs to present evidence that post-conviction counsel failed to raise 

meritorious claims. For example, to establish that post-conviction counsel were 

ineffective for failing to challenge statements from witnesses and codefendants, 

Johnson will need to present testimony from an expert in police coercion.3 And, in 

order to establish that post-conviction counsel were ineffective for failing to 

investigate mitigating evidence, Johnson will need to present testimony from people 

familiar with Johnson’s life history. Johnson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to 

prove the merit of this claim, along with the other fact-based claims in his petition.   

2. Johnson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to demonstrate 
good cause based on the State’s failure to disclose material 
exculpatory and impeachment evidence 

The State’s violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) establishes 

good cause and prejudice to overcome a procedural default. See, e.g., Rippo v. State, 

134 Nev. 411, 431, 423 P.3d 1084, 1103 (2018).  Here, the State suppressed evidence 

of Baldonado’s misconduct. That evidence is favorable both because it could serve as 

impeachment of Charla Severs’s testimony and because it would undermine the 

integrity of the State’s investigation. See United States v. Mincoff, 574 F.3d 1186, 

1199 (9th Cir. 2009) (“Giglio [v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (9 th Cir. 2008)] 

requires that the government disclose “any promises, inducements, or threats made 

to witnesses to gain cooperation in the investigation or prosecution.”). In addition, 

suppression of the evidence was prejudicial because Severs offered critical 

testimony—that Johnson confessed to being the triggerman for all four killings. 

                                                 
3 See Pet. at 62–66. 
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These specific allegations are not belied by the record and, if true, would establish 

good cause and prejudice to overcome any procedural default. Thus, Johnson is 

entitled to an evidentiary hearing to show that the State’s violation of Brady v. 

Maryland establishes good cause and prejudice to overcome procedural default. 

Additionally, the fact that Armstrong was not prosecuted for these homicides, 

despite evidence inculpating him, raises an inference he received undisclosed 

benefits. Additionally, Armstrong received assistance clearing a warrant. Benefits 

received by Armstrong would be favorable or impeaching evidence. See Jimenez v. 

State, 112 Nev. 610, 621, 918 P.2d 687, 693 (1996). Because the State has not 

disclosed any benefits, the State has suppressed this evidence. And this evidence is 

material because Armstrong testified against Johnson. These specific allegations 

are not belied by the record and, if true, would establish good cause and prejudice to 

overcome any procedural default, thus Johnson requests an evidentiary hearing. 

B. Johnson has met the standard for this Court to order an 
evidentiary hearing so he can establish a fundamental 
miscarriage of justice 

Procedural default is excused if procedurally barring a claim “amounts to a 

fundamental miscarriage of justice.” Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 887, 34 P.3d 

519, 537 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitted). “[T]his standard can be met 

where the petitioner makes a colorable showing he is . . . ineligible for the death 

penalty.” Id. And the petitioner shows he is ineligible for the death penalty by 

establishing “by clear and convincing evidence that, but for a constitutional error, 

no reasonable juror would have found him death eligible.” Id. Johnson is entitled to 

an evidentiary hearing to make this showing.  
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 Specifically, Johnson has alleged that he is ineligible for the death penalty 

because of a lack of evidence that he was the triggerman personally responsible for 

the four deaths,4 because no valid aggravating factor exists,5 because compelling 

mitigating evidence outweighs any aggravating evidence,6 and because his young 

age and borderline intellectual functioning render him eligible for capital 

punishment.7 Johnson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to prove these 

arguments by, for example, introducing expert testimony that he was not the 

triggerman and presenting evidence in mitigation that trial counsel failed to 

uncover.    

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
4 See Pet. at 280–90.  
5 See id. at 88–104.  
6 See id. at 175–223, 335–37.  
7 See id. at 347–53.  
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III. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Johnson requests that this Court grant him an 

evidentiary hearing to show cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural default 

bars raised by the State and to establish the merits of his claims. 

 DATED this 13th day of December, 2019. 

 Respectfully submitted 
 RENE L. VALLADARES 
 Federal Public Defender 
 
 
 /s/ Randolph M. Fiedler  
 RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
 Assistant Federal Public Defender 
   
 /s/ Ellesse Henderson  
 ELLESSE HENDERSON 
 Assistant Federal Public Defender 
 
 Attorneys for Petitioner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

In accordance with EDCR 7.26(a)(4) and 7.26(b)(5), the undersigned hereby 

certifies that on December 13, 2019 a true and accurate copy of the foregoing 

MOTION AND NOTICE OF MOTION FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING (HEARING 

REQUESTED) was filed electronically with the Eighth Judicial District Court and 

served by Odyssey EFileNV, addressed as follows: 

Steven S. Owens 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
Eileen.davis@clarkcountyda.com 

    
   

/s/ Celina Moore  
An Employee of the  
Federal Public Defenders Office 
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Johnson, through counsel, files this supplemental exhibit, which supports 

Claims Three(A)(1) and Thirty-Three(A).  

 
 DATED this 11th day of February, 2020. 

 Respectfully submitted 
 RENE L. VALLADARES 
 Federal Public Defender 
 
 /s/ Randolph M. Fiedler   
 RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
 Assistant Federal Public Defender 
 
 /s/ Ellesse Henderson   
 ELLESSE HENDERSON 
 Assistant Federal Public Defender 
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 In accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure, the undersigned hereby 

certifies that on this 11th day of February, 2020, a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing NOTICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBIT, was filed electronically with the 

Eighth Judicial District Court. Electronic service of the foregoing document shall be 

made in accordance with the master service list as follows:  

 Steven B. Wolfson 
 Clark County District Attorney 
 motions@clarkcountyda.com 
 Eileen.davis@clarkcountyda.com 
 
 
 /s/ Celina Moore  
 An Employee of the  
 Federal Public Defenders Office 
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FEB-10-2020 15:22 From:Kristina Wi ldeceld 7022220001 To:7023886261 

Declaration ofDayvid J. Figler 

I, Dayvid J. Figler, hereby declare as follows: 

1. My name is Dayv:id J. Figler. I have been a lawyer admitted to the Nevada 

bar since September 1991. I represented Donte Johnson during his 2000 

trial, for the guilt phase, the two penalty phases the followed, and, in part, 

his direct appeal. I did not represent Mr. Johnson during the third penalty 

phase. 

2. I began the criminal aspect of my legal career working for Dominic Gentile 

beginning in or around 1995. When the Clark County Special Puhlic 

Defender opened in 1997, led by now retired Justice Michael Cherry, I 

began working there. It was during my work for the Special Public 

Defender that I came to be assigned to Mr. Johnson's case. Now-Judge 

Joseph S. Sciscento was lead counsel. 

3. I recall that Judge Jeffrey D. Sobel presided over this case. We were 

initially pleased to have Judge Sobel assigned to this case because of our 

perception that he tended to be better for the defense. However, 

throughout the course of the trial, Judge Sobel was acting in unusual 

ways, both during bench conferences and in calls to my home land line. 

4. Specifically, Judge Sobel would call me in an apparent attempt at a prank 

call. He would say things like, "your client is going to die," then hang up. I 

remember that these phone calls would occur late at night, and that they 

took place while the trial was happening. 
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FEB-10-2020 15:22 From:Kristina Wi ldeceld 7022220001 To:7023886261 

5. Later, I learned that Judge Sobel was suffering from stomach cancer. I 

could not help wondering if his bizarre behavior was related to the 

medication he was taking to alleviate his condition. 

6. Current counsel for Mr. Johnson has provided me with a Report by 

Deborah Davis about coerced witness statements. I have reviewed this 

Report. We did not pursue the possibility of witness coercion in our 

investigation or presentation of Mr. Johnson's defense during the trial. We 

did not have a tactical reason for not pursuing this line of defense. 

Reviewing this report, I believe presenting evidence of witness coercion 

would have been helpful to our defense theory. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct and that 

this declaration was executed on February JO!J.., 2020, in Las Vegas, Nevada. 

2 
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Defendant, Federal Public Defender's Randy Fiedler and Elise Henderson. Mr. Fiedler advised 
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Corpus by Ms. Henderson in regards to the procedural bars, ineffectiveness of counsel and 
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Thursday, February 13, 2020, Las Vegas, Nevada 

 

[Proceedings began at 9:16 a.m.] 

 THE COURT:  State of Nevada versus Donte Johnson, A789336.  

 All right if the parties could state their appearances for the record, 

please? 

 MR. FIEDLER:  Randy Fiedler with the Federal Public Defender, and -

- 

 MS. HENDERSON:  And Ellesse Henderson with the Federal Public 

Defender. 

 THE COURT:  Thank you. 

 MR. CHEN:  Alex Chen on behalf of the State with Skylar Sullivan. 

 THE COURT:  All right. And Mr. Johnson -- I recognize that he’s not 

here, but that was agreed upon -- 

 MR. FIEDLER:  Correct. He would -- waive his presence Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Okay, great.  

 All right, so, this is the time and date set for argument on the petition. 

So I’ll let you start defense. I take notes during arguments, so don’t think I’m not 

paying attention. I’m just -- it’s easier for me if I have to go back and look at 

everything to look at my notes as well as the -- court record. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Okay.  

 THE COURT:  All right? 

 MS. HENDERSON:  All right. Good morning Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Good morning. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Unless you have any specific questions to start? 
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 THE COURT:  Well -- thank you. I think that probably where we should 

start, right; is the procedural bars because if you can’t get over the procedural 

bars then we’re really in a place where we don’t have -- we don’t go any further.  

 MS. HENDERSON:  Sure. 

 THE COURT:  So I think that that’s where, I mean, the State brought 

up procedural bars, they brought up laches, so let’s go there. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Okay. So we can overcome the procedural bars 

here for a few different reasons that are in our opposition to the motion to dismiss, 

but I’m gonna focus on -- in effective assistance of post-conviction counsel. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  So post-conviction counsel failed to do any extra 

record investigation and raise certain meritorious claims that we’ve now raised in 

his second counseled post-conviction petition. So post-conviction counsel’s 

deficient performance provides the cause, and the merits of the underlying claim 

provide prejudice to overcome all three procedural bars. And I wanna focus on a 

couple of the issues on the petition -- 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  -- today.  First is Mr. Johnson’s Batson claim. 

During the 2000 trial the State dropped the only potential black juror using a 

peremptory challenge. And the State, in an unrecorded bench conference, gave 

some reasons for that strike. The trial judge, in that unrecorded bench conference, 

said that the reasons were not pretextual. Everyone moved on. And then the next 

day the reasons were put on the record. The reasons that the State gave apply to 

a large number of the other jurors -- the other potential jurors who are not struck 

by the State, many of whom actually served on the jury. For example, the State 
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gave as a reason for striking the black potential juror that she said she would be 

able to consider life with the possibility of parole for somebody who had been 

convicted of four murders. But that was asked of almost every potential juror. It 

was a requirement for serving on the jury that they could consider all four potential 

punishments, which included life with the possibility of parole. And when the 

defense tried to strike jurors for cause, because they were hesitant about the life 

with the possibility of parole option, the trial judge asked everybody in the room, all 

the potential jurors, whether they could consider all four options. And no jurors 

said that they could not consider life with the possibility of parole as an option for 

Mr. Johnson as he was convicted. So that was given just as a reason to strike Ms. 

Fuller the black potential juror. 

 The State also gave as a reason that her step-son was in jail, but the 

State didn’t actually ask her any questions about that and she didn’t know any 

details about her step-son’s arrest that would’ve made it seem like she was -- 

personally involved in that arrest and that it would’ve affect her ability to serve as a 

fair juror. There were other potential jurors who also had close family members in 

jail. Mr. Lockinger who actually served on the jury, his brother was in prison for a 

bank robbery. And then there are a couple of other examples of potential jurors 

not being struck even though they have family members in prison. 

 She -- the State also gave as a reason Ms. Fuller’s demeanor. But the 

trial court did not put on the record that -- it agreed with the State’s assessment of 

her demeanor. And the Nevada Supreme Court said in Williams recently that it’s 

not enough for the State just to point to demeanor, they could point to demeanor 

for anybody. The trial judge has to sanction that reason by putting on the record 

the ways in which her demeanor justified the preemptory strike.  
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 There were three other reasons given that -- that were insufficient for 

the same reasons. She didn’t answer a question on the questionnaire about the 

death penalty but a lot of other jurors skipped questions on the questionnaire and 

the State was able to get the answer to that question during jury selection. She 

said it would be difficult to pass judgment -- she agreed with the prosecutor that it 

would be difficult to pass judgment on somebody in this case, but that question 

was asked of almost everybody and many people said that it would be difficult to 

pass judgment in a capital case. And the State said that she had no comment 

when asked about her thoughts on holding people responsible for their crimes, but 

that’s just a misstatement of what happened. She was asked a question about 

holding people responsible. She said she didn’t really have any thoughts about it, 

but then she -- she was asked more specific questions she was able to answer 

that people should be held responsible for their crimes.  

 The defense attorneys at trial did raise a Batson objection. It was 

denied. Mr. Johnson’s appellate attorneys did not raise the issue on direct appeal. 

It was raised in post-conviction as a claim of ineffective assistants of appellate 

counsel. And the Nevada Supreme Court decided the case by saying that trial 

counsel should’ve put the pretextual arguments on the record and because they 

didn’t the appellate counsel -- wouldn’t have exceeded on direct appeal, even had 

they raised the argument. So now we’re raising this argument as one of ineffective 

assistance of trial counsel. 

 So the State in its motion to dismiss said that law of the case 

controlled this, but it doesn’t. The Nevada Supreme Court has never -- decided 

this in the context of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. And they in fact said 

that trial counsel made a mistake by not putting the reasons on the record -- not 
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putting the pretextual arguments on the record.  

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  The second area I wanted to talk about is juror 

bias during the guilt phase. There was a juror, juror Bruce, who in between the 

guilt phase and the penalty phase went to the Court and said that during the guilt 

phase she had a freighting encounter with a black man in an elevator of the 

courthouse. She said the black man has a duffle bag, and she was afraid to get in 

the elevator until another juror came and joined her. She was then suspicion of 

this other juror who remained in the elevator with this black man with the duffle 

bag even though juror Bruce believed that they should’ve both gotten off on the 

same floor. So she admitted to the trial court that she was actually bias in this 

case because of race. This is a case with a black man accused of killing three 

young white men and a Latino man. And she’s admitting that while the guilt phase 

is going on she has become so afraid of black men that she cannot get in the 

elevator with this man with the duffle bag. 

 And to show actual bias the Nevada Supreme Court has said that -- 

the test is whether the jurors views either prevent or substantially impair the jurors 

ability to follow the district court’s -- or the trial court’s instructions and apply the 

law and come to a just verdict. And her admission of her bias against black men 

because of the trial satisfies this test. And juror bias is a structural error so there’s 

no harmless analysis, and that’s why law of the case doesn’t apply to this claim. 

There was a claim of juror bias raised on direct appeal involving juror Bruce. It 

was a little bit different. It was juror Bruce’s exposure to external sources, media 

sources, while she was deliberating. And that is analyzed with a Hardest 

[phonetic] Error Test, which the Nevada Supreme Court did and said her exposure 
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to these external sources was harmless. But that ruling doesn’t apply to this claim 

about juror Bruce and that elevator.  

 And then the last area is Mr. Johnson’s defense counsel who did not 

adequately challenge the State’s -- charges and theory of the case. So the State 

charged a lot of different theories of first degree murder, conspiracy, felony 

murder, premediated, and deliberate murder, aiding and abating. The jurors were 

told that they didn’t need to be unanimous with respect to those theories, but trial 

counsel did not ensure that the jurors received the correct jury instructions for 

several of those theories because the jurors were told they didn’t no need to be 

unanimous and, because there was no special verdict, we can’t be sure whether 

they -- found Mr. Johnson guilty of first degree murder under a valid theory or an 

invalid theory. Several of the instructions were missing essential elements of the 

charges, like specific intent for aiding and abating.  

 The defense attorneys also failed to consult with experts in areas like 

coerced statements by witnesses. We have a lot of witnesses who told police one 

thing when they were first interviewed and then over the following two years 

substantially changed their stories once they were -- pressured by police. Some 

even threated with being charged themselves and may be receiving the death 

penalty. Mr. Johnson’s co-defendants both confessed in interviews with police 

where an expert could have explained to the jury that the methods of the police 

used in those interviews often lead to false confessions and false statements 

implicating other people, in this case, Mr. Johnson. 

 And there is also evidence about blood spatter. The defense attorneys 

did consult an expert in blood spatter but they didn’t use the information that they 

got from that expert, perhaps because they heard back from the expert in the 
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middle of trial. The State’s implication throughout this, and made more explicit in 

one of the co-defendant’s trial, was that some blood on the back of Mr. Johnson’s 

pants was there because he was the trigger man. An expert could have explained 

that the blood on the back of the pants did not get there from spatter from a 

gunshot it was transfer blood. And also the lack of the blood on the front pants 

supports the arguments that Mr. Johnson was not actually the trigger man. 

 THE COURT:  Does it? I don’t mean to be -- isn’t that though kind of 

common sense, right? Like if you shot somebody you’re not getting the blood on 

the back of your pants. I don’t know if we need an expert to explain that, unless 

you’re shooting someone backwards. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  I don’t know if that was made clear to the jurors, 

because the State’s theory was that the gun was held very close to the victim’s 

heads. And I think it makes -- more sense that the blood would get on the front of 

the pants in that scenario.  

 THE COURT:  Right. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  But I don’t think it’s impossible for the blood to get 

on the back of pants, especially when the State is telling the jurors through the 

people that they are putting on the State’s experts that the blood is spatter from 

the gunshot. 

 So with these claims we’re asking for an evidentiary hearing to put on 

testimony from post-conviction counsel and trial counsel, along with testimony 

from our experts for -- the claim about coerced statements and the claim about the 

blood splatter. Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  You’re welcome. 

 Mr. Chen. 
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 MR. CHEN:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

 Generally what I would say to address what the Court kind of started 

with is I haven’t heard anything to overcome the procedural bars in this particular 

case. I think defense puts forth a great argument in terms of if they had been first 

counsel to file a petition, they raise claims that would be heard in a first petition, 

but we’re on our third petition here, and the one that I think counsel fails to 

mention is that’s there’s nothing external to their claims right now that couldn’t 

have been raised in the first or second petition. They had Mr. Oram who 

thoroughly examined the record, who thoroughly filed a first petition in this case. 

There was an extensive evidentiary hearing base upon Mr. Oram representing him 

in that case and I think that that’s sufficient. The things they are claiming are all 

things that have been either ferreted out on direct appeal or in a post-conviction 

petition. And so I do think that pursuant to State vs. Eighth Judicial District Riker, 

the Court believes in finality of these post-convictions petition. They can’t live on 

forever. And that’s the reason that we have these procedural bars. So I still think 

that there’s nothing that they’ve listed that has overcome those procedural bars. I 

haven’t heard a single thing that they’ve learned that wasn’t known at the time that 

these other petitions or appeals were raised.  

 I just wanna say a little bit, I know she focused a lot on the fact that 

there were these juror issues. I would point out that even with regards to the 

Batson challenge and to that whole issue, which I still think was ferreted out from 

the other courts, all the record is still -- everything that had to do with a juror, the 

reasons that they were dismissed, the reasons that the preemptory were used, 

they were all put on the record. So even if the Court were to look at the record 

today and look back and to see why this juror was released, even if it almost 
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sounds like defense wants magical words to be placed in the record as to how 

they overcome the bars, but if you look at what was said, all the race natural 

reasons were put on the record. Everything that if this trial would have happened 

today is still in the record and was argued and I think that we overcome it that 

there’s no reason to have an evidentiary hearing on that because at the end of the 

day nothing would be gained from it. The record is clear. Everyone can look at the 

reasons that those jurors were kicked, or that that particular juror was released. 

And then I don’t think that there’s any reason to have an evidentiary hearing to 

expand the record with regards to that. 

 And the other thing that they also mention was juror bias of one juror. 

And she didn’t say that she in general had a fear of black men, or black 

individuals, because of what happened, she was talking about a very specific 

incident of walking to the parking garage. She felt that there was a strange 

situation and she brought that to the attention of the court. But there was nothing 

in her statement, that I’ve reviewed, that said well I just in general can’t be fair to 

an entire race of people. She was talking about a very specific incident of walking 

by herself and then with another juror to the parking garage. It wasn’t something 

where she says she couldn’t be fair and impartial to an individual who was sitting 

in trial. So I think that there’s distinction to be made there as well.  

 But ultimately I just haven’t heard anything that overcomes these 

procedural bars. So I think that an evidentiary hearing isn’t necessary, because it 

wouldn’t -- it’s not necessary to expand the record. And I believe that these things 

have all been ferreted out in past petitions Your Honor.  

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 So -- that’s kind of where I am struggling here. I’m not really hearing 
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what is getting -- what -- there’s a lot of successive issues here, and I’m not, you 

know, I had a similar situation in Gurry about three or four months, I don’t know, 

maybe it was like 6 months, I don’t know, but in this last year right, where I found 

that the delay was not the fault of Mr. Gurry because I felt that his access to 

certain paperwork had not -- that he wasn’t -- he didn’t have access to it until a 

certain period of time. So I’m looking -- I’m not saying every case has to be like 

Gurry’s right, but I’m still looking for this good cause for the delay or how it’s not 

successive and I’m just not seeing that here. 

 And, you know, I appreciate the issues that you brought up and why 

you think those are issues, but before I even get to those issues I’m not seeing 

why there was good cause for the delay and how -- these aren’t successive. And 

then we have right, the over the five years so then it’s the presumption that -- let’s 

see, I wrote it my notes, it says [indiscernible] can only be overcome by showing 

that the petition is based upon grounds of which petitioner could not have had 

knowledge by the exercise of reasonable diligence before the circumstances. 

Prejudicial to the State occurred or by demonstration that a fundamental 

mischarge of justice has occurred. So I need you to address those two things in 

more detail so I can find an avenue or vehicle to get to the actual issues. 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Sure Your Honor. So the cause argument in 

Gurry and also the cause argument that Mr. Chen has referred to is separate from 

the cause argument that we’re -- relying on here. We’re not saying that there was 

evidence out there that Mr. Johnson didn’t have. We agree that this was in the 

record -- a lot of it was in the record, not that new experts stuff of course, but 

Crump says that if post-conviction counsel was ineffective for not taking those red 

flags in the record and not doing something with it, not raising the claims that they 
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should have, then that establishes good cause. It doesn’t matter that post-

conviction counsel should have known about this, and that actually supports the 

argument that post-conviction counsel was deficient that they just ignored these 

facts and the record and would have supported claims like -- ineffective assistance 

of counsel for not arguing on the record the Batson pretextual reasons, or for not 

raising this claims about juror bias that should’ve been clear from the trial 

transcript.  

 THE COURT:  So sorry, so let’s get more specific. So you’re saying 

that -- let me see, was it Oram? Is that what we’re talking about? 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Yes. 

 THE COURT:  Saying that Oram didn’t raise the ineffectiveness of Ms. 

Jackson in regards the Batson claim? 

 MS. HENDERSON:  It was not Ms. Jackson it was -- 

 THE COURT:  Oh it was -- 

 MS. HENDERSON:  -- Mr. Figler and Mr. Sciscento. 

 THE COURT:  Okay --  

 MS. HENDERSON:  Judge Sciscento. 

 THE COURT:  -- sorry. So that Mr. Oram didn’t raise the 

ineffectiveness in regards to the Batson claim, the juror misconduct? 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Right, yes. 

 THE COURT:  And the experts; all three of those? 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Right, yeah. So Mr. Oram didn’t see in the record 

the issue with the statements changing overtime, and didn’t base on that consult 

with expert in police coercion and the same with the blood spatter evidence.  

 THE COURT:  And that’s specifically was never -- has not been 
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brought up before? 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Right, yes.  

 THE COURT:  For those -- there have been other incidences that 

have been brought up of what -- how you believed or whoever believed him to be 

ineffective, but you’re saying these three, four, things have never been addressed 

--  

 MS. HENDERSON:  Right. 

 THE COURT:  -- is that what you’re saying? 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Right. And Mr. Oram didn’t bring it up. And this is 

our first -- Mr. Johnson’s first opportunity to allege cause under Crump to say that 

Mr. Oram was ineffective, because the petition that was filed when Mr. Oram’s 

petition was on appeal, what’s been referred to in the pleadings as Mr. Johnson’s 

second petition, that was a pro se petition he wasn’t given counsel for that, so this 

is his first opportunity with counsel to raise a claim under Crump. And he did do 

that in a timely manner under the rules that the Nevada Supreme Court explained 

in Rippo. 

 THE COURT:  Mr. Chen do you want to respond to that claim in 

regards to Crump and these four specific issues? 

 MR. CHEN:  What counsel had just said is that there are these things 

out there, I mean, in terms of ineffective assistance, in Strickland, you have to 

show prejudice. And what they’re saying is there is a lot of mays here that if they 

would’ve done certain things maybe somethings would’ve been different. But still I 

don’t hear any specifics in terms of how you overcome these procedural bars.  

 With regards to -- I mean, what I would say -- excuse me. 

 THE COURT:  It’s okay. 
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 MR. CHEN:  I think what I’m hearing about the differences that 

defense has not put in a petition versus the original claims by Mr. Oram is that 

these issues in general were raised, but they have kind of carved out small little 

niches within a subsection and then they’ve parsed it out to make it so that, oh 

well they didn’t raise this exact subsection of what the issues should’ve been and 

therefore Mr. Oram was ineffective for not having raised these things.  

 And I think overall again when considering Strickland standard and 

considering whether there’s prejudice, Mr. Oram did what he was hired to do in 

this case. He examined the record. He did a petition. He raised the relevant 

issues. Just because he didn’t raise all these small minor issues I don’t think you 

can overcome the bar to say that somehow this defendant was prejudice by it 

simple because Mr. Oram didn’t raise everything, which even with Eddis vs. State 

he’s not suppose to file anything frivolous but Mr. Oram looked at the large 

picture, he looked at specific things, he had a hearing on it, so I think that all of 

these issues have been raised. They’re successive. Even if counsel has found 

smaller subsects of the larger issue to argue it now. 

 So with that I still don’t see a way to get over these procedural bars, 

Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. I’ll give you the last word, if you have one?  

 MS. HENDERSON:  What Mr. Chen just said supports our argument 

for an evidentiary hearing so Mr. Oram can come here and testify about why he 

did and did not raise certain claims. It’s not enough to raise an ineffective 

assistance of counsel claim if you miss an instance of ineffective assistance of 

counsel that would have resulted in a new trial or in a new penalty hearing for Mr. 

Johnson. 

AA12262



 

-15- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 THE COURT:  Okay. All right so I would like the opportunity to explore 

the record a little bit more in regards to the issues that Mr. Oram raised and then 

the State’s argument, or point that look these were raised, but now you’re kind of 

carving out and getting like really nitty gritty or the little niches. So I’d like the 

opportunity to do that. So I will issue a written decision after my opportunity to do 

that. And then if I feel like an evidentiary hearing is necessary that will obviously 

be at the end of my order or in the minutes letting you guys know. Okay?   

 Is there anything anyone else would like to put on the record? 

 MR. CHEN:  No, thank you, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  All right, thank you. It was nice -- 

 MS. HENDERSON:  Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  -- to see you. 

[Proceedings concluded at 9:44 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 
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A-19-789336-W 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

Writ of Habeas Corpus COURT MINUTES 

A-19-789336-W 

May 15, 2020 

Donte Johnson, Plaintiff(s) 
vs. 
William Gittere, Defendant(s) 

3:00AM Minute Order 

May 15, 2020 

HEARD BY: Bluth, Jacqueline M. 

COURT CLERK: Keith Reed 

RECORDER: 

COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom l0C 

REPORTER: 

PARTIES 
PRESENT: 

JOURNAL ENTRIES 

- After review of the petition and the response, and hearing argument on February 13, 2020, 
Petitioner's Post-conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus is hereby DENIED. The Court finds the petition 
to be procedurally barred as both untimely pursuant to NRS 34.726 and successive pursuant to NRS 
34.810. 

NRS 34.726 requires [u]nless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the 
validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year after entry of the judgment of 
conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the appellate court 
issues its remittitur. Here, the remittitur on the appeal of the second penalty phase issued on 
January 28, 2008. The instant petition was filed in February 13, 2019, which is more than eleven years 
and therefore well beyond the one year time bar. The State, in its opposition, also plead laches under 
NRS 34.800(2) which states [a] period exceeding 5 years between the filing of a judgment of 
conviction, an order imposing a sentence of imprisonment or a decision on direct appeal of a 
judgment of conviction and the filing of a petition challenging the validity of a judgment of 
conviction creates a rebuttable presumption of prejudice to the State. The prejudice can only be 
overcome if the petitioner shows that the petition is based upon grounds of which the petitioner 
could not have had knowledge by the exercise of reasonable diligence, or the petitioner 
PRINT DATE: 05/18/2020 Page 1 of 3 Minutes Date: May 15, 2020 
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demonstrates that a fundamental miscarriage of justice has occurred. NRS 34.800(1). No such 
showing has been made. 

NRS 34.810 states a second or successive petition must be dismissed if the judge or justice determines 
that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior determination was on the 
merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge or justice finds that the failure of the 
petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ. The instant 
petition is the third petition in this matter. The first petition was filed on February 13, 2008. Counsel 
was appointed for Petitioner and extensive briefing commenced. An evidentiary hearing was 
conducted over three days in June 2013. The Court denied the petition and the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law was entered on March 17, 2014. Petitioner filed a second petition on October 2, 
2014 which was denied and a findings of fact and conclusions of law was filed on February 4, 2015. 
Subsequently, Petitioner initiated federal habeas proceedings on April 23, 2018 and while those were 
still pending, the federal public defender filed the instant petition on his behalf. The grounds in the 
instant third petition are not new and the prior determination was on the merits as shown through 
the evidentiary hearing and findings of fact/ conclusions of law resulting from his first petition. 
Therefore, the petition is successive. 

The procedural bars can be overcome if the petitioner can prove good cause and prejudice. Here, the 
petitioner has failed to do so. Additionally, if the Petitioner is entitled to counsel in his first petition, 
he may assert an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in a second petition. Crump v. Warden, 
Nevada State Prison, 113 Nev. 293,302,934 P.2d 247,253 (1997) (holding that ineffective assistance of 
post-conviction counsel could constitute the cause necessary to prevent procedural default). Here, 
Petitioner claims that post-conviction counsels deficient performance provides the cause and the 
merits of the underlying claim provide the prejudice required to overcome all three procedural bars. 
Petitioner claims that counsel's failure to do any extra investigation beyond the record and raise 
certain meritorious claims was ineffective and thus the bars do not apply. This court disagrees with 
Petitioners analysis to overcome the procedural bars as detailed below. 

First, upon review of the record, this Court finds that the Batson claims, juror conduct, and the jury 
instructions have been addressed in previous petitions where they were decided on the merits. 
While certain claims regarding expert testimony on why individuals may change their testimony, 
coerced statements and blood spatter may not have been raised previously, this Court does not find 
post-conviction counsels deficient for failing to raise them. In order to show ineffective assistance of 
counsel, the Petitioner must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of 
reasonableness and that prejudice resulted. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). 
Prejudice results when, but for counsel s error, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the 
proceedings would have been different. Id. Here, Petitioner has not shown that the failure to raise 
those additional claims would have changed the result of the proceedings. 

Second, the failure to conduct additional investigations in this case does not raise to the level of 

PRINT DATE: 05/18/2020 Page 2 of 3 Minutes Date: May 15, 2020 
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ineffective assistance of counsel. A defendant who contends that his attorney was ineffective 
because he did not adequately investigate must show how a better investigation would have 
rendered a more favorable outcome probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 87 P.3d 533 (2004). 
Strickland states that a fair assessment of an attorney's performance requires that every effort be 
made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight.... Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 
953 (1989) (internal citation omitted). Here, Petitioner does not assert with specificity what an 
additional investigation would have uncovered and how it would have changed the outcome. 

Based on the ruling above, Petitioner's Motion for Discovery and Motion for an Evidentiary Hearing 
are also hereby DENIED. 

Counsel for the Defense to promptly submit an order. 

CLERK'S NOTE: The above minute order has been distributed via e-mail to: Federal Public 
Defender Randolph M. Fiedler and Chief Deputy District Attorney Alexander G. Chen. kar 5/18/20 
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OBJ 
RENE L. VALLADARES 
Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 11479 
RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 12577  
randolph_fiedler@fd.org 
ELLESSE HENDERSON 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Nevada Bar No. 14674C 
ellesse_henderson@fd.org 
411 E. Bonneville, Ste. 250 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(702) 388-6577 
(702) 388-5819 (Fax) 
 
Attorneys for Petitioner  
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

 
DONTE JOHNSON, 
 
  Petitioner, 
 
 v. 
 
WILLIAM GITTERE, Warden of Ely State 
Prison, and AARON FORD, Attorney 
General of Nevada, 
 
  Respondents. 
 

 Case No. A-19-789336-W 
Dept. No. 6 
 
NOTICE OF OBJECTIONS TO 
PROPOSED ORDER 

 
(Death Penalty Habeas Corpus Case) 

 

 
  

Case Number: A-19-789336-W

Electronically Filed
2/2/2021 1:25 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 On January 26, 2021, the State provided to counsel for Mr. Johnson a 

Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order.1 Counsel noted two 

objections to the Proposed Order.2 The State indicated it would not modify the 

order, but agreed to include Petitioner’s objections. Counsel formally notes these 

objections for the Court. See Byford v. State, 123 Nev. 67, 69–70, 156 P.3d 691, 692 

(2007).  

• On a number of occasions, the Proposed Order refers to 

“mischaracterizations,” and in one particular place refers to “several other 

mischaracterizations of prior claims in this Third Petition.”3 This 

commentary, itself a mischaracterization, is neither necessary nor 

appropriate for an order of the Court. Counsel for Johnson requests that the 

language be removed. 

• The Proposed Order greatly expands the scope of the district court’s minute 

order.4 However, a proposed order must “accurately reflect[] the district 

court’s findings.”5 Indeed, this Court was required to provide “sufficient 

 
1 See Ex. 1. 
2 See Ex. 2. 
3 See, e.g., Ex. 1 at 55 (“disingenuous attempts to mischaracterize counsel’s 

words”); id. at 56 (“Johnson again mischaracterizes his penalty-phase counsel’s 
words . . . .”); id. at 65 (“However, as with several other mischaracterizations in his 
Third Petition . . . .”). 

4 Compare Ex. 1 (76 pages  long) with Minutes (May 15, 2020 (3 pages long); 
compare, e.g., Minutes (May 15, 2020) (denying all claims on basis of procedural 
default without ruling on individual claims’ merits) with Ex. 1 at 29–76 (discussing 
merits of individual claims). 

5 See Byford, 123 Nev. at 69, 156 P.3d at 692. 
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specificity to provide guidance to the prevailing party in drafting a proposed 

order.”6 Nothing in this Court’s minutes provided a basis for the expansion in 

the State’s Proposed Order. The Nevada Supreme Court has noted that it is 

inappropriate for a district court to adopt a proposed order that includes 

determinations for which the court did not make express findings.7 Counsel 

for Johnson requests that the proposed order be reduced to the ruling for 

which this Court provided specific guidance. 

Based on the foregoing, Johnson respectfully requests that this Court modify 

the State’s proposed order. 

 DATED this 2nd day of February, 2021. 

 Respectfully submitted 
 RENE L. VALLADARES 
 Federal Public Defender 
 
 /s/ Randolph M. Fiedler   
 RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
 Assistant Federal Public Defender 
 
 /s/ Ellesse Henderson   
 ELLESSE HENDERSON 
 Assistant Federal Public Defender 
 
  

 
6 Id. at 70, 156 P.3d at 693. 
7 State v. Greene, 129 Nev. 559, 565, 307 P.3d 322, 325–26 (2013). 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 In accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure, the undersigned hereby 

certifies that on this 2nd day of February 2021, a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing Notice of Objections to Proposed Order, was filed electronically with the 

Eighth Judicial District Court. Electronic service of the foregoing document shall be 

made in accordance with the master service list as follows:  

Alexander G. Chen 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
Eileen.davis@clarkcountyda.com 
 
 /s/ Celina Moore  
 An Employee of the 
 Federal Public Defender 
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FFCO 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
ALEXANDER G. CHEN 
Chief De_puty DistJict Attorney 
Nevada Bar #0l0539 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671 -2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

THE STATE OF NEV ADA, 

Plaintiff, 

-vs-

DONTE JOHNSON, 
#1586283 

Defendant. 

CASE NO: A-19-789336-W 

DEPTNO: VI 

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER 

DATE OF HEARJNG: FEBRUARY 13, 2020 
TIME OF HEARING: 9:00 AM 

This cause having come on for hearing before the Honorable JACQUELINE M. 

BLUTH, District Judge, on February 13, 2020, the Petitioner being represented by 

RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER and ELLESSE HENDERSON, Assista11t Federal Public 

Defenders, the Respondent being represented by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney, 

through ALEXANDER G. CHEN , Chief Deputy District Attorney, and the Cou11 having 

considered the matter, including briefs, transcripts arguments of counsel , and documents on 

file herein, now therefore, the Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of 

law: 

II I 

II I 

I II 

I I I 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

2 On June 9, 2000 Donte Johnson (a.k.a. John White, see Exhibit 81) was convicted by 

3 a juty of four count each of First~Degree Murder With The Use Of A Deadly Weapon, 

4 Robbery With Use Of Deadly Weapon, F irst-Degree Kidnapping With Use Of Dead]y 

5 Weapon. and Burglary With Use Of Deadly Weapon. After the first penalty-phase jury could 

6 not agree on a sentence, Johnson was sentenced to death by a three-judge panel on July 26, 

7 2000. On direct appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Jolmson s convictious but 

8 vacated the death sentences and remanded for a new penalty heaiing. Johnson v. State, 118 

9 Nev. 787, 59 P.3d 450 (2002) ("Johnson I ) (En Banc), ovenuled on other grounds by Nunne1y 

10 v. State, 127 Nev. 749,263 P.3d 235 (2011), That new penalty hearing, bifurcated into a death-

11 eligibility and a sentence selection phase, was conducted in April and May of 2005. After a 

12 total of nine days, the jury retmned verdicts imposing a sentence of death for each oftbe four 

13 murders. On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court affinned the death sentences. Johnson v. 

14 State. 122 Nev. 1344, 148 P.3d 767 (2006) ("Johnson 11"). Remittitur issued on January 28, 

15 2008. 

16 Johnson timely filed a first post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus (' First 

17 PetWon') in proper person, on February 13, 2008. Christopher Oram, Esq., was appointed as 

18 post-conviction counsel. Extensive briefing commenced, including counsel' s October 12 

19 2009 supplement and July 14, 2010 second supplement. This Comt also ordered an evidentiary 

20 heating, wherein on April 4, 11 , and June 21 , 2013 all .Johnson' s prior counse1 1 testified 

21 including: now-judge Joseph Sciscento guilt-phase cow1sel ; Dayvid Figler Esq. guilt-phase 

22 and f1rnt and second penalty-phase counsel; and Bret Whipple, Esq. and Alzora Jackson, Esq. , 

23 final penalty-phase counse1. This Couti denied the First Petition by minute order on February 

24 13, 2014. Written findings of fact and conclusions of law were filed on March 17 2014. Mr. 

25 Oram continued to represent Johnson on appeal from this denial. The Nevada Supreme Comi 

26 affirmed the denial in a pub]ished opinion on October 5, 2017. Johnson v. State, 133 Nev._, 

27 

28 
1 With the exception of Johnson's appellate counsel, Lee-E1izabeth McMahon, Esq., deceHsed . 

2 
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402 P .3d 1266 (2017), reh'g denied (Jan. 19, 2018)("Johnson m •:)(en bane). Remittiturissued 

2 on February 13, 2018. 

3 While that appeal was pending, Johnson filed a second petition for writ of habeas 

4 corpus in proper person ( Second Petition') on October 8, 2014. That petition was denied by 

5 written findings of fact and conclusions of law on Februaiy 4, 2015. Johnson appealed, and 

6 the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the denial of second habeas in an unpublished order on 

7 February 9, 2018. Johnson v. State, 412 P.3d 11 (2018) (SC# 67492). Remittitur issued on 

8 March 6, 2018. 

9 Thereafter, Jolu1son initiated federal habeas proceedings by filing a petition in federa l 

10 court on April 23, 2018, whereupon the Federal Public Defender was appointed. Third Petition 

11 at 10. With that petition stiJI pending, the Federal Public Defender filed the instant 359-page 

12 Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) ( 'Third Petition") before this Court on 

13 Februa1y 13, 2019. The State filed its Response on May 29, 2019. Johnson filed his Reply to 

14 the State 's Response on December 13, 2019. On Febmaiy 13, 2020, this matter came before 

l 5 the Cou1t for argument and the Cowi took the matter under advisement. On May 15, 2020, the 

16 Court issued a Minute Order denying Johnson's Third Petition. The Court now rules as 

17 fo1lows: 

18 STATEMENT OF FACTS 

19 In August of 1998, Johnson murdered 20- year-olds Tracey G01Tinge and Matthew 

20 Mowen, 19-year-old Jeffery Biddle, and 17- year-old Peter Talamantez. Johnson bound these 

21 four young men, robbed them, and then-after taking Talamantez to the back room and 

22 shooting and killing him-shot and ki11ed Gorringe, Mowen, and Biddle. Johnson killed them 

23 all by shooting them in the back of the head, execution style. 

24 TI1e evidence of his guilt was overwhelming, according to the Nevada Supreme Comi: 

25 Johnson's DNA and fingerprints were found at the crime scene· D A confim1ed that one 

26 victim 's blood was found on a pair of Johnson ' s pants· Johnson was in possession of the 

27 victims ' property (including a VCR a video game system, a personal beeper, a set of keys, 

28 

3 
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and about $200 in cash); and several witnesses testified that Johnson confessed to the killings. 

2 Johnson I, 118 ev. at 791 - 93, 797, 59 P.3d at 453-54, 457. 

3 After a tltird and final penalty hearing, a jury found that the State had proven the single 

4 aggravating circumstance alleged- that Johnson had been convicted of more than one murdet" 

5 in the prior proceeding-beyond a reasonable doubt. Despite finding seven mitigating factors, 

6 the jw-y found that they did not outweigh the aggravating circumstance. Thus, the jury 

7 unanimously imposed the death sentence for each murder. The Nevada Supreme Cou1t 

8 affirmed these death sentences, finding that the evidence of the aggravating factor was 

9 overwhelming that the death sentence was not imposed under the influence of passion , 

IO prejudice, or any arbitrary factor, and that the death sentence was not excessive conside1ing 

11 both the crime and the defendant. Johnson JI , 122 Nev. at 13 59, 148 P. 3d at 777 . 

'12 ANALYSIS 

13 I. APPLICATION OF THE MANDATORY STATE PROCEDURAL BARS 

14 This TJ1ird Petition is both untimely and successive. Filed on February 13 , 2019, it 

15 violates the one-year time limitation ofNRS 34.726, which requires post-conviction petitions 

16 to be filed within one year of issuance ofremittitur after direct appeal. The Nevada Supreme 

17 Court rejected a 11abeas petition that was filed just two days late, pw-suant to the clear 

18 unambiguous and mandatory provisions of NRS 34.726 . Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 53 

19 P.3d 901 (2002). The one-year time bar in NRS 34.726 also applies to successive petitions . 

20 Pellel!rini v. State, 117 Nev. 860 875, 34 P.3d 519, 529 (2001). The instant post-conviction 

21 proceedings were initiated on February 13, 2019, more than eleven ( 1 1) years after the January 

22 28 2008 issuance of remiiiitur from the affinnance of .Johnson 's final penalty hearing. Thus, 

23 this Third Petition is barred absent a showing of good cause for the delay-i.e., that the delay 

24 is 11ot the fault of the petitiouer, and that di missal of the petition as untimely will w1duly 

25 prejudice the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1 ). As demonstrated below, Jolmson has demonstrated 

26 neither good cause nor prejudice to overcome the procedural bars and the Petition is denied. 

27 The State a]so affim1atively pJed laches because the State is prejudiced in responding 

28 to this petition and in its ability to conduct a retrial of Jolmson, due to the long passage of time 

4 
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since the guilt phase of the jury trial in 2000 and the final penalty phase in 2005. The instant 

2 Third Petition has been filed approximately nineteen years after the original guilt-phase 

3 judgment of conviction, thirteen (13) years after the Nevada Supreme Court affinned 

4 Johnson 's guj)t and eleven ( 11) years after the Court affirmed .T ohnson s final penalty. 

5 Because these time periods exceed five (5) years, the State is entitled to a rebuttable 

6 presumption of prejudice. NRS 34.800(2). This can only be overcome by a showing that this 

7 Third Petitjon is based upon grounds of which petitioner could not have had knowledge by the 

8 exercise of reasonable diligence before the circumstances prejudicial to the State occuned or 

9 by a demonstration that a fundamental miscaniage of justice has occurred. NRS 34.800(1). 

l O The Comi finds that no such showing has been made and, thus, the doctrine of lac11es applies. 

11 Additionally, the Third Petition is subject to dismissal under NRS 34.810(1) because 

12 the grounds for the petition could have been presented to the trial cowt or raised in a prior 

13 proceeding. The instant petition is Johnson's third attempt to obtain state post-conviction 

14 relief. Dismissal of a successive petition is required if it fails to allege new or cti fferent grounds 

15 for relief and the prior cletennination was on the merits or if new and different grounds are 

16 alleged, the failure to asseli those grounds in a prior petition constitutes an abuse of the writ. 

l 7 NRS 34 .810(2). Johnson has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that 

18 demonstrate good cause for the failure to present the claim or for presenting the claim again, 

19 and actual prejudice. NRS 34.810(3); see also Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47 29 P.3d 

20 498, 523 (2001) ("A court must dismiss a habeas petition ifit presents claims that either were 

21 or could have been presented in an ear]ier proceeding, unless the cou11 finds both cause for 

22 failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the 

23 petitioner. ') "Unlike initial petitions which certainly require a careful review of the record 

24 successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face of the petition.': Ford v. 

25 Warden, 11 l Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995). If the claim or allegation was 

26 previously available with reasonable diligence, it is an abuse of the writ to wait to asse11 it in 

27 a later petition. McClesk v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467 497-498 (1991). 

28 
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Appellant claims that "app1ication of procedmal default to bar consideration of 

.Johnson 's constitutional claims would violate due process and equal protection under the state 

and federal constitutions, because the Nevada Supreme Court applies or disregards default 

mles arbitrarily and treats similarly situated habeas petitions inconsistently with regard to 

procedural defaults .. [sic]" Third Petition at 11 - 12. Not only is this proposition utterly 

unsuppo11ed by fu11her argumeJ1t, let alone any citation to a single fact in this ca. e or any 

other- the argument is belied by Nevada precedent. The Nevada Supreme Court has held that 

the district court has a duty to consider whether a defendant 's post-conviction petition claims 

are procedmally ba11'ed. State v. Ei !illth Judicial Dist. CoUJ1 ·{Riker}, 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 

P.3d l 070, 1074 (2005). The Riker Court found that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural 

default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," noting: 

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction 
are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The 
necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a 
time when a criminal conviction is final. 

15 Id. (quoting Groesbeck v. Warden, 100 Nev. 259, 261 , 679 P.2d 1268, 1269 (1984)). The 

16 Court held tJ1at procedural bars ' 'cannot be ignored [by the district cow-t] when properly raised 

17 by tJ1e State." Id. at 233, 112 P .3d at 107 5. That is , dfatlict courts have no discretion regarding 

18 whether to apply the statutory procedw-al bars; the rules must be applied. 

19 Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Court has observed ·'f w]ithout such limitations on the 

20 availability of post-conviction remedies, prisoners could pe6tion for relief in perpetuity and 

21 thus abuse post-conviction remedies. IJ1 addition, rneritJess, successive and untimely petitions 

22 clog the court system and undennine the finality of convictions.' ' Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 

23 349, 358, 871 P.2d 944, 950 (1994). The Petition is procedurally ban-ed and is thus, denied . 

24 

25 

IT. THERE IS NO GOOD CAUSE FOR THE UNTIMELY FILING OF THIS 
SUCCESSIVE PETITION 

26 While the bulk of Johnson ' s Third Petition primarily focuses on the merits of each of 

27 his claims, reJatively few pages are devoted to application of state procedural bars and a 

28 showing of good cause and prejudice. This is where Johnson ' s petition fails. 
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A petitioner has the burden of pleading and proving facts to demonstrate good cause to 

excuse the delay. State v. Haberstroh. 119 Nev. 173, 181 , 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003). "In order 

to demonstrate good cause, a petitioner must show that an impediment external to the defense 

prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules." Hathawa v. 

State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 7 l P.3d 503 506 (2003) (citing Lozada, 110 Nev. at 353 871 P.2d 

at 946). This language contemplates that the delay in filing a petition must be caused by a 

circumstance not within the actual control of the defense team. 1'At1 impediment external to 

the defense may be demonstrated by a showing ' that the factual or legal basis for a claim was 

not reasonably available to counsel or that some intelference by officials made compliance 

impracticable. " ht (quoting Murra v. Canier, 477 U .S. 478 488 (1986)). " Appellate courts 

will not disturb a trial com1 s discretion in determining the existence of good cause except for 

clear cases of abuse." Colle v. State, 105 ev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989). 

In his Third Petition, Johnson acknowledges that many of his claims have been raised 

previously and that other claims are being raised for the first time, either in whole or in part. 

Third Petition at 10-12. Although the Third Petition is 359 pages in length and raises thirty 

(30) substantive claims--most wW1 many subsections-this Cowi need only concern itself 

with the relatively few allegations of good cause identified on pages ten through fomteen. 

Absent a good cause explanation for the delay in filing the current, successive Third Petition, 

none of the thi1ty substantive claims are reviewable on the merits and are dismissed as 

procedurally barred . Johnson's good cause explanations for his untimely and successive 

petition are that: 1) he is entitled to cumulative consideration of constitutional errors; 2) this 

Com1 failed to grant an evidentia1y hearing, adequate funds or discovery during prior habeas 

proceedings; 3) prior counsel was ineffective· 4) the State withheld excu]patmy evidence; and 

5) there would be a fundamental miscarriage of justice if this Petition is procedurally dismissed 

because Johnson is actually innocent and ineligible for the death penalty. 

A. A desire for "cumulative consideration" does not provide good cause for re-raising 
claims that the Nevada Supreme Court has already denied. 

Jolmson acknowledges that many of his claims have been raised previously (Claims l , 

3(E) and (F), 4(B)-(E), 6(A), (B), (D), and (E), 7{A), 14(B)(subpa11s 2, 4 5- 9, and 17), 15(A), 

7 
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l 7(A), (C), (D), (E) and (F), 2l(C)-(E), 22 25, 26 and 30) and that others have been raised 

2 in pa11 (Claims 2, 4(A), 5, 6(B) and (C), 9, I 0, 12, 14(A), 16, and l 7(B)). Third Petition at 10-

3 11. Johnson ' s e ·planation for re-raising these claims is that he desires cumulative 

4 consideration of constitutional errors that cumulative consideration is necessary for any 

5 hannless e1Tor analysis, and that cumulative consideration requires these claims to be 

6 considered again because they were inadequately raised due to ineffective assistance of 

7 postconviction counsel. Third Petition at 10. 

8 A desire to re-examine claims the Nevada Supreme Com1 has already decided is not 

9 good cause for re-raising the same issue again because the district court does exercise 

10 supervisory and appellate review over the functioning and decisions of the Nevada Supreme 

11 Comt; rather, this Coui1 is bound instead by law of the case. Evans l l 7 Nev. at 641-43 , 28 

12 P.3d at 519- 21 . Where an issue has already been decided on the merits by the Nevada Supreme 

J3 Court, the Court s ruling is law of the case, and the issue will not be revisited . Pelle rini, 117 

14 Nev. at 884, 34 PJd at 535; McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 990 P.2d 1263, 1276 (1999), 

15 Hall v. State, 91 Nev . 314, 315- 16, 535 P.2d 797, 798- 99 (1975); see also Valerio v. State, 

16 112 Nev. 383, 386, 915 P.2d 874 876 ( 1996); Ho ... an v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952 , 860 P.2d 710 

17 (1993). A defendant cannot avoid the docttine of law of the case by a more detailed and 

18 precisely focused argument. Hall , 9 t Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 798-99· see also Pert en v. 

19 State, 110 Nev. 557, 557-58, 875 P.2d 316 362 (1994). 

20 Joh11son cites no authority for the proposition that instances of ineffective assistance of 

21 counsel are amenable to cumulative-en·or analysis . Nor can he, because the Nevada Supreme 

22 Cami has not endorsed application of its direct appeal cwnulative eITor standard to the 

23 postconviction Strickland context. McConnell v. State. 125 Nev. 243,259,212 P.3d 307, 318 

24 {2009). Nor should cumulative eJTor apply on post-conviction review. Middleton v. Roper, 

25 455 F.3d 838, 851 (8th Cir. 2006), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1134, 1275 S. Ct. 980 (2007) ('"a 

26 habeas petitioner cannot build a showing of prejudice on series of errors none ofwhjch would 

27 by itself meet the prejudice test.'') 

28 
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Regardless, while ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel may provide a good 

cause explanation as to why a claim was previously omitted, it is not good cause for re-raising 

a claim that Johnson concedes prior counsel already raised. Johnson does not explain which 

prior decisions of the Nevada Supreme Comi no longer constitute law of the case or why. 

Furthennore, this allegation of good cause is bare, undeveloped, and without legal authmity. 

Therefore, Petitioner's claim fails . 

B. This Courts rulings during the first habeas proceeding did not prevent Johnson 
from asserting any claims and do not constitute good cause. 

Jolmson argues that his procedural default should be excused because this Comt foiled 

to grant a sufficient evidentiary hearing, investigative funds 1 expe11 funding, or discovery 

during his prior habeas proceeding which Johnson claims prevented him from adequately 

developing the factual base~ for his cw-rent claims. Third Petition at 11- 12. Tbis allegation is 

ironic, considering that this Court 's predecessor, Judge Cadish, declined to put any limitation 

at all on the scope of the evidentiary hearing in the first post-conviction proceedings, 

Transc1ipt, Jan. 18 2012, at 5- 6. The Cow·t stated that it was 'not inclined to nanow" the 

scope of the hearing and that Johnson!s post-conviction counsel , Mr. Oram? would be 

permitted to "show what he thinks he needs to show to try to establish ineffective assistance." 

Id. at 6. In that same hearing, the Court even pennitted an expensive Positron Emission 

Tomography ("PET';) scan so that Mr. Oram could pursue his ineffective assistance of counsel 

claim of fail me to investigate fetal alcohol syndrome-out of an abundance of caution, when 

there was no legal basis for it. Id. at 4. Johnson simply makes the blanket statement that he 

was denied funds and discovery, not bothering to specify which funds or discovery he was 

a11egedly disallowed-or even what new facts have been developed in this round of 

postconviction review. 

Fu11hermore, good cause must establish a reason why a claim was not "raised" 

previously, rnther than why facts were not ,;developed.· An evidentiary hearing is not a 

discovery tool· it is only pem1itted once a petitioner first asse11s specific factual allegations 

not belied nor repelled by the record, which, if b11e would entitle him to relief. Nik.a v. State, 

9 
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124 Nev. 1272, 1300-01 , 198 P.3d 839, 858 (2008). othing this Couii did during the first 

2 post-conviction proceeding impeded or impaired Johnson s ability to rais·e any factual claim 

3 he desired. 

4 Finally, if this Cow"t had en·ed in restricting the development of facts, that is ue would 

5 have been addressed in the subsequent appeal. Instead, the Nevada Supreme Court affinned 

6 this Court s handling and denial of the First Petition in all respects. Johnson III , 133 Nev. at 

7 _, 402 P.3d at 1266. This Courts treatment of Johnson s first post-conviction proceeding 

8 simply does not constitute good cause for any of these claims, whether re-raised or for raised 

9 for the first time. Therefore Johnson 's claim fails. 

IO C. The alleged Brady violations are meritless and do not constitute as good cause. 

11 Next, Johnson claims that the delay in filing the instant Third Petition is attributable to 

12 the State for withholding Brady evidence, which appears to be alleged in Claim 7. Third 

13 Petition at 14, 136-40. Brady and its progeny requjre a prosecutor to disclose evidence 

14 favorable to the defense when that evidence is material either to guilt or to punislunent. Brady 

15 v. Mar land, 373 U.S. 83 , 83 S. Ct. 1194 (I 963). To prove a Brady violation, a petitioner must 

16 show 1) the evidence is favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatmy or 

17 impeaching, 2) the State withheld the evidence, ejther intentionally or inadvertently, 'and 3) 

18 that the evidence was material. Id. When a Brady claim is raised in an untimely post-conviction 

19 petition for a wiit of habeas cmpus, the petitioner bas the burden of pleading and proving 

20 specific facts that demonstrate both components of the good-cause showing required by NRS 

21 34.726( 1) namely "[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner'' and that the petitioner 

22 will be "unduly prejudice[dr' if the petition is dismissed as untimely. State v. Huebler, 128 

23 ev. _, 275 P.3d 91 (2012). Those components parallel the second and third prongs of a 

24 Brady violation: estabJishing tbat tl1e State withheld the evidence demonstrates that the delay 

25 was caused by an impediment external to the defense· and establishing that the evidence was 

26 material generally demonstrates that the petitioner would be unduly prejudiced if the petition 

27 i dismissed asw1timely.lfL, citing Statev. Bennett, l 19 Nev. 589, 81 P.3d I (2003). However, 

28 
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"a Brady violation does not result if the defendant, exercising reasonable diligence, could have 

2 obtained the information." Ri l o v. State J 13 Nev. 1239, 1257, 946 P.2d 1017, 1028 (1997). 

3 An allegation that the government may have been responsible for part of the initial 

4 delay in bringing a claim does not explain or excuse continued delay once the basis fot the 

5 claim became known to a petitioner. See Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252-53, 71 P.3d 

6 503 , 506 (2003)· see also State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. _, 275 P.3d 91, 96 at n.3 (2012) ("We 

7 note that a Brady claim sti11 must be raised within a reasonable time after the withheld evidence 

8 was disclosed to or discovered by the defense."). Even legitimate Brady claims are 

9 procedurally baned when the basi for the claim was known and it was either not brought in 

l 0 an earlier proceeding or within an applicable time bar. Hutchison v. Bell, 303 F.3d 720, 742-

11 43 (6th Cir. 2002) (Brady claim barred where no good cause for delay of eleven months 

J 2 between discovery of c)aim and assertion of claim in state couti). 

13 First in Claim 7, Johnson alleges that the State failed to disclose benefits it must have 

14 given to Tod Armstrong because he was not prosecuted for some of the same crimes with 

15 wbicl1 Johnson was charged despite evidence that he was involved. Third Petition at 136-37. 

16 This an old allegation-based on nothing but speculation-and js belied by the record. At trial, 

17 Annstrong was cross-examined at length on this very issue, and both he and the prosecutor 

18 denied that any such benefit was given or would be fotihcoming. Transcrjpt, June 6, 2000, 

19 U241-50. Fu11her, this claim was previously denied when raised in prior post-conviction 

20 proceedings a denial affirmed on appeal when the Court found that "the notion that the 

21 prosecutor failed to disclose benefits lacked supp011 in the record.' Johnson III, 133 ev. at 

22 _, 402 P.3d at 1277. 

23 Even the infonnation Johnson now attempts to use to suppo1i his allegation is old. The 

24 Federal Public Defender s own documentation reveals that the clearing of Armstrong' s 

2 5 juvenile wan-ant in Apri I of 1999 was information obtained by Johnson's trial attorneys 

26 pw·suant to cou11 order in this case on May 31 2000, which belies any claim that it was 

27 withheld. Exhibit J 70. Because none of these allegations are new and because they are based 

28 
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1 on nothing more than suspicions drawn from the existing record, they do not constitute a good 

2 cause explanation for the delay in filing the instant petition. 

3 Second in Claim 7, as a new allegation not previously raised, Johnson claims that the 

4 State withheld evidence that its investigator, Pete Baldonado, had a history of illegal conduct 

5 with State witnesses, including sexual relations in exchange for help quashing wa1Tants, and 

6 was convicted in 2004 for Coercion and Misconduct by Public Officer. Third Petition at I 3 7-

7 38. Curiously, the factual information for this claim comes entirely from public sources-

8 including newspapers and public records in 2004. Exhibit 80. This belies any claim that 

9 information about Baldonado was "withheld ~ by the State or othen-vise could not have been 

10 obtained sooner by exercising reasonable diligence. 1n fact, the newspaper articles indicate 

11 this was a widely publicized and known scandat of which Johnson s penalty•phase cow1sel 

12 would have been aware from general knowledge in the legal conununity in 2004-05. It would 

13 not even have taken any diligence to obtain this infonnation. Rippo, 113 Nev. at 1257 946 

14 P.2d at I 028. The affidavit of Eloise Kline (Exhibit 82) bears no relation at all to the instant 

15 case and simply confirms information about Baldonado s character and misconduct which he 

16 had already publicly admitted and for which was punished in 2004. Johnson fails to show that 

1 7 the prosecution allegedly withholding this information more than fifteen years ago explains 

18 his delay in waiting until 2019 to raise it. Hathawa , 1 l 9 Nev. at 252- 53, 71 P Jd at 506. 

19 Johnson also fails to show how sucl1 infonnation constitutes material exculpatory or 

20 impeachment evidence in his case, considering that Baldonado was not a witness. Baldonado ' s 

21 only connection to Johnson case seems to be that he conducted a transcribed interview of 

22 witness Charla Severs in 1999, five years before Baldonado s termination and arrest. Third 

23 Petition at 137; Exhibit 60. There is no indication, let alone in the transcript of Baldonado s 

24 interview with Severs, that he acted inappropriately with her. Exhibit 60. Nor does Johnson 

25 explain how if he had, it would constitute impeachment evidence favorable to Jolmson. For 

26 example Severs had already told police that Johnson had confessed the murders to her long 

27 before her jntendew with Baldonado. Exhibit 50. In fact, Severs had already testified before 

28 the grandjw-y when Baldonado interviewed her. Exhibit 60 at 10. There is no chance that even 

12 
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had Baldonado behaved inappropriately with Severs, it would have had any impact on her 

2 testimony. Furtbennore Severs did not even testify at the new penalty hearing in 2005 which 

3 was just after Baldonado's criminal activity first came to light. Thus, she would not have been 

4 subject to cross-examination about it. Thus, this allegation does not constitute a good cause 

5 explanation for the delay in filing the instant petition. 

6 Third in Claim 7, Johnson claims t1Jat discovery was delayed . Third Petition at 138-

7 40. However his own pleading makes it abundantly clear that the defense was fully capable 

8 of obtaining the relevant forensic infonnation-and did in fact obtain it, witl1 the reasonable 

9 diligence required of it; before trial in 2000. There is thus no Brady violation. Rippo, 113 Nev. 

10 at 1257 946 P.2d atl028. Nor does Johnson even attempt to explain how a more "timely 

11 disclosure by the State would have affected the results of the proceeding. 

12 Fourth in Claim 7, related to the discovery claim Johnson claims that it is not clear 

13 from the record whether blood-spatter evidence was produced before trial. Third Petition at 

14 138-40. However, as an initial matter, Johnson does not explain how tbe blood-spatter report 

l 5 photo-copied in his Third Petition js exculpatmy or material. It merely state that that 

16 particular expe11 did not have enough infonnation to draw conclusions about the blood stains 

J 7 or l1ow they were caused. 

18 RegardlessJ the supposedly exculpatory blood results came from Johnson s own tTial 

19 period expert witness, the employee at Forensic Analytical he references in the Third Petition. 

20 See Notice of Expert Witnesses, filed May 15, 2000, at 1- 2, 4. The State prosecutor does not 

21 control the timing of defense investigation. This forecloses any argument that the results were 

22 withheld from the defense. Moreover, Johnson concedes that these results were made known 

23 to his counsel at least by the mjddle of trial. Third Petition at 140. Johnson does not explain 

24 how this was not sufficient for use at trial even if the results had been withheld and were 

25 exculpato1y- wltich they were not. United States v. Fernandez, 231 F.3d 1240, 1248 n.5 (9th 

26 Cir. 2000); see also United States v. Gordon, 844 F.2d 1397 1403 (9th Cir. J 988) ("Brady 

27 does not necessarily require that the prosecution tun1 over exculpatory material before trial. 

28 To escape the Brady sru1ction, disclosure must be made at a time when disclosw·e would be of 
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value to the accused.''). The relevant discovery and the defense expert's blood resuhs were 

available in 2000. This does not explain why it is being raised now- let alone how it 

constitutes good cause to overcome the procedural bars. Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 252- 53, 71 

P.3d at 506. 

Johnson's Brady claims fail to account for the entire length of delay. Thus, tl1ey do not 

establish good cause for this untimely and succes ive Third Petition and Johnson 's claim fails . 

D. There would be no fundamental miscarriage of justice because Johnson is not 
ineligible for the death penalty. 

To overcome the procedural default, Johnson alleges a fundamental 111iscaniage of 

justice if this Third Petition were to be procedurally barred because he is actually innocent 

"or" ineligible for the death penalty. Third Petition at I 4. Nevada recognizes actual innocence 

as a "gateway" where applicable procedural bars may b excused when "the prejudice from a 

failure to consider [a] claim amounts to a 'fundamental miscarriage of justice. ' Pelle:..?rini, 

117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537 (quoting Mazzan v. Warden, 112 Nev. 838, 842 921 P.2d 

920, 922 (I 996)). Where the petitioner has argued that the procedural defau)t should be 

ignored because he is actually ineligible for the death penalty, he must show by clear and 

convincing evidence that, but for a constitutional en-or, no reasonable juror would have found 

him death eligible. Ho l!an v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993) (citing 

Sawyer v. Whitel , 505 U.S. 333, 112 S. Ct. 2514 (1992)). 

Johnson's actual innocence argument appears premised upon Claim 29, wherein he 

alleges he is ineligible for the death penalty due to his youth (twenty-one years of age) at the 

time he killed four other young men coupled with borderline intellectual functioning. Third 

Petition at 247- 53. However,juvenile exclusion from the death penalty has not been extended 

beyond age eighteen. Roper v. Simmons 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183 (2005) 010lding that 

the Eighth Amendment's prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment precludes the execution 

of offenders who were under eighteen years of age when their crimes were committed). 

Furthennore, Johnson has previously tried to avail himself of the holding in Roper, to no avail. 

Johnson II, 122 Nev. at J 353 148 P.3d at 774 ("Because there is no question that John on was 
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I not a juvenile when he committed the murders, his reliance upon Roper is misplaced. ). Thus 

2 the fa.ct that he is not ineligible for the death penalty due to his age at the time of the murders 

3 is law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43 , 28 P.3d at 519- 21. Pe11eerin1 117 Nev. at 884, 

4 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396., 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999) Hall, 91 Nev . at 315-

5 16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valetio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 

6 860 P.2d at 710. 

7 Likewise, Johnson ' s 'borderline inte11ectua1 functioning" does not render him 

8 ineligible for the death penalty. Exclusion from the death penalty due to inte11ectual disability 

9 (i.e., mental retardation) requires much more than mere borderline intellectual functioning. 

10 Atkins v. Vi.J . ia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S. Ct. 2242 (2002); NRS 174.098· NRS 175.554. 

11 Intellectual disability is defined as "significant subaverage general intellectual functioning 

12 whicJ1 exists concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the 

13 developmental period." Id. Johnson has been evaluated repeatedly by defense mental health 

14 experts and none have diagnosed him with intellectual disability. Exhibits 143 (2000 

15 Neuropsychological Evaluation by Dr. Myla Young), 144 (1988 Psychological Evaluation by 

16 Eunice Cain), 145 (1993 Psychological Evaluation by Harold Kates), 173(2018 Repo11 by Dr. 

17 Kate Gylwasky); Transcript, May 3, 2005 14-133. Therefore, Johnson is not ineligible for the 

18 death penalty due to age or any other factor. His actual innocence claim fails. 

19 E. There was no ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel constituting good 
cause. 

20 

21 Finally, Jolmson attempts to offer ineffective assistance of counsel as good cause for 

22 this untimely, successive Third Petition. Specifically, he alleges prior post-conviction counsel, 

23 Mr. Oram, was ineffective in failing to raise some of these issues or for inadequately raising 

24 those issues Johnson now re-raises. Third Petition at 13. However, Johnson 's claim that Mr. 

25 Oram was ineffective overlooks over half a decade of work- including careful selection of 

26 w011hy claims, extensive briefing, and days of evidentiary hearing testimony and argument-

27 Mr. Oram put into Johnson ' s first attempt at obtaining post-conviction relief. 

28 /// 
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1. Entitlement to Effective Post-Conviction Counsel for Death-Row Petitioners 

2 The State agrees that as a death row petitioner Johnson had a right to effective 

3 assistance of counsel in his fir t post-conviction proceeding, so he may raise claims of 

4 ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel in a successive petition. See McNelton, 115 

5 Nev. at 416 n.5, 990 P.2d at 1276 n.5; Crnmo v. Warden, 113 Nev. 293, 303 , 934 P.2d 247, 

6 253 (1997). However he must raise these matters in a reasonable time to avoid application of 

7 procedural default rules. See Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 869-70, 34 P.3d at 525-26 O1olding that 

8 the time bar in NRS 34.726 applies to successive petitions): see generally Hathaway v. State 

9 119 Nev. 248 252-53, 71 P.3d 503, 506-07 (2003) (stating that a claim reasonably available 

10 to the petitioner dwing the statutory time period did not constitute good cause to excuse a 

11 delay in filing). A claim of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel has been raised 

12 within a reasonable time after it became available so long as the post-conviction petition is 

13 filed within one year after entry of the district cou11 s order disposing of the prior 

14 postconviction petition or, if a timely appeal was taken from the djstrict court's order, within 

15 one year after this court issues its remittitur. Ri ) O v. State, 134 Nev. _, 423 P.3d 1084, 

16 1097, amended on denial ofreh' g, 432 P.3d 167 (2018). 

17 In the present case, remittitur from affirmance of the denial of the first post-conviction 

18 proceedings involving Mr. Oram issued on February 13, 2018, and the instant Third Petition 

19 appears to have been timely filed exactly one year later, on February 13 2019. 

20 2. Strickland Standard for Effective Counsel 

21 Although there is no recognized constitutional right to effective assistance of 

22 postconviction counsel, McKag_ue v. Warden, 112 Nev. 159, 163,912 P.2d 255, 257-58 (1996) 

23 (concluding that neither the United States nor Nevada Constitution provides for a right to 

24 counsel in post-conviction proceedings), Strickland has been adopted as the standard to 

25 evaluate post-conviction counsel's perfonnance where there is a statutmy right to effective 

26 assistance of that counsel. Rippo, 134 Nev. at_, 423 P .3d at 1084. 

27 A defendant making an ineffectiveness claim must show both that counsel's 

28 performance was deficient which means that "counsel s representation fell below an objective 
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standard of reasonableness/' and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant, 

2 which means that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel ' s unprofessional 

3 errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. ' Strickland v. Washin_ton, 466 

4 U.S. 668 686,694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984). "/\. court may consider the two test elements 

5 in any order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing 

6 on either one.' Kirkse v. State, 112 Nev. 980 987,923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1997); Molina v. 

7 State, 120Nev. 185,190 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004) . 

8 "Surmounting Strickland 's high bar is never an easy task. ' Padilla v. Kentuckv, 559 

9 U.S. 356 371 , 130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010). The question is whether an attorney ' s 

10 representations amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional nonns, "not whether 

11 it deviated from best practices or most conunon custom.' Hanirn2.ton v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 

12 88, 131 S. Ct. 770 778 (2011). Further, "[e]ffective coun el does not mean errorless counsel 

13 but rather counsel whose assistance is ' [w]ithin the range of competence demanded of 

14 attorneys in criminal cases."' Jackson v. Warden. Nevada State Prison, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 

15 P .2d 473,474 (1975) (quoting McMa1m v. Richardson 397 U.S. 759, 771 , 90 S. Ct. 1441 1 

16 1449 (1970)). 

17 Based on the above law, the cowt begins with the presumption of effectiveness and 

18 then must detennine whether the defendant has demonstrated by 'strong and convincing 

19 proof that counsel was ineffective. Homick v State, 112 Nev. 304, 310,9 13 P.2d 1280, 1285 

20 (1996) (cWng Lenz v. State, 97 Nev. 65, 66, 624 P.2d 15, 16 (1981))· Davis v. State, I 07 Nev. 

21 600, 602, 81 7 P .2d 1169, 1 1 70 ( 1991 ). TJ1e role of a court in considering allegations of 

22 ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action nol laken but to 

23 detennine whether, w1der the pa1ticular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed 

24 to render reasonably effective assistance.'~ Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671,675, 584 P.2d 708, 

25 711 ( 1978) (citing Cooper v. Fitzharris, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. I 977)). 

26 This analysis does not indicate that the court should • second guess reasoned choices 

27 between trial tactics, nor does it mean that defense counsel to protect himself against 

28 allegations of inadequacy1 must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the 
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possibilities are of success." Donovan, 94 Nev. at 675 584 P.2d at 71 l (citing Cooper, 551 

2 F .2d at 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)). Tn essenc the court must ' 'judge the reasonableness of counsel ' s 

3 challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's 

4 conduct." Strickland 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066 . "Strategic choices"- such as 

5 "deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any to call , and what defenses to 

6 develop '-"made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options 

7 are virtually unchallengeab]e.'' Id. at 691 104 S. Ct. at 2064· Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1 8, 

8 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). 

9 Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel ' s representation fell below an 

10 objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a 

J J reasonable probability that, but for counsel s errors, the result of the trial would have been 

12 different. Mc elton, 115 Nev. at 403, 990 P.2d ta 1268 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687). 

13 "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. 

14 Id. , citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687- 89, 694. 

15 A petitioner who contends that his attomey was ineffective because he did not 

l 6 adequately investigate must show how a better investigation probably would have rendered a 

17 more favorable outcome. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. I 85 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). In 

18 order to demonstrate a reasonab1e probability that, but for counsel ' s failure to investigate, the 

19 result would have been different, it must be clear from the "record what it was about the 

20 defense case that a more adequate investigation would 11ave uncovered. ' Id. For example a 

2 I defendant claiming ineffective assistance from the failure to prepare defendant' s mother and 

22 two sisters for the penalty phase so that they could provide more mitigating evidence should 

23 have alleged with specificity what that evidence would have been. Evans, 117 Nev. at 609, 28 

24 P.3d at 498. 

25 Specifically as to ineffective ass1stance based on failure to investigate or present expert 

26 witnesses coun el may make reasonable decisions that make particular investigations 

27 unnecessaiy. Han-in _ton, 562 U.S. at 86, 13 l S. Ct. at 788 (ciNng Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691, 

28 104 S. Ct. 2052.) There are ' countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. 
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l Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way. • 

2 Strickland, 466 lJ .S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052. Rare are the situations in which the "wide latitude 

3 cow1sel must have in making tactical decisions" will be limited to any one technique or 

4 approach. Jd. Counsel is entitled to fomrnlate a strategy that was reasonable at the time and to 

5 balance limited resources in accord with effective tJ.ial tactics and strategies. Id. 

6 Strategy decisions such as who to call as a witness are solely within the discretion of 

7 the attorney and counsel may exclude witnesses in favor of a stJ.·ategy, reasonable at the time, 

8 to balance limited resom·ces in accord with effective assistance. Harrington, 562 U.S. at 107, 

9 I 31 S. Ct. at 789. Even if an expert theoretica11y could support a client's defense theory, a 

IO competent attorney may strategically exclude it, consistent with effective assistance, if such 

11 expe11 may be fruitless or hannful to the defense. ld. at I 08, 13 I S. Ct. at 789-90. As to 

12 prejudice, even if the proposed testimony conceivably would affect the trial, such is 

13 insufficient to show prejudice, as the " likelihood of a different result must be substantial 1 not 

14 just conceivable.' Id. at 112,131 S. Ct. at 792. 

15 Finally, claims asse1ied in a petition for post-conviction relief must be suppotied with 

16 specific factual allegations, which if true would entitle the petitioner to relief. Harcrove v. 

17 State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). 'Bare" and "naked1' allegations are not 

18 sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. ML 

19 3. Post-conviction counsel did not render ineffective assistance. 

20 a. Mr. Oram's Representation 

21 Johnson claims Mr. Oram failed to adequately investigate and develop bis claims, never 

22 retained an investigator nor any expe11, did not seek discoveiy, and only raised record-based 

23 claims for relief while handling Johnson's first post-conviction proceeding. Third Petition at 

24 J 3. These are bare and non-specific allegations which utterly fail to recognize the competence 

25 of Mr. Ora.m's performance and fail to establish how the outcome of the first post-conviction 

26 proceedings would have been any different had Mr. Oram taken other actions. In fact, only on 

27 this single page of his 359-page Third Petition does Johnson specifically allege that Mr. Oram 

28 was ineffective-and at that, without alleging specific facts as to how. Third Petition at 13 . 
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There is no additional investigation witness or expert identified anywhere in the Third 

2 Petition that Mr. Oram would have been deficient not to have included in the First Petition. 

3 Nor is there any showing that the result would have been different had Mr. Oram obtained any 

4 further information or presented it to this Court. 

5 Mr. Oram was appointed 1n 2008 to handle the fisst post-conviction proceedings. He 

6 filed a sixty-three (63) page supplement on October 12, 2009 which raised fom1een (14) 

7 grounds for relief pertaining to the penalty hearing. Exhibit 28. Thi. supplement included 

8 numerous claims of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and present 

9 evidence of Johnson 's mental health and mitigation evidence. Mr. Oram then filed a second 

l O supplement of fifty ( 50) pages on July 14, 2010, which raised an additional twenty (20) claims 

11 pe11aining to the original guilt phase ttial and on appeal. Exhibit 29. This supplement included 

12 numerous claims of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding jury selection under Batson, 

13 omitted issues on appeal; Brady violations, and jury instruction enors. Two separate reply 

14 btiefs fu1ther expanded and refined the issues. Exhibits 3 J 32. 

15 After extensive briefing, Mr. Oram successfully argued against the application of 

J 6 procedural bars rajsed by the State as to guilt-phase issues and won Jolmson an w1limited 

17 evidentiary bearing. Over the course of two days, Mr. Oram presented testimony from both 

18 guilt-phase counsel, Mr. Figler and now-Judge Sciscento, as well as both penalty phase 

19 counsel, Mr. Whipple and Ms. Jackson. Prior counsel testified as to their respective strategies 

20 in their investigation and calJing of witnesses in defending Johnson at trial and at penalty 

21 bearing. See Transcripts, April 4, 2013 , June 21 , 2013. After the evidentiary hearing, Mr. 

22 Oram filed Post-Evident1a1y Heating Supplemental Points and Authorities, including 

23 affidavits from two alternate jurors who had been contacted about potential jury misconduct 

24 during the final penalty phase in 2005. Exhibits 209, 210. At the conclusion, the district couit 

25 denied the habeas petition, a decision then affirmed on appeal . Johnson HI, 133 Nev. at , 

26 402 P.3d at 1280. 

27 The record is clear: Johnson 's claims that Mr. Oram did not seek discovery and that he 

28 only raised record-based claims for relief are explicitly belied. Third Petition at 13 ; Har rove, 
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100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Mr. Oram obtained extensive discove1y beyond that 

2 available in the record, including from jurors and prior counsel. That this discovery did not 

3 lead him to raise the exact claims Johnson now raises does not mean that he was ineffective. 

4 Again, Mr. Oram is preswned effective. Homic 112 Nev. at 310,913 P.2d at 1285. 

5 And Jolmson bas not overcome that presumption by establishing that Mr. Oram was infective 

6 for not raising any of the fruitless claims in this Third Petition including: trial counsel 

7 ineffectiveness, jury instrnction error, prosecutorial misconduct at guilt and penalty phase, 

8 CoUii enor at guilt and penalty phase, Brady, Double Jeopardy, or Confrontation Clause 

9 violation multiple first-degree murder theories, venue, juror misconduct/bias juror fmdings 

10 of first-degree murder culpability, unconstitutional death penalty, judicial (including 

11 systematic) bias weighing aggravators and mitigators juror implicit bias, freedom of 

12 association, and death-penalty ineligibility. See Sections 1TI(B)(3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9), 

13 (1 J ), ( 12), ( 13) () 5), (I 6), (17), (I 8), ( 19), (21 ), (23), (24 ), (27), (28), (29) infra. On their face, 

14 as discussed in Section llI, infra, all of these claims are meritless. ln addition, several of their 

15 subsections are barred by the doctrine if the law of the case--as were some entire claims, 

16 including: jury selection en-or, illegal seizure, juvenile records, appellate counsel failure, 

17 unrecorded bench conferences, international law concems, and cumulative e1Tor. See Sections 

18 lll(B)(I ), (10), (20) , (22) (25), (26), (30) . Johnson current arguments fail to establish that 

19 guilt- or penalty-phase, appellate, or post-conviction counsel would have been successful in 

20 raising the same arguments. Indeed, based on the fact that Mr. Oram did not re-argue those 

21 claims already governed by law of the case and given that he focused his attention on several 

22 meritorious claims rather than throwing 359 pages at the Cami to see what stuck it is clear 

23 that Mr. Oram reviewed Johnson ' s case thoroughly and only pursued those claims he deemed 

24 as having the highest likelihood of success. The fact that he did not succeed, or that his strategy 

25 did not lead to the results Johnson wanted, does not mean he was ineffective. Johnson's claim 

26 fails. 

27 // 

28 II 

21 
11· P DRIVE DO<'' JOIINSQJ\, I\ON'I' , A-10-7"89.\.'MV, 9SC l$3t;•. fC,Ft'.'1.&0 .. D<!C"X 

AA12292



b. Johnson's new documents do not establish Mr. 01·am was ineffective with 
regard to challenging the guilt-phase. 

2 In thousands of pages of exhibits, Johnson offers scant few new documents. These 

3 include new affidavits and reports concerning guilt-phase ttial issues that Johnson raises in his 

4 various c]aims. As an initial matter, Johnson does not specifically allege that Mr. Oram was 

5 ineffective for not obtaining these documents. Again, his ineffective assistance of counsel 

6 claim against Mr. Oram is less than one page long- and throughout his 359-page petition, he 

7 includes only vague references to ineffective assistance. Third Petition at 13. But to 

8 demonstrate that Johnson cannot overcome the threshold of good cause and have his claims 

9 examined on the merits , it will be helpful to examine Johnson's new docwnents in the context 

10 of the case. On doing so, it is clear that Mr. Oram was not objectively unreasonable for failing 

11 to obtain these documents-and further, that Johnson was not prejudiced, because even had 

12 Mr. Oram obtained them, this Com1 and the Nevada Supreme Com1 would have denied these 

13 claims. 

14 As discussed in Section III(B)(2), infra, the two new declarations from guilt-phase 

15 jurors Ashley Warren and Hans Weding do not support Johnson 's wild claim that any juror 

16 "harassed'' or "intimidated" any other or that anyone had been bribed. Third Petition at 36; 

17 Exhibits 188, 195. The new declaration from guilt-phase juror John Young does nothing other 

18 than reveal information about the jurors ' thought processes as they deliberated - including 

19 their common-sense observations about how Johnson' s semen was deposited on the pair of 

20 jeans on which one victim s blood was also found-a topic also explored, as Young discusses, 

21 by Johnson's girlfriend, who testified that she and Johnson were sexuaJly active after the 

22 mmders. Exhibit 189. Mr. Oram was therefore not ineffective for not obtaining tl1ese 

23 declarations oi- otherwise investigating any of the spmious claims of juror misconduct. Indeed, 

24 Mr. Oram strategically acted on the knowledge that most of these claims weTe already 

25 foreclosed by the Nevada Supreme Court ' s finding on the first direct appeal: that the very 

26 misconduct Joh11son now claims about, including jurors accessing media rep011s, was not 

27 prejudicial. Johnson 1, 118 Nev. at 796-97, 59 P.3d at 456- 57. 

28 
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As discus ed in Section III(B)(3)(a), infra, the analysis of witness testimony by Dr. 

2 Deborah Davis discusses police interviewing tactics and witness memory. Exhibit 175. 

3 However, guilt- and penalty-phase counsel had other, much sb·onger the01ies of defense than 

4 asserting police conspiracy resulti11g in the false statements of six separate witnesses; thus, 

5 that tactic would have been fh1itless if not outiight ham1ful to the defense. Hrurinoton 562 

6 U.S. at 108, 131 S. Ct. at 789~90. Mr. Oram was therefore not ineffective for not obtaining 

7 this analysis-which does not even establish that any witness was actually coerced. 

8 As discussed in Section III(B)(3)(a), infra, the analysis by T. Paulette Sutton discusses 

9 blood-stain evidence. Exhibit 177. However, not only did guilt-phase counsel have tbe 

10 underlying infonnation about the blood spatter during trial and elect not to use it- suggesting 

11 a conscious, strategic choice not to do so--there was no prejudice. Third Petition at 66. Even 

12 ifit were somehow revealed that victim Gm,-inge's blood did not make its way onto Johnson's 

13 pants directly from a gunshot wound, it does not in any way demonstrnte that Johnson was not 

14 the shooter-let alone that he was not at the scene. Third Petition at 62--67. As is clear from 

15 his efforts to explore much stronger claims, Mr. Oram was not objectively unreasonable for 

16 not raising prior counsel's handling of blood-spatter evidence. 

17 Finally, as discussed in Section III(B)(3)(c), infra, the new fingerprint analysi by 

18 Mattl1ew Marvin does not demonstrate that prior counsel was ineffective. Exhibit 179. This 

19 analysis reveals only tl,at there "appears to be a minor issue related to articulation of 

20 procedure'' by the State ' s fingerprint e pert, and that the ''current state of knowledge regarding 

21 the terms ' 100% accuracy' and 100% certainty' hc:1s changed since the testimony of' the Sate s 

22 guilt-phase fingerprint expert. Exhibit 179 at 3, 6 (emphasis added). But these facts are 

23 irrelevant This report examines the fingerprints found on a box of Black & Mild cigars found 

24 at the murder scene. Exhibit 179 at 3. Guilt-phase counse]s' strategic cross-examination of the 

25 State's fingerprint expert was premised around Johnson's defense theory: that his fingerprints 

26 were at the scene, including on that box, due to an earlier drug transaction. Transcript June 8, 

27 2000, at 232. To challenge the accuracy of the fingerprints would be to undermine that the01y. 

28 Nor has Johnson demonstrated that another defense themy would have been possible. Johnson 
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has not brought any evidence-Jet alone in Exhibit 179-that the fingerprints on the Black & 

Milds were not Johnson's, after all. Thus, Johnson has not demonstrated that prior counsel 

rendered ineffective assistance with regard to this fingerprint evidence-and thus, has not 

established that Mr. Oram was in any way ineffective with regard to challenging this evidence 

or guilt-phase counsel ' s handling of it. Johnson 's claim fails. 

c. Johnson's new documents do not establish Mr. Oram was ineffective with 
regard to challenging the penalty-phase. 

The most detailed arguments and most numerous of the new supporting documentation 

Johnson brings to challenge Mr. Oram' s effectiveness primarily concern what Johnson alleges 

penalty-phase counsel should have done, as detailed in Claims 14 (mHigation via evidence of 

Johnson's life story) and 29 (mitigation/ chal1enge to death-penalty eligibility via evidence of 

Jolmson's cognitive issues). Third Petition at 175- 96. But even this allegedly new infom1ation 

does not support a finding that Mr. Oram was ineffective. 

J\. major part of Johnson ' s claim that penalty-phase counsel were ineffective is that tl1ey 

did not present the jury with Johnson 's entire life story-the inference being that Ml". Oram 

was ineffective for failure to include in the First Petition every single instance from Johnson' s 

life that penalty-phase counsef did not raise. Third Petition at 175. Johnson includes various 

affidavits from family members that purportedly support such a claim. 

However~ this Court's findings after evidentiary hear1ng-and then the Nevada 

Supreme Cowt's holdings in the post-conviction appeal-demonstrate that Mr. Oram was not 

ineffective for uarrowfog the scope of the infonnation he alleged penalty-phase counsel should 

have presented. In the prior post-conviction proceedings, both Courts held that penalty-phase 

counsel were not ineffective for not introducing much of the same infonnation Johnson now 

presents, including: "additional mitigation evidence concerning fetal alcohoJ disorder, the 

results of a Positron Emission Tomography scan and testimony from his abusive father '; and 

"all of the mitigating circumstances found by the jury at his first penalty hearing." Johnson III, 

402 P.3d at 1278- 79. The Nevada Supreme Coutt specifically held that penalty-phase 

"counsel made reasonable decisions regarding which evidence to investigate and how to 
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l present the evidence deemed worthy of presentation." Id. Further, the Court held, " [t]he jurors 

2 at the 2005 penalty hearing beard evidence concerning most of the mitigating circumstances 

3 found in the first trial and were instructed that they could find 'any other mitigating 

4 circumstance,' even if those circumstances were not specifically listed." Id. 

5 ln other words, it is already law of the case that .Johnson was not prejudiced by not 

6 having rus entire life story presented to the jury at the third penalty hearing. Evans. 117 Nev. 

7 at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519- 21; Pelle_rini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. 

8 at 396,990 P.2d at 1276 (1999); Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valerio, 112 

9 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 ev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. Penalty-phase 
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counsel's investigations were adequate and Johnson was not prejudiced by the infonnation 

they chose to present and to exclude. Though Mr. Oram did not present this claim in the exact 

same manner- choosing to examine pa11icular incidents from Johnson's life that he stated 

should have been presented to the penalty-phase jwy, rather than a general cJaim that his entire 

life story should have been presented to the jury-Johnson cannot establish that Mr. Oram 

was ineffective when be raised essentially this same issue in t11e First Petition. 

Examining the infom1ation actually presented to the penalty-phase jury-contrasted 

against the infonnation now Johnson presents- it is clear that Mr. Oram was not ineffective 

and did not mishandle th.is clai01 during the prior post-conviction proceedings. Indeed, 

penaJty-phase counsel pi-esented significant infonnation to tl1e jmy about Johnson ' s life story. 

The following was smmnarized by the Nevada Supreme Court: 

The defense again called members of Johnson's family, many of 
whom had already testified du1ing the death-eligibility phase. 
These family members, incJuding his young son, again testified 
about the positive aspects of Johnson's character and their Jove for 
him. 

Much testimony was presented regarding Johnson's jnvolvement 
with street gangs beginning when he was about 13 or 14 years old. 
Johnson jomed the Six Duece Brims gang, affiliated with tl1e 
larger Bloods gan,g, to stop the harassment of his family . A 
professor of soc10logy at the University of Calif01nia at Berkeley 
testified about gangs and provided the jmy with extensive 
sociological data. 

Several specia1ists who had worked with Jolmson also testified. 
Johnson's former parole agent for the CY A testified that he 
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supervised Johnson after his release from the juvenile program and 
found Johnson to be • a small, quiet young man that seemed to be 
pleasant and workable.'' A therapist who worked with Johnson in 
2000 at the Clark County Detention Center testified that Johnson 
"was a fairly consistent, decent person in that setting." And a 
psychologist and cJinical neuropsychologist profiled .lolm on's 
personality and summaJ"ized his life. 

Two inmates testified that they saw inmate llias fa11 over the 
second-tier balcony. Johnson's alleged accomplice in the incident, 
Reginald Johnson (no relation to the appellant), testified that he 
alone, without Johnson's participation, "assaulted [1rias] and 
helped him over the tier' because hias was a child molester. 
Reginald's former counsel confirmed that Reginald admitted to 
her that he did it. 

A retired California Department of Corrections officer testified 
about the life tl1at would be expected for an inmate sentenced to a 
term oflife without the possibility of parole in Nevada s Ely State 
P1ison. To rebut this evidence, the State called the warden of the 
Southern Dese1t CoJTectional Facility. 

Johnson TI , 122 Nev. at 1351-52, 148 P.3dat772- 73 

TI1e Court aJso descl"ibed the mitigation evidence with regard to Johnson ' s upbriDging~ 

in more detail: 

Johnson called only members of his family to testify during this 
phase. They testified that Johnson s mother, who by her own 
admission was " a little slow," abused alcohol and illegal dmgs, 
including crack cocajne and PCP, when Johnson was a child. She 
even did so in his presence. She would sometimes leave Johnson 
and his sisters alone or Jock them in a closet. Johnson's father 
abused his mother in front of JoJmson and his sisters, once 
knocking her teeth out and attempting to throw her out of a hotel 
window. Johnson was also beaten. 

At one point, Jolmson, his two sisters, and several of bi cousins 
were forced to live in a one-room shed for about a month. The 
shed had no running water, no carpet, and no furniture. The 
children had to go to the bathroom in a bucket and sleep on the 
floor with no covers. While living in the shed the children 
sometimes did not comb their hair or eat. Because they had no 
shower, the children often had to go to school with body odor. 
They were also hungry at times. 

The police were eventually contacted, and the children, includjng 
Johnson were taken into foster care. Johnson and his sisters were 
theTeafter sent to live with their grandmother, who was also caring 
for about ten other children. Johnson's grandfather1 according to 
Jolmson's sister Johnnisha Zamora, clid the best he could, but she 
could not recall any time he ever spent with Johnson. 

Jolu1son's grandmother's house was in the Compton area of Los 
Angeles) where, as Johnson's sister Johnnisha explained, there was 
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'a lot o violence.~ Johnson and his two sisters were often chased 
and beaten up at school. His sister Eunisha White testified that 
Johnson was short and that they were "picked on a lot by different 
people for no reason. ' 

Johnson's family testified about the positive aspects of his 
personality and their love for him . A video and several family 
picture were admitted into evidence. Johnson's eight-year-old son 
Allen White, who was in the third grade, read to the jmy a letter 
he wrote to his father which stated m part: "I will love you in my 
heart, and you will love me in mine." 

Id. at 13 50, 148 P Jd at 771. 

Indeed, based on this evidence, '"[s]even mitigating circumstances were found: 

Johnson's youth at the time of the murders (he was 19 years old); he was taken as a child from 

his mother due to her neglect and placed in foster care; he had 'no positive or meaningful 

contact with either parent; he had no positive male role models; he grew up in violent 

neighborhoods; he witnessed many violent acts as a child; and while a teenager he attended 

chools where violence was common." ld. 

To attempt to undennine penalty-phase counsel ' s presentation of this evidence-and, 

ostensibly, to demonstrate that Mr. Oram was ineffective in the way he handled this same 

claim- Johnson has included several new declarations from family and :friends of Johnson's 

and friends of Johnson ' s family members (Exhibits 130-41 , 213). None of these establish that 

Mr. Oram was ineffective for not obtaining these or presenting them during the first 

postconviction proceedings. Indeed, Claim 14 includes a mere rehashing, albeit with more 

details, of exactly the same life story the penalty-phase jury heard: Johnson's abuse and neglect 

at the hands of his mother and father, Johnson s placement in foster care and t11en with his 

grandmother, his childhood in violent neighborhoods his witnessing of violent incidents, and 

his joining gangs to protect his family. Id.; see also Third Petition at 175-96. In other words, 

the substance of Johnson' s "new'' informatfon was indeed presented to the penalty~phase 

jw-y-and moreover, that exact evidence was found to constitute mitigation. Jolmson. II, 122 

Nev. at 1350, 148 P.3d at 771. Yet, it was not enough mitigation to outweigh the fact that 

Johnson killed four young men. The mere fact that penalty-phase counsel did not present it in 

the exact manner as the Federal Public Defender s tvventy-page swnma1-y does not mean that 
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1 penalty-phase counsel was ineffective. Johnson cannot demonstrate that a different or more 

2 detailed presentation of this exact infonnation-which was already found to constitute 

3 mitigation-would have led to a different weighing of the aggravating and mitigating 

4 circumstances. 

5 Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for investigating and presenting a nan-ower subset 

6 of the mitigation evidence Johnson alleges should have been presented in addition to what 

7 penalty-phase counsel did present. During the first post-conviction proceedings, Mr. Oram 

8 claimed penalty-phase counsel were ineffective with regard to investigating and presenting 

9 mitigating evidence. See, M.,., Supplemental Brief, filed Oct. 12, 2009, 30-34; Second 

10 Supplemental Brief, July 14, 2010, 39-41. He challenged specific areas he believed penalty 

11 phase counsel should have explored: fetal alcohol syndrome, a PET scan to explore potential 

12 mental/cognitive issues, and the fact that 2005 penalty-µhase counsel did not introduce all the 

13 same n:iitigation evidence that the original 2000 penalty-phase counsel had introduced. In other 

14 words, in the first post-conviction proceedings, Mr. Oram narrowed down the specific 

15 information he believed should have been presented during the final penalty hearing. This was 

16 not ineffective assistance of counsel. 

17 For the same reasons, Johnson' s new documents relating to Johnson s mental state do 

18 not establish that Mr. Oram was deficient or that Johnson was prejudiced. Johnson includes a 

19 2018 psychological records review by Dr. Kate Gylwasky. Exhibit 173. However, this would 

20 not have helped Mr. Ora.m's argwnent that penalty-phase counsel were ineffective. Neither 

21 Dr. Gylwasky, nor any other doctor or expe1t, has diagnosed Johnson as intellectual disabled 

22 or as having any other mental illness. See Exhibit 143 (2000 Psycho1ogica1 Evaluation by Dr. 

23 My1a Young), 144 (1988 Psychological Evaluation by Eunice Cain) and 145 (1993 

24 Psychological Evaluation by Harold Kates). For example, the 2000 New·opsychological 

25 Report by Dr. Young states: .1Although [Johnson] demonstrates limited intellectual ability and 

26 specific brain impairment, it is imp01tant to re-emphasize that his response to testing does not 

27 suggest that he experiences a major mental disorder or a persona1ity disorder characterized by 

28 ether Narcissjstic or Borderline features." Exhibit 143 at 7 (emphasis added). Even with Dr. 
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Gylwasky ' s 2018 report, Johnson has not presented a single doctor or other expert who is able 

2 to diagnose Jolmson as inteOectuaJly disabled- and therefore ineligible for the death penalty. 

3 Nor has he argued, Jet alone proven, that this infom1ation could or should have been used for 

4 any other purpose. 

5 " [W]hile in some instances even an isolated error can suppoti an ineffective-assistance 

6 claim if it is sufficiently egregious and prejudicial, it is difficult to establish ineffective 

7 assistance when counsel' s overall perfonnance indicates active and capable advocacy." 

8 Harrin ton, 562 U .S. at 111, 13 I S. Ct. at 79 l. ot only can Johnson not point to any 

9 sufficiently egregious and prejudicial error to supp01i a claim that Mr. Oram was ineffective, 

10 Johnson has done-and indeed, cannot do- anything to undermine Mr. Oram's overall 

11 performance. The record supports Mr. Oram s "active and capable advocacy.' ld. Thus, 

12 Johnson has utterly failed to a1ticulate good cause for this untimely, successive Third Petition 

13 and his Petition is denied. 

14 

15 

Ill. BECAUSE JOHNSON'S CLAIMS ARE MERITLESS, HE WOULD 
SUFFER NO PREJUDICE IF THIS PETITION IS DENIED 

16 An answer to a petition is only required when it is the first petition filed by the 

17 petitioner. NRS 34.745(1). If the petition is a second or successive petition and if it p)ainly 

18 appears from the face of the petition and its exhibits, or from records of the court, that the 

19 petitioner is not entitled to relief, the com1 shall enter an order for its sununary dismissal. NRS 

20 34.745(4). 

21 The instant petition is Johnson's third attempt at post-conviction relief and is filed 

22 nineteen years after conviction and eleven years after affmnance of his sentence. Given the 

23 utter dearth of good cause argument, this Third Petition is woefully insufficient on its face to 

24 overcome the procedural bars. 

25 A. Most of Johnson's substantive claims are waived. 

26 As an initial matter: most of .Johnson s claims are waived. NRS 34.810(1) reads: 

27 

28 

The court shall dismi a petition if the coutt determines that: 

(b) The petitioner' s conviction was the result of a trial and 
the grounds for tl1e petition could have been: 
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(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a p1ior petition for a writ of 
habeas corpus or postconviction relief. 
unless the court finds both cause for the failure to present the 
grounds and actual prejudice to the petitioner. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that "challenges to the validity of a guilty plea 

and claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in 

postconviction proceedings .... [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must 

be pursued on direct appeal, or they wm be considered waived in subsequent proceedings." 

Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (]994) {emphasis added) 

(disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (l 999)). "A 

cout1 must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been 

presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the cou11 finds both cause for failing to present the 

claims earlier or for raising them again and actual pr~judice to the petitioner." Evans, 117 Nev. 

at 646-47, 29 P.3d at 523 . 

Specifically, Johnson s Claims 1 2, 4-13, 15- 21, 23, paii of 24, and 25- 29 all allege 

issues with the guilt and penalty phases of Johnson's trial and with the death penalty itself. In 

a reoccurring issue tluoughout this Third Petition, Jolmson seems to attempt to frame only 

some of these claims in a manner appropriate for a habeas petition- that is , as claims of 

ineffective assistance of counsel. Compare, ~, Third Petition at 3 I - 32 with 33-41. Various 

claims include a generic paragraph that counsel was 'ineffective for not raising issues-merely 

asserting the underlyjng substantive merits without any attempt to analyze the claims through 

the required Strickland lens. Without that framing, these claims are only appropriate for direct 

appeal and should have been brought at that stage. Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752 877 P.2d at I 059. 

To the extent they were not, they are waived. 

B. Johnson's substantive claims are meritless. 

To the extent Jolmson argues that his Third Petition claims are not inappropriate for a 

habeas petition because they are actually ineffective assistance of counsel claims-i.e. that his 

firnt post-conviction counsel was ineffective for not raising these arguments--such arguments 

are without me1;t. None of these claims would have been successful at triaJ or on appeal. 
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1 Counsel need not «protect himself against allegations of inadequacy [by] mak[ing] every 

2 conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." Donovan, 94 Nev . 

3 at 675, 584 P.2d at 711 (ciiing Cooper, 551 F.2d at 1166 (9tl1 Cir. 1977)). Indeed counsel 

4 cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections, file futile motions, or for 

5 failing to make futile arguments. Ennis v. State. 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P3d 1095, 1103 

6 (2006). Because trial and/or appellate counsels were not ineffective for not raising any of the 

7 meritless claims below, post-conviction counsel was not ineffective for not raising them and 

8 Johnson ' s claim fa ils. 

9 1. Claim One: Jury Selection 

10 In this ground, Johnson alleges his jury selection process was unconstitutional due to a 

11 Batson violation, an unconstitutional jmy venire, a denial of his for-cause challenges, and 

12 cumulative error he alleges counsel was ineffective for not raising these issues. Third Petition 

13 at 17- 32. However, Johnson admits that this cJaim was previously raised and denied in his 

14 first post-conviction appeal. Third Petition at 11. Therefore, it is baned by the doctrine of law 

15 of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43 , 28 P.3d at 519- 21. Pelle0 rini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 

16 P.3d at 535 ; McNelton, 115 Nev . at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999) Hall, 91 Nev. at 315- 16, 

17 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev . at 952, 860 

18 P .2d at 710. Because Johnson does not a11ege that any pa11s of this claim cover new grounds. 

19 this entire claim is summarj)y dismissed. Third Petition at I 2. 

20 2. Claim Two: Juror Misconduct - Guilt Phase 

21 In this groun4 Johnson alleges guilt-phase and penalty phase juror misconduct, 

22 including exposure to pretrial publicity. Third Petition at 33-38. As an initial matter, as 

23 discussed in Section Ill(A , supra, this claim is framed solely as comt en-or, not ineffective 

24 assistance of counsel. Framed as court error, it was appropriate for direct appeal, and there is 

25 no good cause for entertaining it in a successive petition. FrankJin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d 

26 at 1059. Johnson fails to allege what counsel did or did not do with regard to these alleged 

27 juror issues or how those actions would have changed the outcome of the case. 

28 
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Further, Johnson admits that this claim was previously raised in part and denied in his 

2 first direct appeal. Third Petition at _10. Indeed, Johnson raised a claim of private juror 

3 communications and exposure to media coverage in that appeal. Johnson I, lJ 8 Nev. at 796-

4 97, 59 P.3d at 456- 57. The Nevada Supreme Court specifically held that fujs Court did not eIT 

5 in denying Johnson ' s motion for new trial based on the very misconduct Johnson now 

6 complains about, because the conduct-even if it occuJTed during both guilt and penalty 

7 phases-was not prejudicial. Id. Therefore, this fasue is barred by the doctrine of law of the 

8 case. Evans 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519-21. Pelle~rini , 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 

9 535; Mc elton, l J 5 Nev. at 396 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315- 16, 535 P.2d 

10 at 798-99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 ev. at 952 860 P.2d at 

11 710. 

12 Though Johnson alleges this issue was raised only " in partn in his first direct appeal it 

13 is clear t11at no part of this claim covers new grounds. Third Petition at 12. The only piece of 

14 information that may not have been raised on direct appeal is one juror's ''elevator incident"; 

15 but Johnson admits that this Court knew and in fact interviewed that juror about the incident 

16 before it denied Johnson's motion for new trial in 2000. Third Petition at 33- 35. The two new 

17 declarations from guilt-phase jurors Ashley Wan-en and Hans Weding do not supp011 

18 Johnson ' s wild claim that any juror Hharassed'~ or' intimidated" any other or that anyone had 

19 been bribed. Third Petition at 36; Exhibits 188, 195. And the new declaration from guilt-phase 

20 juror John Young does not do anytl1ing other than reveal information about the jurors' thought 

21 processes as they deliberated : for example, their common-sense observations about how 

22 Johnson s semen was deposited on the pair of jeans on which one victim's blood was also 

23 found- the possible explanation for which, as Young discusses, Johnson's girJ:friend testified 

24 to in that she and Johnson were sexually active after the murders. Exhibit 189. Even assuming 

25 this Cow1 chooses to construe this waived claim as a valjd habeas c1aim of ineffective 

26 assistance of counsel, neither counsel was deficient for 1 nor did prejudice result from, not 

27 adding these allegations of juror misconduct to a juror misconduct claim the Nevada Supreme 

28 
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I Cou11 rejected on direct appeal. Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot establish that 

2 he would be prejudiced if this claim were dismissed per the mandatory procedural bar. 

3 3. Claim Three: Ineffective Assistance of Counsel - Guilt-Phase 

4 1n this grow1d Jolmson alleges that his guilt-phase counsel was ineffective, including 

5 for failure to present expe11 testimony (3(A)), to impeach (3(B)), to cross-examine (3(C)), to 

6 acknowledge the VCR (3(D)), to move to dismiss kidnapping (3(E)), to object to hearsay 

7 (3(f)), and to object to improper references to the trial phases (3(0)). Third Petition at 42- 87. 

8 Again, this is one of the few grounds that is not waived. See Section III, Intro, supra~ NRS 

9 34.810(1); Franklin1 110 Nev. at 752 877 P.2d at 1059. However, Johnson admits that 

10 subsections 3(E) and (F) of this claim were previously raised and denied in his first 

11 postconviction appeal. Third Petition at I 1. lndeed, in that appeal, tl1e Nevada Supreme Court 

12 held that guilt-phase counsel was not ineffective for not moving to dismiss the kidnapping 

13 charge and that appe11ate counse1 was not ineffective for failing to raise guilt-phase counsel's 

14 lack of object to hearsay. Johnson Ill, 133 Nev. at_, 402 P.3d at 1276-77. Though Jolmson 

15 does not explain whether subsection 3(G) constitutes new grounds, on post-conviction appeal, 

16 the Nevada Supreme Court also held that counsel was not ineffective for failure to challenge 

17 the State s references to the "phases" of trial. ld. Therefore, subsections 3(E), (F), and (G) are 

18 ban-ed by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519- 21. 

19 Pellecgrini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 

20 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798-99; Valerio 112 Nev. at 386,915 P.2d at 

21 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952,860 P.2d at 710. 

22 Johnson alleges subsections 3(A) to (D) cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. 

23 a. 3(A): Experts 

24 There are strategic reasons not to present such expe1ts-for example if it would be 

25 fruitless, or harmful to the defense. Hanington, 562 U.S. at 108, 131 S. Ct. at 789- 90. To 

26 establish resulting prejudice the 'likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just 

27 conceivable." Id. at 112, 131 S. Ct. at 792. 

28 
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1 Regarding an expe1t on police coercion and witness reliability, it would have been 

2 fruitless and possibly even hannful to claim that there were only statements made against 

3 Johnson due to the type of conspiracy-theory police coercion that would have resulted in false 

4 statements and testimony from six separate witnesses. Third Petition at 43- 61; Exhibit 17 5. 

5 Regardless, Johnson cannot even demonstrate that the allegedly coercive methods were used; 

6 he simply claims that they were "likely" used.'~ Third Petition at 43. Thus, there is no 

7 'substantial likelihood~' that a jury would have been convinced by such spurious evidence-

8 particularly in d1e case of what the Nevada Supreme Court described as "overwhelming 

9 evidence" against Johnson. Harrin(rton, 562 U.S. at 112, 131 S. Ct. at 792; Johnson I, 118 Nev. 

10 at 791 - 93, 797, 59 P.3d at 453-54, 457. Counsel had strategic reasons topw-sue other, stronger 

11 defenses. 

l2 Regarding an expett on blood spatter, even if it were somehow revealed that victim 

13 Gorringe s blood djd not make its way onto Johnson s pants directly from a gunshot wound, 

14 it does not in any way demonstrate that Johnson was not the shooter-let alone that he was 

15 not at the scene. Third Petition at 62-67. Even the new expe1t rep01t states only that the type 

16 of shootings that took place here would lead to "a possible spatter producing event. ' Exhibit 

17 177 (emphasis added). Futiher, as Johnson admits, guilt-phase counsel had the underlying 

1 8 infonnation about the blood spatter during ttial and elected not to use it- suggesting a 

19 conscious, strategic choice not to do so. Third Petition at 66. Again, Johnson himself confessed 

20 to multiple witnesses that he killed fom people. Johnson I, 118 Nev . at 791-93, 797, 59 P.3d 

21 at 453-54, 457· see also Exhibit 50 (Severs statement). Counsel was oot deficient for not 

22 presenting such a fruitless expert, nor can Johnson demonstrate a 'substantial likelihood" that 

23 this expe1t would have led to a different outcome. Hanimrton, 562 U.S. at I 12, 131 S.Ct. at 

24 792 

25 b. 3(B): Impeachment 

26 "Strategic choices '-such as "deciding if and when to object, which witnesses. if any, 

27 to call, and what defenses to develop' -"made after d1orough investigation of law and facts 

28 relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable.'" Strickland, 466 U.S . at 691 , 104 
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S. Ct. at 2064; Rhyne, I 18 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. While Johnson points out at length the 

2 various inconsistencies in witnesses statements, he does not actually explain what questions 

3 counsel failed to ask- or even what questions counsel did ask and how they were deficient. 

4 Third Petition at 68- 73. Thus, even in the virtually w1chal1engeable area of strategic whness 

5 questioning, Johnson has put forth no argument. As such this is a bare and naked claim and 

6 should be dismissed. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. 

7 c. 3(C): Cross-Examination 

8 As witl1 subsection 3(B), cross-examination falls under the type of strategic choice that 

9 is "virtually unchallengeable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 104 S. Ct. at 2064; Rbyne, 118 

10 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. And again, Johnson fails to establish how guilt-phase counsel 

LI cross-examination of the State's fingerprint, firearms, forensic pathology, and DNA witnes es 

12 was specifically deficient and/or how it prejudiced him. Third Petition at 74-81. In fact , 

13 cow1sel conducted a thorough cross-examination of the State s fingerprint, firearms and 

14 forensic pathology witnesses. Transcript June 7, 2000, IJI-295-99· June 8, 2000, IV-26- 37, 

15 IV-57-58. 

16 Regarding the finge1vrint expe11, Johnson merely makes tl1e blanket statements that 

17 counsel did not ask the specific questions he demands counsel should have asked-without 

18 citing the trfal transcript even once, to verify what questions counsel did ask these witnesses 

19 and discuss exactly how it was deficient. As discussed in Section II, supra, Johnson has 

20 included a new finge1vrint analysis by Matthew Marvi- but in combination with Johnson 's 

21 lack of argument about what difference it would have made had counsel cross-examined the 

22 State's fingerprint expert in a different maimer this repm1 does not demonstrate that guiltphase 

23 counsel was ineffective. Exhibit 179. Regarding the fireanns expert Johnson 's own petition 

24 undermines that the cross-examination was ineffective; counsel asked "'about the absence in 

2 5 evidence of the gun that fired the bullets in tJ1is case. '' 171ird Petition at 77. That is, counsel 

26 pointed out that the four cartridges the witness examined came from an "unknown" firearm 

27 and that the firearms expe1t had not examined any firearms in this case. Transcript, June 8, 

28 2000, IV-57- 58. Thus, the doubts Johnson nm;i,, claim should have been planted in the jury s 
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1 mind about this evidence were in fact planted. Regarding the forensic pathology expert, 

2 Johnson makes no attempt at explaining, whether the gunshot wounds were infl icted from two 

3 inches or two feet away, what difference it would have made in the outcome-thus failing to 

4 establish prejudice. Regarding the DNA evidence, Johnson merely claims that tenns like 

5 "certafo" are no longer acceptable when discussing foren ic evidence without any attempt at 

6 explaining how the more current terms like "within a reasonable degree of certainty" would 

7 have made a different result at trial any more likely- again faiHng to establish prejudice. 

8 d. 3(0): VCR 

9 As with subsection 3(B) and (C), whether to object falls under the type of strategic 

10 choice that is "vi1iually unchallengeable. ' Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 , 104 S. Ct. at 2064; 

11 Rhyne, l 18 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. Guilt-phase counsel was in no way deficient for not 

12 challenging the VCR allegedly still inside the house where Johnson mw-<lered four young men 

13 because even now, Johnson does not-and cannot--claim that it was the same VCR as that 

14 alleged to be missing from the home and d1at was in fact found in Johnson' s possession. 

15 Johnson I, 118 Nev. at 791 - 93 , 797, 59 P.3d at 453-54, 457. Further, the crime scene report 

16 Johnson references explicitly calls the equipment Johnson c1aims was still in the home a 

17 "VCR, multi-play compact disk.' Third Petition at 83 . These are in fact two separate things: 

18 VCRs play video-cassette tapes· compact disk ("'CD") players play compact disks. The 

19 presence of the CD player Johnson references does not undermine the fact that a VCR was 

20 missing from the murder-scene and then found in Johnson' s possession. Jt was not objectively 

21 umeasonable not to challenge this evidence. Regardless , Jolmson cannot establish prejudice 

22 because he fails to take into account the other things that were missing from the murder-scene 

23 and then found in Johnson ' s possession-including the video game system. Johnson I, 118 

24 Nev. -at 791-93, 797 59 P.3d at 453- 54, 457. Thus, even if it weTe discovered that the VCR 

25 were not the same, Johnson cannot explain how a more favorable outcome would have been 

26 Jikely. 

27 Because guilt-phase cow1sel was in no way ineffective regarding any of these four 

28 trialstrategy issues, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues in tl1e first 
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postconviction proceedings , Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot establish that he 

2 would be prejudiced if this claim were dismissed per the mandat0ty procedural bars. 

3 4. Claim Four~ Jury Instructions - GuiJty Phase 

4 In this ground, Johnson alleges the trial cou1i gave deficient jury instructions during the 

5 guilt phase of trial, including as to reasonable doubt ( 4(A)), premeditation and deliberation 

6 ( 4(B)), conspiracy ( 4(C)) aiding and abetting ( 4(0)) failure to instrnct on malice ( 4(E)), 

7 felony musder (4(F)), presumption of intent in burglary (4(G)). murder and kidnapping as 

8 predicates of one another ( 4(H)), and elements of kidnapping ( 4(1)). Third Petition at 88-99. 

9 As an initial matter, as discussed in Section lll(A), supra, pa11s of this claim are framed solely 

10 as Court eJTor, not ineffective assistance of counsel. Compare, ~ , Third Petition at 104-05 

1 I (Claim 5(A)(l)) to Third Petition at 106--08 (Claim 5(A)(2)). Though Johnson attempts to tack 

12 a genetic paragraph to the conclusion of Claim 4, stating in general that counsel was ineffective 

13 for faiJing to object and that a more favorable outcome was likely if he had so objected, 

14 Johnson does not actually make Strickland arguments specific to each claim. Third Petition at 

15 103. Framed as CourteITor, this claim was appropriate for direct appeat and there is no good 

16 cause for entertaining it in a successive petition. Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059. 

17 In several of these subsections, Jolmson fails to alJege what counsel did or did not do with 

18 regard to the jmy instructions or how those actions would have changed the outcome of the 

19 case. 

20 Fwther, Johnson admits that subsections (B) through (E), and sub ection (A) in prui, of 

21 this clafo1 were previously raised and denied in his fi rst direct and first post-conviction appeals. 

22 Third Petition at 10- 11. Indeed the Nevada Supreme Cmu1 found on direct appeal that the 

23 reasonable doubt instruction was sufficient. Johnson I, 118 Nev. at 806, 59 P.3d at 462. The 

24 Comt then found on post-conviction appeal that counsel was not ineffective with regard to the 

25 reasonable doubt and premeditation and deliberation instructions because they were sufficient, 

26 that counsel was not ineffectjve with regard to the conspiracy instructjon and aiding and 

27 abetting instrnctjons because Johnson was not charged with kidnapping as a conspirator, and 

28 that any Jack of express and implied malice instmction did not prejudice Johnson. Johnson ll1 , 
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133 Nev. at_, 402 P.3d at 1277- 78. Therefore, these subsections are barred by the doctrine 

2 oflaw of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519- 21. Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 884, 

3 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at l 276 ( 1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-

4 16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99 ; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev . at 952 

5 860 P.2d at 710. 

6 Johnson alleges subsections 4(F) to (J) cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. Section 

7 4(J) merely asserts cumulative eJTor; but as there was no error, that claim is irrelevant. 

8 District courts have ''broad discretion" with regard to j w-y instructions. C011inas v. 

9 State, 124 Nev. 1013J 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 3 19 (2008). District courts ' decisions settlingjury 

10 instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Crawford v. State, 121 Nev . 746, 748 

11 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2003). Fmiher, even if there is any error regarding instructions, it may be 

12 hannless. lnstructional errors are ham,less when it is ';clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a 

13 rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error, ' and the error is not the 

14 type that would undermine ce1tainty in the verdict. We , 1er v.State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155- 56, 

15 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000), ovenu1ed on other grow1ds, Rosas v. State l22 Nev. 1258, 147 P.3d 

16 1101 (2006); see also NRS 178.598. 

I 7 a. 4(F): Felony M.urdei· 

18 Johnson s complaint about the felony mw·der instruction he quotes- Instruction 40-

19 is without merit. Third Petition at 93- 95; Exhibit 67 at 40. That insuuction simply states that 

20 if a murder is committed in the perpetration of robbery or kidnapping it is murder of the first 

21 degree; premeditation and malice aforethought need not be separately proven. Exhibit 67 at 

22 40. This is accw·ate. NRS 200.030(1 )(b). Felony murder was further explained- including the 

23 causation test-in Instluction 41. Exhibit 67 at 4J . E ven if there were a more elegant way to 

24 phrase it, there is no prejudice. The district court did not abuse its broad discretion in issuing 

25 the relevant felony murder instructions . Crawford 121 Nev. at 748, 121 P.3d at 585. Fmiher, 

26 J olmson was found guilty of robbe1y and kidnapping. Thus, felony murder wou Id have been a 

27 properly theory for first-degree murder. Thus~ the instruction in no way undennjnes the 

28 verdict, making any error hannless. Werner, 116 Nev. at 1155-56 14 P.3d at 30. Thus, guilt 
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phase counse] was not deficient for not objecting to this instruction, and appellate counsel was 

2 not ineffective for not chaJlenging it. 

3 b. 4(G): Presumption of Intent in Burglary 

4 Johnson's complaint about the burglary instruction he quotes-Instruction 8-is 

5 without merit. Third Petition at 95-96. Contrary to Johnson's assertion the instruction 

6 contains no "presumption ." It merely states that a defendant "may reasonably be infened to 

7 have entered with' the requisite intent. Exhibit 67 at 8 ( emphasis added). Indeed the 

8 instrnction required the jury to infer, and reasonably-and at that. only if other evidence did 

9 not exp]ain that the entry was lawful. Id. No "presumed of fact" instructfon was necessary 

10 because an inference and a presumption are not the same thing. The district cow1 did not abuse 

l l its broad discretion in issuing the relevant burglary instruction. Crawford, 121 Nev. at 748, 

12 121 P.3d at 585. Thus, guilt-phase counsel was not deficient for not objecting to this 

13 instruction and appellate counsel was not ineffective for not challenging it. 

14 c. 4(H): Murder/Kidnapping Predicates 

15 Johnson 's complaint that the jury was not instructed that it could not find both first 

16 degree kidnapping predicated on murder and also find felony murder predicated on kidnapping 

17 is without merit. Third Petition at 96-98. lt is unlikely trial or appelJate counsel could have 

18 established that this Coui1 abuse its broad discretion in issuing the relevant instructions. 

19 Crawford, 121 Nev. at 748, 121 P.3d at 585. Even assuming Johnson ' s argument is correct, 

20 that these two c1imes could not be predicates of each other and the jury should have been so 

21 instructed~ Johnson admits that only 1'one of the kidnapping theories" was kidnapping' for the 

22 purpose of committing ... murder." Third Petition at 96 (emphasis added). The other theories 

23 offered in Instrnction 26 incJuded that kidnapping "for the purpose of conu11i1ting . .. robbery 

24 upon or from the person" was also first-degree kidnapping. Exhibit 67 at 26. Likewise, as 

25 discussed supra, felony murder was also chru·ged with robbe1y as a predicate. Section 

26 1ll(B)(4)(a). Johnson was, in fact, convicted of robbery. Johnson I, 118 Nev. at 798, 59 P.3d 

27 at 457. This satisfies the other first-degree kidnapping theories. Thus, there was 110 prejudice, 

28 and counsel was not ineffective for not challenging this instruction. Further, due to that 
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1 robbery conviction, a rational jw-y would have convicted Johnson even without this alleged 

2 en:or1 and the in truction in no way undermines the verdict; thus, any error was hannless. 

3 Wegner, 116 Nev. at 1155- 56, 14 P.3d at 30. Thus, appellate counsel was not-ineffective for 

4 not raising it. 

5 d. 4(1): Elements of Kidnapping 

6 Johnson ' s complaint that the jury was not instructed on all elements of kidnapping is 

7 without merit. Third Petition at 96- 98. Even assuming Johnson' s argument that the word 

8 "substantial' should have been included in the instrnction the Nevada Supreme Comt has 

9 already determined that counsel was not ineffective for not cha11enging the kidnapping 

l O conviction- and held that Johnson had not demonstrated that the kidnapping was incidental 

11 to the robbery. Johnson Ill, 133 Nev, at __, 402 P.3d at 1277. ln otl1er words, a rational jury 

12 would have convicted Johnson of kidnapping even without this alleged error, and the 

13 instruction in no way undennines the verdict; thus, any eITor was harmless. We~ner, 116 Nev. 

14 at 1155- 56, 14 P.3d at 30. Because trial and appellate counsel were in no way ineffective 

15 regarding any of these four jury-instmction issues, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not 

16 raising these issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success 

17 Johnson cannot establish that he would be pn:~_judiced if this claim were dismissed per the 

18 mandatory procedural bars. 

19 ' 5. Claim Five: P1·osecutorial Misconduct- Guilty Phase 

20 111 this ground Johnson alleges prosecutorial misconduct, including improper argument 

21 and discovery i sues. Third Petition at 104-20. As an initial matter, as discussed in Section 

22 Ill(A), supra parts of this claim are framed solely as State e1Tor not ineffective assistance of 

23 counsel. Compare, ·U , Third Petition at 104-05 (Claim 5(A)(l)) to Third Petition at 106- 08 

24 (Claim 5(A)(2)). Though Jolmson attempts to tack a generic paragraph to the conclusion of 

25 Claim 5, stating in general that counsel was ineffective for fa iling to object and that a more 

26 favorable outcome was likely ifhe had so objected, Johnson does not actually make StrickJand 

27 arguments pecific to each claim. Thi.rd Petition at 120. Framed as State error, this claim was 

28 appropriate for direct appeal, and there is no good cause for ente1taining it in a successive 
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1 petition. Franklfo, 110 Nev. at 7 52, 877 P.2d at 1059. Jn several of these subsections Johnson 

2 fails to allege what counsel did or did not do with regard to the State's alleged misconduct or 

3 how those actions wouJd have changed the outcome of the case. 

4 Further, Johnson admits that this claim was previously raised in part and denied in his 

5 first post-conviction appeal. Trurd Petition at 11 . Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Comt found: 

6 that appellate counsel was not ineffective for not challenging the prosecutor's question 

7 whether a potential juror "had the intestinal fortitude to issue a death verdict and arguing 

8 further dangerousness." because counsel did not object and, in context, the comment did not 

9 constitute plain en-or; and that the State did not commit misconduct 'by vouching for the 

IO State s witnesses commenting on facts not in evidence, making a golden rule argument1 

11 failing to disclose witness benefits, and using the term ' guilt phase. "Johnson III , 133 Nev. at 

12 ___, 402 P.3d at 1275-77. Further, though Johnson does not infom1 this Comi of this fact 

13 Johnson also raised a claim of inconsistent prosecutorial theories in his direct appeal , which 

14 the Nevada Supreme Court denied, noting that the State at first put fo1tb tlu-ee theories but 

15 then properly abandoned one when this Comt rejected it. Johnson I, 118 Nev. at 798-99, 59 

16 P.3d at 457-58. Therefore, these claims are barred by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans 

17 117Nev.at641-43 28P.3dat519-21.Pelle~rini, 117Nev.at884 34P.3dat535; Mc eJton, 

18 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315- 16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; 

19 Valerio, l 12 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. 

20 Johnson alleges pa1ts of Claim 5 cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. However, 

21 Johnson does not specify which parts these are. It is the responsibility of the party making the 

22 argwnent to provide relevant authority and cogent argument, and when a party fails to 

23 adequately brief the issue, it will not be addressed. Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 672- 73 , 

24 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) . Fmther, the appe11ate comi cannot con. ider matters not properly 

25 appearing in the record on appeal. Tabish v. State, 119 Nev. 293, 296, 72 P .3d 584, 586 (2003 ). 

26 See also Edwards v. Em eror's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n .38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 

27 n.38 (2006) (stating that the court need not consider claims that are not cogently argued or 

28 
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I supported by relevant authority); B vford v. State, 116 Nev. 215,225,994 P.2d 700, 707 (2000) 

2 (jssue unsupp01ied by cogent argument wa1Tants no relief). 

3 Because Johnson has fai1ed to disclose, specifically, which of his allegations of 

4 guiltphase prosecutorial misconduct have already been decided by the Nevada Supreme 

5 Comt- and are thus law of the case-this Court should not consider any oftl1ese arguments. 

6 Nonetheless a thorough review of this Third Petition and-of the three Nevada Supreme Comi 

7 decisions regarding his case reveal that Johnson s "new" grounds are these: that, somehow, 

8 the prosecutor showing the jury photographs of the white victims and then showing the jury 

9 photographs of the black co-defendants "appealed to the racial biases" of the jurors· that the 

IO prosecutor "appealed to the passions of the jurors': by revealing the victims' ages and by 

11 eliciting from a witness that blood-stained items are deposited in biohazard bags; that the 

12 prosecutor claimed the evidence of guilt wou]d be "overwhelming' '; and that the State 

13 committed discovery violations. Third Petition at 106- 08, 112-15, 118-20. 

14 In resolving claims of prosecutoria.1 misconduct, this Comt undertakes a two-step 

15 analysis: deteimining whether the comments were improper; and deciding whether the 

16 comments were sufficient to deny the defendant a fair trial. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. J 172, 

17 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests 

18 upon a defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently 

19 prejudicial.' " Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 13 16, 1328, 905 P .2d 706, 713 (1995) ( citing Libb v. 

20 State, 109 Nev. 905, 911 , 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (I 993)) . This is based on a defendant 's right 

21 to have a fair trial, not a pe1fect one. Ross v. State, 106 Nev. 924, 927~ 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 

22 (1990). The Nevada Supreme Court views ihe statements in context, and it wilJ not lightly 

23 overtum a jury 's verdict based upon a prosecutor' s statements. Byars v. State, 130 Nev. _, 

24 _, 336 P.3d 939, 950- 51 (2014). Notably , statements by a prosecutor, in argument. .. made 

25 as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are penuissible and 

26 unobjectionable." Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 392 849 P.2d I 062, I 068 (1993) (quoting 

27 ColJins v. State, 87 Nev. 436, 439 488 P.2d 544,545 (1971)). 

28 
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1 Johnson's accusations of appealing to passions and racial biases arc risible. The State's 

2 factual descriptions of the victims and witnesses- names, appearance , and age -do not 

3 constitute misconduct. Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Court has already found that the sentence 

4 of death was not "imposed under the influence of passion. prejudice, or any arbitrary factor: 

5 Johnson 11. 122 Nev. at 1359, 148 P.3d ta 777. Even on the merits Johnson does not explain 

6 bow merely showing photographs of the victims and co-defendants and desc1ihing the 

7 pe1petrators-when identification is a crucial element of every c1ime-is improper, let alone 

8 patently prejudicial." Riker, 111 Nev. at 1328, 905 P.2d at 713. Nor was disclosing the 

9 victims' ages. Id. Indeed, in this argument, Johnson utterly ignores the fact that t.he Nevada 

10 Supreme Court has already held that "describing the victims as kids was not improper given 

11 their youth:· Johnson 111, 122 Nev. at 1356, 148 P.3d at 776 (citing Johnson II, 402 P.3d at 

12 1277). Further when the aliases used by the co-defendants are put in context) the jury needed 

13 to know those aliases in order to follow the testimony of various witnesses who called the 

14 codefendants by these aliases. Byars, 130 Nev. at_ 336 P.3d at 950-51. 

15 Next, as the Nevada Supreme Cout1 found on the first direct appeal, the evidence of 

16 Johnson s guilt was, in fact, overwhelming . .Johnson I, 118 Nev, at 791-93, 797, 59 P.3d at 

17 453-54, 457. In the context of all the evidence, then, the Statt: s comment was not only a fair 

18 conclusion based on the evidence but could not have denied Jolmson a fair trial. Parker, 109 

19 Nev. at 392, 849 P.2d at 1068; Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. 

20 Wit11 regard to discovery, Johnson does not actually allege tliat be did not receive the 

21 infonnation-just that he obtained some of it on his own and that it was not "timely' received. 

22 As the defense was clearly capable of obtaining this information~ this rebuts any Brady 

23 argument. Rippo, 113 Nev. at 1257, 946 P.2d at 1028; See also Section Il(C), supra. Fu1ther, 

24 how a more "timely ' disclosure would have made a difference in the outcome, Johnson does 

25 not explain. 

26 Absent any chance of success on appeal, appellate counse) was in no way ineffective 

27 regarding any of these four alleged prosecutorial misconduct issues. Thus, Mr. Oram was not 

28 ineffective for not raising these issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any 
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chance of success, Johnson cannot establish that he would be prejudiced if this claim were 

2 dismissed per the mandatory procedural bars. 

3 6. Claim Six: Trial Court Error - Guilt Phase 

4 In th.is ground, Johnson alleges the Comi e1Ted dur ing the first trial , including in 

5 evidentiary ruJings, in handling of direct and cross-examinations and in questioning jurors. 

6 Third Petition at 121 - 35. As an initial matter, as discussed in Section llI(A), supra, pa1is of 

7 this claim are framed solely as Court en-or, not ineffective assistance of counsel. Com mre 

8 ~ Third Petition at 121-22 (CJaim 6(A)) to Third Petition at 122- 23 (Claim 6(B)). Though 

9 Johnson attempts to tack a generic paragraph to the conclusion of Claim 6, stating in general 

10 that counsel was ineffective for faiJing to object and that a more favorable outcome was li kely 

11 if he had so objected, Johnson does not actually make Strickland arguments specific to each 

12 claim. Framed as Court error, this claim was appropriate for direct appeal , and there is no good 

13 cause for ente11aining it in a successive petition. Franklin, 110 Nev . at 7 52 i 877 P .2d at 1059. 

14 In several of these subsections Johnson fails to allege what counsel did or did not do with 

15 regard to the State ' s alleged misconduct or how those actions would have changed the outcome 

16 of the case. 

17 Further, Johnson admits that subsections (A), (D), and (E) of this claim, and subsectjons 

I 8 (B) and (C) in part, were previously raised and denied in his first direct and post-conviction 

19 appeals. Third Petition at 10- 11. Indeed, in his first direct appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court 

20 r ejected Johnson ' s claim that this Cout1 en-ed in various evidential)' respects-such as in 

2 1 aJlowing the prosecution to admit evidence of other weapons- and that Arn1strong had not 

22 been "aggressively cross-examined." Johnson I, 118 Nev. at 793 795- 96, 59 _P.3d at 454-56. 

23 The Court also rejected Johnson' s argument of unnecessarily gruesome autopsy photos in ]tis 

24 post-conviction appeal. Johnson 111, 133 Nev. at _, 402 P.3d at 1276. Therefore, these 

25 subsections are barred by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641--43, 28 P.3d 

26 at 519--2 I. Pelle!!Jini , 117 ev. at 884, 34 P .3d at 53 5; McNelton, lJ 5 Nev. at 396, 990 P .2d 

27 at 1276 (1999), Hall , 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798-99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 

28 P.2d at 876 · Hogan, 109Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. 
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Johnson alleges Claims 6(F) to (H) cover new ground. Third Petition at 12 . With regard 

2 to trial, a judge retains wide latitude regarding the decision to admit or exclude evidence. See 

3 McLellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008). Such decisions are reviewed for 

4 abuse of discretion. McLellan, 124 Nev. at 267, 182 P.3d at 109. However, such discretion 

''should not be distrnbed [ on] appeal absent a showing that the district court was manifestly 

6 wrong when it allowed the admission of this evidence." Crawford v. State, 107 ev. 345, 353 , 

7 811 P.2d67, 72 (1991) (emphasis added). 

8 a. 6(F): Expe1·t Testimony 

9 Johnson ' s complaint about the State ' s expert' s testimony is without merit. Third 

IO Petition at 130- 31 . The testimony was not speculative"; it was an expert offering explanation 

11 as to how a paiticular blunt-fmce wound was inflicted, based on his expe1tise as a forensic 

12 pathologist. Johnson cannot establish that this Court abused its discretion or was manifestly 

13 wronginadmittingthisevidence.McLellan, 124 Nev. at 267, l82P.3dat 109;Crawford, 107 

)4 Nev. at 353, 811 P.2d at 72. Indeed, as Johnson admits, this Comt ovenuled the defenses 

15 objection to this evidence. Third Petition at 130. Appellant counsel would J1ave had no chance 

16 of success on appeal and therefore was not ineffective for not raising the issue. 

I 7 b. 6(G): Victim/Defendant Pl1otographs 

18 Johnson ' s complaint about the photographs of the victims and the co-defendants shown 

19 at trial is without merit. Third Petition at 131 - 32. As discussed in Section III(B)(S), supra, 

20 there was no issue with the State s use oftJ1e photos. Johnson cannot establish that this Comt 

21 abused its discretion or was manifestly wrong in admitting this evidence. McLellan, 124 Nev. 

22 at 267, l 82 P.3d at J 09; Crawford, J 07 Nev . at 353, 811 P.2d at 72. Again, as Johnson admits, 

23 this Cou1t overruled the defense 's objection to this evidence. Third Petition at 132. Appella11t 

24 counsel would have had no chance of success on appeal and therefme was not ineffective for 

2 5 not raising the issue. 

26 c. 6(H): Court Questioning Jurors 

27 Johnson ' s complaint about this Court's questioning of jurors is without merit. Third 

28 Petition at 132-35. Any claim regarding the 2000 penalty phase is utterly iITelevant. That jury 
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I was hung as to the issue of whether to impose the death penalty. Johnson received a brand 

2 new, final penalty hearing before a jury in 2005. Any challenges to the 2000 penalty hearing 

3 would have no chance of success on appeal because it is not- and never has been-the 

4 contro1ling penaJty bearing and because any issues with it were cured by the fact that Johnson 

5 was given a new penalty bearing in 2005. 

6 Absent any chance of success on appeal appellate counsel was in no way ineffective 

7 regarding any of these alleged Court errors. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising 

8 these issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success Johnson 

9 cannot establish that he would be prejudiced if this claim were distuissed per the mandatory 

10 procedural bars. 

11 7. Claim Seven: Discovery Issues 

12 ln this ground, Johnson alleges the State failed to disclose or timely disclose, ce11ain 

13 evidence. Third Petition at 136-40. Jolmson admits that subsection (A) of this claim was 

14 previously raised and denied in his first post-conviction appeal. Third Petition at 11. Therefore 

15 it is barred by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 1J7 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519-21. 

16 Pellefilini, J J 7 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 

17 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 

18 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 7 I 0. 

19 Johnson alleges Claims 7(8) to (E) cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. However, 

20 as discussed in response to Johnson ' s good cause arguments, Johnson has not established a 

21 Brady violation- including as to investigator Baldonado' s eventual criminal conviction, the 

22 forensic evidence, or the defense expert's own blood spatter expert's report. See Section II(C), 

23 supra . Johnson has not established that any of this infonnation wa withheld by the State, that 

24 the defense could not obtain it with rea onable diligence, or that it w~s even material. Id.; see 

25 also Rippo, 113 Nev. at 1257, 946 P .2d at l 028. Any Brady vio]ation claim would not have 

26 been successful either at trial or on appeal. Thus even if this Cowi construes this claim as 

27 one suitable for a habeas petition- given the aforementioned lack of analysis of this claim 

28 
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1 through the StrickJand lens, see Section III(A), supra-post-conviction counsel was not 

2 ineffective for not raising this claim. 

3 8. Claim Eight: Double Jeopardy - Lesser-Included Offenses 

4 ln this grow1d, Johnson alleges violations of the Double Jeopardy Clause in that ce11ain 

5 offenses were lesser-included in those of which he was convicted. Third Petition at 141-46. 

6 This is one of Johnson's few claims that was not previously raised at least in part. See Third 

7 Petition at 10-11. However, Johnson' s argwnent is utterly meritless. It boils down to a 

8 complaint that if a defendant is convicted of both felony murder and of the predicate felony 

9 (e.g., botl1 first-degree murder and the kidnapping during which that murder took place), then 

10 a double jeopardy violation has occwTed- that the predicate felony is a "lesser-included 

11 offense" of the felony murder. 

12 However, as Johnson admits, the Nevada Supreme Com1 expressly rejected this 

13 argument in Talancon v. State, 102 Nev. 294, 297-301, 721 P.2d 764, 766-69 (1986). As th.is 

14 Cmn1 has no supervisory authority over the Nevada Supreme Coui1 and ca1mot ovenule its 

15 precedent, guilt-phase counsel was not ineffective for not raising this argument, which is in 

16 direct contradiction to Nevada law. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43 , 28 P.3d at 519- 21. Appellate 

17 counsel was not ineffective for raising it because it would be a fruitless request to ask the Court 

18 to ove11urn its precedent that, at the time of Johnson' s conviction, was on]y fourteen years old. 

19 Thus, even if this Court constmes this claim as one suitable for a habeas petition- given the 

20 aforementioned lack of analysis of this cJaim through the StrickJand lens, see Section Ul{A), 

21 supra-post-conviction counsel was not ineffective for not raising this c1aim. 

22 9. Claim Nine: Confrontation Clause 

23 In this ground, Jolmson alleges a violation of the Confrontation Clause at both guilt and 

24 penalty phase. Third Petition at 147- 53. Johnson admits that this claim was previously raised 

25 in part and denied in his second direct appeal. Third Petition at 11. Indeed, in that appeal from 

26 the final penalty phase, the Nevada Supreme Court rejected Johnson ' s claim that the 

27 Confrontation Clause even applies at a capital penalty hearing. Johnson 11 , 122 Nev. at 1353, 

28 148 P.3d at 773 . Therefore, these claims are ball"ed by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 
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1 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519-21. Pelle!!rini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 

2 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hal1, 91 Nev. at 315-1 6, 535 P.2d at 798-99; 

3 Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. 

4 Johnson a11eges parts of Claim 9 cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. However, 

5 Johnson does not specify which pai1s these are. As discussed in Claim 5, this Com1 should 

6 examine the issue no further, because Johnson has not made a clear record of which claims 

7 have already been rejected by the Nevada Supreme Court. Section lll(B)(S), supra; see,~. 

8 Maresca, 103 ev. at 672-73, 748 P.2d at 6. Nonetheless, because the Nevada Supreme Com1 

9 has already held that a defendant has no Confrontation Clause rights dming a penalty hearing, 

10 only issues from the guilt-phase can be examined. But even these claims are utterly without 

1 I merit. As Johnson admits, the United States Supreme Com1 has specifica1ly held that an expe1i 

12 who has personal know]edge of the DNA testing, despite not having performed it, may testify 

13 about a DNA match. Williams v. Illinois, 567 U.S. 50, 70, 132 S. Ct. 222 1, 2235 (2012). It is 

14 not this Court ' s- nor even the Nevada Supreme Court's-prerogative to hold, as Johnson 

15 asks, that this ''decision was wrongly decided. '' Third Petition at 148. Neither trial nor 

16 appellate counsel would have been successful arguing that this was a Confrontation Clause 

17 violation. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues in the first 

18 postconviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot establish that he 

19 would be prejudiced if this cJaim were dismissed per the mandatory procedural bars. 

20 10. Claim Ten: Illegal Seizw·e 

21 ln this ground, Jolmson alleges certain evidence was illegal seized and c1aims 

22 prosecutorial misconduct aJound said seizure. Third Petition at 154-57. Johnson admits that 

23 this claim was previously raised and denied in his first direct appeal. Third Petition at 11. 

24 Indeed, Johnson raised a claim of i11egally sefaed evidence, arguing that this Cout1 should have 

25 granted Johnson's motion to suppress said evidence in that appeal. Johnson I, I I 8 ev. at 

26 794-95, 59 P.3d at 454-55. Therefore, it is barred by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 

27 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 PJd at 519-21. Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535; Mc elton, 

28 115 Nev. at 3-96, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-1 6, 535 P.2d at 798-99; 
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Vale1io, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. Because 

2 Johnson does not al1ege that any pru1s of this claim cover new grounds, this entire claim is 

3 sununruily dismissed. Third Petition at 12. 

4 11. Claim Eleven: Multiple Theories 

5 In this gtound, Johnson alleges he was improperJy convicted on multiple theories and 

6 that the jmy was not unanimous as to its theory of conviction. Third Petition at 163- 69. This 

7 is one of Johnson's few claims tl1at was not previously raised at least in part. See Third Petition 

8 at 10-11 . However, Johnson ' s argument is utterly meritless. He claims that the jury must have 

9 been unanimous as to a the01y for first-degree murder without any supp011 for that asse1iion. 

10 He cites to no cases that would extend the U.S. Supreme Court' s admonition about "separate 

11 offenses" to the theories of first-degree murder. Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 633 (1991). 

12 The Nevada legislature clearly considers first-degree murder to be one offense. regardless of 

13 the theory under which it is charged. NRS 200.030. Johnson' s point that there are '"separate 

14 statutes provid[ing] for 1 iability under theories of aiding and abetting or conspiracy'' does not 

I 5 supp01i his conclusion that the Nevada legislature intends for crimes charged under this theory 

16 to be considered separate offenses. Third Petiti011 at 160. Rather, it points to the simple fact 

17 that the legislaturn has intended aiding/abetting and conspiracy to apply as theories of liability 

18 for all crimes, whe1·eas felony murder is a special category of vicarious liability. By necessity, 

19 it needed to be set out in the first-degree murder statute-because murder is the only crime to 

20 which this theory applies. It simply does not apply in other crimes; i.e. there is no "felony 

21 larceny" theory of convicting someone of that crime. Fwther, Johnson can point to no law 

22 requiring unanimity among the jmy as to its theory for convicting a defendant of first-degree 

23 mw·der. 

24 Because trial and appellate counsel were in no way ineffective regarding this issue, Mr. 

25 Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. 

26 Without any chance of success, Jolmson cannot establish that be would be prejudiced if this 

27 claim were dismissed per the mandatory procedural bars. 

28 / / / 
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12. Claim Twelve: Venue 

2 In this ground, Johnson alleges that he should have been granted another venue at both 

3 guilt and penaJty phases due to extensive media coverage. Third Petition at 163-70. Johnson 

4 adm.its that this claim was previously raised in pat1 and denied in his first post-conviction 

5 appeal. Third Petition at 11. Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Com1 decided in the post-conviction 

6 appeal that the trial comi did not err by denying Johnson ' s motion to change venue based on 

7 pretrial publicity: that despite it, the empaneled jurors were not impartial. Johnson lli, 133 

8 Nev.__, 402 P.3d at 1275. Therefore, this claim is batTed by the doctrine of law of tl1e case. 

9 Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519-21. Pe11e~rini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535; 

10 McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396,990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315- 16, 535 P2d at 

11 798- 99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386,915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. 

12 Johnson a11eges pat1s of Claim 12 cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. Johnson does 

13 not specify which paiis these are. As discussed in Claim 5, this Comi should examine the issue 

14 no fu11her, because Johnson has not made a clear record of which claims have already been 

15 rejected by the Nevada Supreme Comt. Section 111(8)(5), supra; see, e.g., Maresca, 103 Nev. 

16 at 672-73, 748 P.2d at 6. Nonetheless, it seems that Johnson raises for the first time a claim 

17 that co1:JJ1sel was ineffective fm not moving to change the venue at the final penalty hearing in 

18 2005. Third Petition at 167-69. But as the Nevada Supreme Comt discussed when it found 

l 9 that the guilt-phase jury was not impruiial, "'[ e ]ven where prctrjal pub1icity has been pervasive, 

20 this cou11 has upheld the denial of motions for change of venue where the jurors assured the 

21 district comi during voir dire that they would be fair and impartial in their deliberations.' 

22 Jo]mson ill, 133 Nev._, 402 P.3d at 1275 (citing Floyd v. State, 118 Nev. 156, 165 42 P.3d 

23 249, 255 (2002), abrogated on other grounds by Grey v. State, 124 Nev. 110, 118- 19, 178 

24 P.3d 154, 160- 61 (2008))◄ 

25 Just as with the venue claim in his First Petition, a11 Johnson has alleged is that there 

26 was media exposure. He has not established that any particular juror was not fair and impaitial. 

27 As Johnson admits this Cou1i already 'confronted" several penalty-phase jurors about the 

28 media coverage. Third Petition at 168. Four of the five specific individuals Johnson discusses 
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were not empaneled; thus, their potential media exposure is irrelevant. Transclipt, April 21, 

2 2005, 111-AM-5; Ill-PM-149, 186, 194. Regarding the jm·or Johnson alleges may have 

3 discussed tl1e procedural history of the case with those particular prospective jurors, this Cowt 

4 admonished her that she was not to discuss the case with anyone and detennined that no 

5 corrective action was needed. Id. at III-PM-289-90, 302. Johnson has not even alleged (as part 

6 of this venue claim) that that particular juror was not fair and impai1ial. Appellate counsel was 

7 not ineffective for not raising this issue because, just as t11e trial-phase venue challenge, it 

8 would have had no chance of success on appeal. Thus Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not 

9 raising these issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success., 

IO Johnson cannot establish that he would be prejudiced if this claim were dismissed per the 

11 mandatmy procedural bars. 

12 13. Claim Thirteen: Double Jeopardy - Penalty Phase Retrial 

13 In this ground1 Johnson alleges that because the first penalty phase ju1y was hung, his 

14 final penalty phase of 2005 violated double jeopardy and due process. Third Petition at 170-

15 74. This is one of Johnson's few claims that was not previously raised at ]east in part. See 

16 Third Petition at 10- 11. However, Johnson cannot establish a violation of the Double Jeopardy 

17 or Due Process Clauses because Johnson only received his third and final penalty hearing due 

18 to the initial deadlocked jury. Sattazahn v. Pennsvlvania, 537 U.S. 101, 109 (2003). The United 

19 States Supreme Court's explicit, deadlocked-ju1y exception to tl~e general double jeopardy 

20 rule rebuts Johnson's attempt to root his argument that the State ' should not be allowed to 

21 make repeated attempts to convict an individual ' in an in applicable due process framework. 

22 Third Petition at 173. Indeed, Johnson 's basic due process argument that with each penalty 

23 hearing, the State had more opportunity to ;•marshal more evidence in an attempt to secure a 

24 death sentence': is unpersuasive, given that Johnson was sentenced to death at both the second 

25 and t11ird penalty hearings. Third Petition at 173. 

26 Jolmson also cites no caselaw supporting his argument that the court ··jnterfered with 

27 the process and caused the mistrial'' by inquiring into the status of deliberations. Third Petition 

28 at 172. Indeed, it is true that " [a]ny criminal defendant ... being tried by a jury is entitled to 
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1 the uncoerced verdict ofthat body .'' Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 , 241 , 108 S. Ct. 546, 

2 552 (1988). However, this Coutt has articulated only a few actions that may be considered 

3 coercive. Such conduct includes polJing a dissenting juror in an unduly coercive manner. 

4 Saletta v. State 127 Nev. 416, 418, 254 P.3d 111,112 (2011). Explicitly demanding that the 

5 jury return a verdict may also constitute coercion. Redeford v. State, 93 Nev. 649, 652 572 

6 P .2d 219 220 (1977) ( wherein the trial court admonished the jury that the tiial would be a 

7 waste in light of the jury's "failure to reach a verdict '); Ransey v. State, 95 Nev. 364, 367,594 

8 P.2d 1157, 1158 (I 979) (wherein the trial court gave a charge under Allen v. U.S., 164 U.S. 

9 492 (] 896), knowing there was only one dissenting juror, that "in essence told the lone 

10 dissentingjurm that he should be open-minded and not obstinate"). Johnson fails to allege tlrnt 

11 the trial cou11 was in any manner inappropriately coercive or otherwise illegally intetfered in 

12 its deliberations. 

13 Finally, in obtaining the third penalty heaTing, Johnson received part of the relief he 

14 sought in his first direct appeal. The Nevada Supreme Comi determined that NRS 175.556(1 ), 

15 the then-existing Nevada statute that permitted a three-judge panel to sentence a defendant 

16 convicted of first-degree murder, violated Ri v. Arizona .536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 

17 (2002). Johnson I, 118 Nev. 787, 799- 800, 59 P.3d 450, 458- 59. The Nevada Supreme Court 

18 also affinned his ultimate death sentence in his second direct appeal. Johnson ll, 122 ev. at 

19 13 60, 148 P .3d at 77 8. Neither trial nor appellate counsel would have been successful arguing 

20 a double jeopardy or due process violation. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising 

21 these issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson 

22 cannot establish that he would be prejudiced if this claim were dismissed per the mandat01y 

23 procedural bars. 

24 14. Claim Fourteen: lneff ective Assistance of Counsel - Penalty Phase 

25 In this ground, Johnson alleges counse1 was ineffective in preparation, investigation, 

26 and presentation dw-iug his final penalty phase, including for failing to present his "life story ., 

27 Third Petition at 175- 223. Again, this is one of the few grounds that is not waived. See Section 

28 Ill, Intro, supra; NRS 34.810(1); Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059. However, 
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Johnson admits that subs·ection (B), subparts 2, 4, 5- 9, and 17 of this claim, and subsection 

2 (A) in part, were previously raised and denied in his first post-conviction appeal. Third Petition 

3 at l l. Indeed, Johnson raised several claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at penalty 

4 phase in his appeal from the denial of his First Petition, a11 of which were denied-including 

5 for: moving for a bifurcated hearing; failing to investigate; failing to present mitigation in the 

6 form of fetal alcohol disorder, Johnson' s PET scan, and testimony from his abusive father; 

7 failing to prevent evidence of the codefenda-nts ' sentences; failing to present mitigating 

8 evidence from the first penalty hearing; permitting the defense's expe1t's mitigation report to 

9 be impeached by the State· contradicting each other dming closing argument; failing to request 

10 a jury instruction on mitigation being found only by one j uror. Johnson Ill, 133 Nev. at_, 

11 402 P.3d at 1278-80. Therefore, these subsections are ba.J.Ted by the doctrine of law of the 

12 cas·e. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519-21. Pelle_rini l 17 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 

13 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396,990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d 

14 at 798- 99; Valerio 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 

15 710. 

16 Johnson alleges Claim 14(A), "in part," and Claim 14(B) (subparts 1~ 3, 10-16, and 

l 7 18- 20) cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. Each subpa1t of this subsection is witl1out 

I 8 merit. 

19 a. 14(A): Johnson's Life Story 

20 Johnson claims penalty-phase counsel were ineffective for failure to "present a coherent 

21 narrative of Donte .Johnson' s life." Third Petition at 175-96. Again, Johnson admits that it was 

22 previously raised ln pa11. Id. at 12. Moreover, as discussed in Section II(E)(3)(b), supra, this 

23 claim has already been rejected in a11 but name, and its substantive is governed by the law of 

24 the case. Indeed. the individual pieces of information Johnson djscusses in this claim either 

25 were presented by penalty-phase counsel or the fact that they were not presented was not held 

26 to be ineffective assistance of counsel , including issues with Johnson's mother' s drinking and 

27 his abusive upb1inging. Third Petition at 176; Johnson Ill, 402 P.3d at 1278, 

28 
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l Specifically, after evidentiary hearing, this Com1 held- and then the Nevada Supreme 

2 Court held in the post-conviction appeal-that penalty-phase counsel were not ineffective for 

3 not introducing much of the same information Johnson now presents, including: "additional 

4 mitigation evidence concerning fetal alcohol disorder, the results of a Positron Emission 

5 Tomography scan, and testimony from his abusive father"; and "aJI of the mitigating 

6 circumstances found by the jury at his first penalty hearing. Johnson III, 402 P.3d at 1278-

7 79. The Couii specifically held that "counsel made reasonable decisions regarding which 

8 evidence to investigate and how to present the evidence deemed worthy of presentation. '~ Id . 

9 Further, the Court held, "[t]he jurors at the 2005 penalty hearing heard evidence concerning 

IO most of the mitigating circumstances found in the first trial and were instmcted that they could 

11 find "any other mitigating circumstance ,. even if those circumstances were not specifically 

12 listed.' Jd. That is the highest comt in evada has already found tJ1at Johnson was not 

13 prejudiced by not having his entire life stoty presented to the jury at the third penalty hearing. 

14 Penalty-phase counsel's investigations were adequate and Johnson was not pr~judiced by the 

15 information tl,ey chose to present and to exclude. Thus, post-conviction counsel was not 

16 ineffective when he raised essentially this same issue in the First Petition. Even given the new 

17 affidavits from family members discussed supra, there is no good cause to reexamjne this 

18 claim. 

19 b. 14(B)(l): Consistent Theory 

20 The premise of Johnson 's argument that counsel was ineffective for not presenting a 

21 "consistent" theory due to fears about "credibility" is flawed. Third Petition at 197- 99. 

22 Johnson re.lies on non-binding ABA guidelines about consistency "through both the first and 

23 second phases of the triar~-but the jmy that sentenced Johnson to death was not the same 

24 guilt~phase j ury of five years earlier. Third Petition at 197. Counsel can hardly be considered 

25 ineffective for failure to present a "consistenf' defense to an entirely new jury. Further, the 

26 Nevada Supreme Court has already examined at least one instance of"inconsistenc/~ between 

27 Johnson's penalty-pha e counsels that of drugs in prison, and found there was no ' prejudice 

28 considering the unlikelihood that a more consistent argument on this point would have 
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changed the outcome of the penalty hearing." Johnson IJI, 402 P.3d at 1280. Johnson's 

2 attempts to paint other comments as "inconsistent" among counsel are disingenuous attempts 

3 to mischaracterize counsel swords. Third Petition at 198; see also Section III(B)(l 4)(t) 1 infra. 

4 Further, Johnson complains not that counsel failed to present 1nitigation evidence but rather 

5 about the order in which they presented it. This is not ineffective assistance of counsel but 

6 rather a matter of "virlually unchallengeable strategy. Strickland. 466 U.S. at 691 , 104 S. Ct. 

7 at 2064· Rhyne, l 18 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. Penalty-phase cow1sel were not ineffective. 

8 c. 14(B)(3): Jury Instruction Issues 

9 Johnson's claim that penalty-phase counsel should have moved to strike the multiple 

10 murder aggravator because the convictions themselves were invalid~ due to alleged errors in 

1 l jury instructions, is utterly witl,out merit. Third Petition at 197-99. At that point in time, the 

12 Nevada Supreme Court had affirmed Johnson s conviction but remanded for the third penalty 

13 phase. See generally Johnson 1. lt was not ineffective for penaJty-phase counsel to refrain from 

14 moving to challenge the underJying convictions yet again. Indeed, at that point, there was no 

15 vehicle for counsel to challenge the convictions. Penalty-phase counsel handled an aspect of 

t 6 Johnson's trial not his post-conviction litigation, which is the only proper vessel for claims of 

17 ineffective assistance of counsel-which would have been the only way to chaJlenge the jmy 

18 instrnctions at that point in time. Penalty-phase counsel were not ineffective, and there was no 

19 chance of success on appeal. 

20 d. 14(B)(10): Johnson's Father 

21 Johnson vainly attempts to paint this claim-that penalty-phase counsel were 

22 ineffective for failing to present the testimony of Johnson's father-as new. Third Petition at 

23 210. But the Nevada Supreme Comt has already held that counsel was not ineffective in this 

24 regard. Johnson III 402 P.3d at 1278. Though Johnson attempts to use his "fuJl life story" to 

25 allege what his father would or should have testified to; Johnson cannot avoid the doctrine of 

26 the law of the case with a more detailed argument in these post~conviction proceedings. Hall, 

27 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; see also Pe1tgen, 110 Nev. at 557-58, 875 P.2d at 362. 

28 This claim is summarily dismissed. 
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1 e. 14(B)(l 1): Trauma Expert 

2 Johnson does not actually allege what a trauma expert would have testified to or what 

3 difference it would have made at the penalty phase. Thii-d Petition at 210. As such, this is a 

4 bare and naked claim and should be dismissed. Harnrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. 

5 f. 14(B)(l2): Conceding "Triggerman" Status 

6 Jolmson again mischaracterizes his penalty-phase counsePs words in claiming that she 

7 ''conceded' that he pulled the trigger. Third Petition at 211. ln fact , counsel stated that she and 

8 her co-counsel cal.led Johnson a "cold-blooded killer" so the jury ' would not be shocked by 

9 that." Transcript , April 28, 2005, VII-C-l2 . Not only is this not a concession that Johnson 

10 pulled the trigger- because a defendant can be convicted of a killing, and thereby be a killer1 

11 without ever touching the murder weapon. This was clear strategy to pdme the jmy for the 

12 evidence the State would bring to paint Johnson as a "cold-blooded killer." Because a 

13 reviewing cou11 is instructed not to second-guess every strategic decision, there was no chance 

14 of success in challenging counsel's strategy. Donovan, 94 Nev. at 675, 584P.2d at 711 (dting 

] 5 Cooper, 55 l F.2d at 1] 66 (9th Cir. 1977)). 

16 g. 14(B)(13): Other-Matter Evidence 

17 Johnson ,s argument that penalty-phase counsel did not object to evidence beyond the 

l 8 verdict forms during the eligibility stage is essentially a re-argument of his claim that counsel 

19 was ineffective for moving for a bifurcated penalty hearing in the first place. Third Petition at 

20 211-14. But the Nevada Supreme Comt has already held that counsel was not ineffective for 

21 doing so. Johnson 111, 133 Nev. at_, 402 P.3d at 1278. FUiiher, Johnson cannot establish-

22 and does not even argue-prejudice. He does not explain how a different outcome would have 

23 been likely had the jmy received the evidence be complains only during the selection phase. 

24 Penalty-phase counsel was not ineffective. 

25 h. 14(B)(l4): VCR 

26 As discussed, Johnson's complaint that counsel should have mentioned the VCR is 

27 without merit. Third Petition at 214-16; Section III(B)(3)(d), ·upra. 

28 / / / 

56 

AA12327



i. 14(B)(l5): Le~ding Questions 

2 Johnson complaint about leading questions is without merit. Third Petition at 216- 18. 

3 Not only are few of the questions· he cites actually leading· tl1is Court sustained the defense' s 

4 objection to a question that was. Transc1ipt, Apiil 25, 2005, V-PM-60. Therefore, counsel 

5 cannot be considered deficient. Fu1iher, Johnson fails to establish prejudice. As discussed, a 

6 defendant has no Confrontation Clause rights during a capital penalty hearing. Section 

7 lll(B)(9), supra; Johnson II, 122 Nev. at 1353, 148 P.3d at 773. And Johnson has not argued 

8 how a different result would have been likely had counsel objected to eve1y allegedly leading 

9 question by the State on direct examination. He cannot establish that penalty-phase counsel 

l O was ineffective, and there was no chance of success on appeal. 

1 I j. 14(B)(l6): Photographs 

12 Johnson has made absolutely no attempt to argue which photographs were overly 

J3 gruesome or how. Third Petition at 218. Regardless " [ i ]t is within the district court's 

14 discretion to admit photographs where the probative value outweighs any prejudicial effect 

15 thephotograp11s mighthaveontbejury. ~ Si :isasv. State, 102 ev.119, 123,716 P.2d231 

16 234 ( 1986). The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently held gruesome photographs are not 

17 per se inadmissible. See, ~ . Archanian v. State, 122 Nev. 1019, 1031 145 P.3d 1008, 1017 

18 (2006); West v. State, l 19Nev. 410, 420, 75 P.3d 808,815 (2003). 

19 In this case, the Nevada Supreme Court has already rejected .Johnson ' s argument of 

20 unnecessarily grnesome autopsy photos in his post-conviction appeal. Johnson Ill, I 33 Nev. 

21 at__, 402 P.3d at l276. Even if Johnson is talking about other photographs, Jolm on has not 

22 bothered to argue how a different result would have been more likely even bad counsel 

23 objected to them. fie cannot establish that penalty-phase counsel were ineffective~ and there 

24 was no chance of success on appeal. 

25 k. 14(B)(l8): PhysicaJ Evidence / Police Questioning Expert 

26 For the same reasons Johnson ' s ineffective assistance of guilt-phase counsel fails , his 

27 claim that penalty-pha e counsel were ineffective for failure with regard to blood spatter and 

28 police coercion fails. Third Petition at 221 ; Section lll(B)(3)(a), supra. 
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I. 14(8)(19): Cross-Examination 

2 For the same reasons Johnson s ineffective assistance of guilt-phase counsel fails, his 

3 claim that penalty-phase counsel were ineffective for failure to cross-examine the autopsy, 

4 DNA, firearms , irnd fingerprint witnesses fails . Third Petition at 221 - 22 ; Section JlI(B)(3)(c), 

5 supra. 

6 m. 14(B)(20): Dr. Kinsora 

7 Johnson ,s claim that penalty-phase counsel should have obtained neuropsychologicat 

8 testing and a report is without me1it. Third Petition at 222- 23. The europsychological 

9 Evaluation completed by Dr. Myla Young in 2000, during the guilt-phase, does not actually 

10 indicate that Jolmson was intellectually disabled. Exhibits 143 . Nor has Johnson pointed to 

11 anything in Dr. Myla s that would have indicated to penalty-phase counsel that a brand-new 

12 neuropsychological evaluation merely five years after Dr. Young's would have been 

13 necessary or even helpful. Indeed, during the State's penalty phase voir dire of Dr. Kinsora, 

14 the doctor specifically stated that he "determined early on in talking with [Johnson] and 

J 5 reviewing the records that there probably wasn't any point in doing any kind of 

16 neuropsychological assessment, although I know one had been done in the past that I disagreed 

17 with. 1 did not see [Johnson] as having brain damage or anything there that would suggest that 

18 there's anything that would . .. get out of a lot of testing." Transcript, May 3, 2005, 15- 16 

19 (emphasis added). Thus, even had counsel asked, the very witness Jolmson asserts should have 

20 been asked to do an evaluation stated on the record that there was no point in doing one. Thus 

21 Johnson cannot establish that the result would have been any different-even assuming he is 

22 accurate in alleging that Dr. Kinsora was neves asked to do an evaluation. Finally, Johnson 

23 has cited no authority whatsoever to support his asse1tion that an expert who is hired to 

24 examine one co~defendant is conflicted from examining or testifying about another. Penalty 

25 phase counsel were not ineffective. 

26 Because penalty-phase and appellate counsel were in no way ineffective regarding any 

27 of these penalty-phase issues, Mr. Ora1n was not ineffective for not raising tbese issues in the 

28 first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot establish 
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1 that he would be prejudiced if this entire claim were dismissed per the 111andat01y procedural 

2 bars. 

3 15. Claim Fifteen: Jury Instructions - Penalty-Phase 

4 In this ground, Johnson alleges the Comt gave deficient juiy instructions during the 

5 final penalty phase. Third Petition at 224-27. Johnson admits that subsection (A) of this claim 

6 was previously raised and denied in his first post-conviction appeal. Third Petition at 11. 

7 Johnson also falsely states that 15(C) a new claim; indeed, the Nevada Supreme Court has 

8 twice rejected counsel's challenge to the reasonable doubt instruction: once in substance on 

9 direct appeal and once in affmuing that counsel was not deficient in this respect on 

IO postconviction appeal. Third Petition at 12; Johnson J, 118 Nev. at 806, 59 P.3d at 462; 

1 J Johnson III, 402 P.3d at 1277. Therefore, these two subsections are barred by the doctrine of 

12 law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 2 8 P .3d at 519-21. PelJe.L'Tini, 117 Nev. at 884, 

13 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (I 999), Hall , 91 Nev. at 315-

14 16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valerio 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 

15 860 P.2d at 710. 

16 Jolmson alleges Claim l 5(B) and (D) cover new ground. Third Petition at 12 . But 

17 Johnson 's argument that the weighing instructions given allowed for the possibility of a death 

18 sentence where "aggravating and mitigating circumstances are found to be in equal balance" 

19 is nonsensical. Third Petition at 225- 26. The instructions Johnson cite explicitly gave the 

20 option for the jury to note that they found the aggravator to outweigh the mitigators or vice 

21 versa. Had the jury selected anything besides 'The aggravating circumstance outweighs any 

22 mitigating circumstances,' Johnson would not have received the death penalty. Johnson 's 

23 challenge to the "equal and exact justice' ' instruction is likewise futile. Third Petition at 227-

24 29. The Nevada Supreme Court bas consistently upheld thi exact instmction. See, M.:. 

25 Leonard v. State, 114 ev. 1196, 1209, 969 P.2d 288,298 (1998). 

26 With no possibility of success in challenging these jury instructions at penalty-phase of 

27 the trial or on appeal, penalty-phase and appellate counsel were not ineffective for not 

28 challenging these insnuctions. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues 
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1 in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot 

2 establish that he would be prejudiced if this entire claim were dismissed per the mandatory 

3 procedural bars. 

4 16. Claim Sixteen: Prosecutorial Misconduct - Penalty Phase 

5 In this ground Johnson alleges the State committed prosecutorial misconduct at the 

6 fina] penalty phase, at every stage from opening statm.nents to c1osing arguments. Third 

7 Petition at 230- 58. Johnson admits that this claim was previously raised in prut and denied in 

8 his second direct and first post-conviction appeals. Third Petition at 11. Indeed, the Nevada 

9 Supreme Court denied Johnson ' s claims that prosecutors engaged in misconduct during 

10 penalty-phase opening statement, closing ru·gument, and rebuttal in his second direct appeal. 

11 Johnson II, 122 Nev. at 1355-58, 148 P.3d at 775-77. Then, on post-conviction appeal , the 

12 Court denied Jolmson s claims that prosecutors engaged in misconduct "by vouching for the 

13 State's witnesses, commenting on facts not in evidence making a golden rule argument 

14 failing to disclose witness benefits, and using the term 'guilt phase."' Johnson Ill, 133 Nev. 

15 _, 402 P Jd at I 277. Therefore, these claims are baned by the doctrine of law of the case. 

16 Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 519- 21. Pelle ... rini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535; 

17 McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall , .91 Nev. at 315- 16, 535 P.2d at 

18 798- 99; Valerio 112 Nev. at 386, 9 I 5 P.2d at 876· Hogan, I 09 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. 

I 9 Johnson alleges parts of Claim 16 cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. However, 

20 Johnson does not specify which pa1is these are. As discussed in Claim 5, this Court should 

21 examine the issue no fw1her because Jolmson bas not made a clear record of wJ1ich claims 

22 have already been rejected by the Nevada Supreme Comt. Section III(B)(5), supra ; see,~. 

23 Maresca, 103 Nev. at 672- 73, 748 P.2d at 6. Nonetheless, a comparison of Johnson 's claims 

24 to the second direct and the post-convictions appeals makes it clear that the Nevada Supreme 

25 Coutt has already examined Claims 16(A)(l)(b) and (2)(a), 16(H)(l)(a) and (b) and 

26 l 6(I1)(2)(a) ("commentfog on facts not in evidence " Johnson III , 402 P.3d at 1277) l 6(C) 

27 ("describing the victims as kids was not improper given their youth") Johnson JU, 122 Nev. at 

28 1356, 148 P.3d at 776 (citing Johnson 11, 402 P.3d at 1277). 
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a. 16(A)(l)(a): Johnson As Shooter 

2 Johnson s claim tha( the State committed "misconduct' in identifying Johnson as the 

3 shooter is without merit. Third Petition at 230--41. Even the evidence Johnson presents in this 

4 very claim supports the fact that the prosecution made a permissible "deduction or conclusion 

5 from the evidence introduced in the trial ' by labeling Johnson as the shooter. Parker, 109 Nev. 

6 at 392, 849 P.2d at l 068. Indeed in its own rendition of the facts of this case, the evada 

7 Supreme Cou1i 11as explicitly done the same: "Johnson took Talamantez to a back room and 

8 shot him in the head. Realizing that there were three witnesses, Johnson went back to the front 

9 room and shot the thr·ee other victims in the back of the heads, ex cution style," Johnson I, 

IO J l 8 Nev. at 791 , 59 P.3d at 453 (emphasis added); " Johnson bound and shot four young men 

11 execution-style in the head,'' Johnson ll, 122 Nev. at 1359, 148 P.3d at 777 (emphasis added); 

12 "Johnson bound the hands and feet of four young men robbed them and killed them by 

13 shooting them in the head execution style. ' Johnson ill, 402 P.3d at 1271. Penalty-phase 

14 counsel were ~ot ineffective for not challenging this alleged misconduct- particularly when, 

15 as Johnson admits, counsel stated that the defense ' attempt[ ed] [to] cast[] doubt about the 

16 States theory that Jonson actually pulJed the trigger," telling the jury that the defense and the 

I 7 State's accounts would 'differ with regard to Johnson's involvement' in the shooting. Third 

18 Petition at 198; Transcript, April 25, 2005, 27. Counsel would have had no chance of success 

19 cha11enging the State's alleged "misconduct" either at trial or on appeal. 

20 b. 16(B): Gang Affiliation 

21 Johnson ' s complaint tJ1at the State violated l1is right to association and a pretrial order 

22 by introducing evidence of Johnson's gang affiliation is irrelevant. Third Petition at 241-42. 

23 Johnson's own penalty-phase counsel presented " [m]uch testimony ... regarding Johnson's 

24 involvement with street gangs." Johnson II , 122 Nev. at 1351 , 148 P .3d at 772. Indeed, tJ1e 

25 record is clear that Johnson's gang affiliation was a key prut of the defense's mitigation case: 

26 the defense presented an expert who testified with' exten ive sociological data" about gangs. 

27 Id. at 1352, 148 P.3d at 773. Johnson does not claim for example, that counsel would not have 

28 done so without the State s first submitting gang-related evidence. Counsel would have had 
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no chance of success challenging the State ' s alleged "misconduct" either at trial or on appeal. 

2 See,~' Gordon v. United States, 518 F.3d 1291, 1300 (11th Cir. 2008) (' It is true that the 

3 'substantial rights' standard ofp]ain enor review is identical to the 'prejudice' standard of an 

4 ineffective assistance claim.'') 

5 c. 16(0): Other-Matter Evidence 

6 Johnson ' s claim that the State conm1itted misconduct in presenting additional evidence 

7 at the eligibility phase of the third penalty hea1ing is without merit. Third Petition at 245 - 48. 

8 As discussed in response to Johnson 's ineftective assistance of trial counsel framework of this 

9 very issue, Jolmson has not demonstrated that tl1is o-caJled ''other-matter" evidence 

10 constituted misconduct. Section lll(B)(l 4)(f), supra. 

11 d. 16(E): Inflammatory Images 

12 Johnson ' s claim that the State committed misconduct in showing images and stating 

13 alias of the co-defendants is without merit. Third Petition at 248. As discussed in response to 

14 Johnson's identical claim of prosecutoriaJ misconduct during the guilt-phase, Johnson has not 

15 demonstrated that presenting the so-called "inflammatory : images and alias constituted 

16 misconduct. Section III(B)(5), supra. 

17 e. 16(F): Disparaging Mitigation Strategy 

I 8 Johnson 's claim that the State committed misconduct by "disparaging' his mitigation 

19 strategy is without merit. Third Petition at 248- 50. The State's argument that Johnson ' s 

20 difficult Jife did not mitigate or even explajn the murder of three young men and one actual 

21 chi]d can hardly be called improper, let alone "'patently prejudicial." Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188 

22 196 P.3d at 4 7 6; Riker, 111 Nev. at 1328, 905 P .2d at 713. Counsel would have had no chance 

23 of success challenging the State's alleged "misconduct' either at trial or on appeal. 

24 f. 16(G): Impeachment 

25 Johnson ' s claim about allegedly improper impeachment is bare and naked, unsupported 

26 by any autho1;ty, and hould be sununarily dismissed. Har2,rove 1 I 00 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 

27 225 . Regard]ess, the Nevada Supreme Comt denied Johnson's claim of ineffective assistance 

28 of appellate cow1sel for not cha11enging this very same impeachment in his post-conviction 
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appeal. Johnson Ill, 133 Nev. at_, 402 P.3d at 1277 1279. Thus, Johnson cannot establish 

2 the prejudice necessa1y to support a prosecutorial misconduct claim. 

3 g. 16(H)(l)(c) and 16(H)(2)(b): Passions of the Jurors 

4 Johnson ' s claim that the State improperly appealed to the passions of the jurors is 

5 without merit. Third Petition at 253- 54. As di scussed in response to .Johnson 's identical clajm 

6 of prosecutorial misconduct dming the guilt-phase, Johnson has not demonstrated that the 

7 State inflamed the jury's passions. Section 111(8)(5), supra. Specifically with regard to the 

8 State's arguments that Johnsons' djfficult Jjfe. djd not mitigate or explahl the four murders be 

9 committed, Johnson cannot establish there would have been able to establish 'prosecutorial 

10 misconduct'' on appeal- particularly since, in the Nevada Supreme Cou11' s own independent 

11 evaluation of Johnson ' s death sentence, it explicitly d tennined that the death sentence was 

12 not imposed under the influence of passion, prejudice, or any arbitrary factor, and that the 

13 death sentence was not excessive considering both the crime and the defendant . Johnson 11, 

14 122 Nev. at 1359 148 PJd at 777. Counsel would have had no chance of success cha11enging 

15 the State 's alleged ·'misconduct'' either at penalty-phase of the tTial or on appeal. 

16 With no possibility of success in challenging this alleged prosecut01ial misconduct at 

17 penalty-phase of the trial or on appeaJ , pena1ty-phase and appellate counsel were not 

I 8 ineffective for hot challenging it. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these 

19 issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any cl1ance of success, Johnson cannot 

20 establish tJ1at he would be prejudiced if this entire claim were dismissed per the mandatory 

21 procedural bars . 

22 17. Claim Seventeen: Trial Court Error - Penalty Phase 

23 ln this ground, Johnson alleges the Comt erred during the final penalty phase, including 

24 in jmy selection, in admitting evidence, in handling cross-examinations, and in refusing to 

25 allow the defense to argue last. Third Petition at 259- 74. Johnson admits that subsections (A) 

26 and (C) through (F) of this claim, and subsection (B) in pru1, were previously raised and denied 

27 in his second direct and fu·st post-conviction appeals. Third Petition at 11. Johnson also falsely 

~8 states that subsection (G) is new. Indeed, in h.is direct appeal, the Nevada Supreme Cou1t 
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1 r~jected Johnson s claim that this Court should have allowed the defendant to argue last during 

2 the penalty hearing. Johnson I, 1 18 Nev. at 805--06, 59 P .3d at 462. Then, on second direct 

3 appeal , the Court denied Johnson ' s claims that this Court erred by: admitting Johnson ' s 

4 juvenile record; allowing "stake-out' questions of jurors in his direct appeal from the final 

5 penalty phase· or not declaring a mistrial when a victim ' s brother fainted in court. Johnson II. 

6 122 Nev. at 1353-55, 1358-59, 148 P.3d at 773- 75, 777. Finally, on post-conviction appeal , 

7 the Court denied Johnson 's claim about unnecessaiily gruesome photographs and improper 

8 cross-examination. Johnson Ill, 133 Nev. _ 402 P.3d at 1276, 1279. Therefore, these 

9 subsections are ban-ed by the docttine of law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d 

10 at 519-21 . Pellel!rini , 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535· McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P 2d 

11 at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P .2d at 798- 99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 

12 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952 , 860 P.2d at 710. 

13 Accordingly, this Court may only examine Claim 17(B). However, the claim is without 

14 merit. Third Petition at 261- 68. As an initial matter, Johnson alleges parts of Claim 17(B) 

15 cover new ground. Third Petition at 12. However, Johnson does not specify which parts these 

16 are. As with Claims 5 9, 12, and 16, supra, this Court should not consider this argument 

I 7 without Johnson having made a cogent argument about what parts of this claim are already 

18 law ofthe case. See,~. Maresca, 103 ev. at 672-73, 748 P.2d at 6. Regardless , it is clear 

19 that the Nevada Supreme Comi has already examined 17(8)(1) and (3) Uuvenile and Clark 

20 County Detention Center records). 

21 This Court did not in1properly admit prior bad act evidence is the fonn of the incident 

22 with inmate 1rias. Indeed, Jolmson admits that this Court held an evidentiruy hea1ing to 

23 detennine the admissibility of this evidence. Third Petition at 265. Thus, it is clear that this 

24 Comt did not abuse its discretion, properly using its wide latitude in admitting it. McLellan, 

25 124 Nev. at 267, J 82 P .3d at 109. With no possibility of success jn challenging this aJlegedly 

26 inadmissible evidence at penalty-phase of the tiial or on appeal, penalty-phase and appellate 

27 counsel were not ineffective for not challenging it. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not 

28 raising these issues in the first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, 
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1 Johnson cannot establish that he would be prejudiced if this entire claim were dismi sed per 

2 the mandatory procedural bars. 

3 18. Claim Eighteen: Juror Misconduct and Bias - Penalty Phase 

4 Jn this ground, Johnson alleges a member of his penalty-phaseju1y- Jusor Carpenter-

s conunitted misconduct and was biased. Third Petition at 275- 79. This is one of a few claims 

6 Johnson alleges was not previously rai ed at least in pait. See Third Petition at 10-11. 

7 However as with several other mischaracterizations of prior claims in this Third Petition, this 

8 cJaim is not new; and as this Comt has previously found , it is without me1it. 

9 Johnson has not presented any new evidence supporting a claim that Juror Carpenter 

IO comm.itted misconduct or was biased. As Johnson admits, this Cowi held an evidentiary 

11 hearing conceming these exact same allegations dming the 2005 penalty healing. Third 

12 Petition at 277· see also Transcript, June 14, 2005. At that hearing, this Comt determined that 

13 Juror Carpenter had committed no misconduct was not "biased or prejudiced,' and there was 

14 no evidence "that she had made up her mind as to what the sentence should be" or '·that she 

15 had her mind made up as to what the verdict should be." Transcript, June 14, 2005, al 71-76. 

16 Then, as a pa11 of the previous post-conviction proceedings, Mr. Oram brought to this Court' s 

17 attention affidavit from two alte1nate jurors who had been contacted about potential jury 

18 misconduct during the final penalty phase in 2005, in preparation of that 2005 evidentiary 

19 hearing. Exhibits 209, 210. Johnson has not demonstrated there is any purpose in bringing 

20 these same affidavits before this Court again. This Comi has already found that all matters 

21 "raised regarding the 2 005 penalty phase and tl1e appeal therefrorn are rejected as failing under 

22 both prongs of Strickland.' Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law and Order, filed March 17 

23 2014, at 3. Further, on appeal from this Com1 s denial of his First Petition, the Nevada 

24 Supreme Court found that Johnson "has not demonstrated that the empaneled jurors were not 

25 impartial.n Johnson Ill , 133 Nev.__, 402 P.3d at 1275. Thus, this claim is baned at least by 

26 res judicata, if not also law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev . at 641--43 , 28 P.3d at 519-21. 

27 Pelle rini 117 ev. at 884 34 P.3d at 535· McNelton, 115 ev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 

28 (1999) Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P .2d at 798-99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 
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876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. Regardless, this claim cannot constitute good 

2 cause, because Mr. Oram did in fact present this claim to this Court in the First Petition, and 

3 there is no new information constituting good cause to re-raise it. 

4 19. Claim Nineteen: Juror Findings re: Enmund and Tison 

5 In this ground, Johnson alleges that the jury did not actually find that he was ''the 

6 triggerman.'1 Third Petition at 280- 90. This is one of Johnson ' s few claims that was not 

7 previously raised at least in pa11. See Third Petition at I 0- 11 . However, Johnson ignores 

8 e:x;plici t evada precedent examining the cases be relies upm~ in claiming the necessity of such 

9 a finding. 

IO The United States Supreme Court has held that the Eighth Amendment does not permit 

11 imposition of death penalty on defendant who aids and abets felony in course of which murder 

12 is committed by others but who does not himse1fkill, attempt to kill, or intend that killing take 

13 place or that lethal force will be employed. E111nw1d v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, I 02 S. Ct. 3368 

14 (1982). The Courl limited that holding five years later, explaining that [t]he Eighth 

15 Amendment does not prohibit the death penalty as disprop01iionate in the case of a defendant 

16 whose participation in a felony that results in murder is major and whose mental state is one 

17 of reckless indifference." Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137 137- 38, 107 S. Ct. 1676, 1678 

18 ( 1987). However the Nevada Supreme Court has specifically held that " [a] detennination of 

19 culpability w1der Enmund need not be made by the jut)', and although a jmy detemtination is 

20 preferable it may be made on appeal." Browning v. State, 124 Nev. 517, 533, 188 P.3d 60, 71 

21 (2008). 

22 As cliscussed in Section III(B)(16), supra, the Nevada Supreme Couit has explicitly 

23 found that Johnson did actua1ly kill the victims. explaining in all three of Johnson ' s appeaL: 

24 "Johnson took Talamantez to a back room and shot him in the head. Realizing that there were 

25 three witnesses, Jolmson went back to the front room and shot the three other victims in the 

26 back of the heads execution style," Johnson 1, 118 ev. at 791 , 59 P.3d at 453 (emphasis 

27 added); ·'Johnson bound and shot four young men execution-style in the head " Jolmson II, 

28 122 Nev. at 1359, 148 P.3d at 777 (emphasis added); "Jolmson bound the hands and feet of 
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1 four young men, robbed them, and killed them by shooting them in the head, e ·ecution style." 

2 Jolmson III, 402 P.3d at 1271. Thus, despite the four theories under which Johnson was 

3 charged with first-degree murder, there was never any question that Johnson was the actual 

4 shooter. Even had counsel raised an Em11w1d/Tison question on appeal , it would have had no 

5 chance of success--as evidenced by the Nevada Supreme Court ' s actual finding that Johnson 

6 was •'the 1riggennan." 

7 With no possibility of success on appeal, appellate counsel was not ineffective for not 

8 raising this issue. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues in the first 

9 post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson cam1ot establish that he 

10 would be prejudiced if this entire claim were dismissed per t11e mandatory procedural bars. 

11 20. Claim Twenty: Use of Juvenile Record 

12 In this ground, Johnson alleges the State s use of his juvenile convictions, during his 

13 final penalty phase, violated his constitutional rights. Third Petition at 291- 98. Jolmson does 

14 not admit that he previously raised this claim. Third Petition at 10-J l. However, Jolmson did 

15 in fact claim that this Court ened by admitting evidence of his juvenile criminal record in his 

16 direct appeal from the final penalty phase, and the Nevada Supreme Court rejected that c1aim. 

17 Johnson II, 122 Nev. at 1353- 54, 148 P.3d at 773- 74. The Coui1 specifically found that the 

18 record ' s admission did not violate Roi er v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183 (2005), 

19 that it was significantly probative and not unfairly prejudicial , and that "[b ]ecause this 

20 evidence was admitted only dming the selection phase of his hearing, there are no concerns 

21 that it may have improperly in0uenced the jury 's weighing of aggravating and mitigating 

22 c.irclllnstances."' Id. Therefore, this c1aim is barred by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 

23 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P .3d at 519- 21. Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P Jd at 53 5; McNelton, 

24 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev . at 315- 16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; 

25 Vale1io 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. Because 

26 Johnson cannot establish that any pa1is of this claim cover new grounds, this entire claim is 

27 swumarily dismissed. Third Petition at 12. 

28 / / / 
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l 21. Claim Twenty-One: Unconstitutional Penalty 

2 In this ground, Johnson alleges the death penalty itself is unconsti.tutiona], inc1uding in 

3 the method of execution, in detennining the class of eligjbility, in being cruel and unusual, in 

4 denying executive clemency1 and in being arbitrary and discriminatory. Third Petition at 299-

5 323. Johnson states that only subsectjons (C) through (E) of this claim were previously raised 

6 and denied in his first post-conviction appeal. Third Petition at 11. However, it is clear that 

7 subsections (F) has also aJready been raised. In his post-conviction appeal, "Johnson argue[d] 

8 that the death penalty is unconstitutional because: (1) Nevada ' s death penalty scheme fails to 

9 narrow death eligibility, (2) it constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, (3) Nevada law does 

l 0 not afford the opportunity for •executive clemency, (4) it is applied in an arbitrary and 

11 capricious manner, and (5) it violates international law. Because these claims should have been 

12 raised on direct appeal and Johnson has not demonstrated good cause to overcome the 

13 procedurnl default, see NRS 34.81 0(b)(2) the district court properly denied them.n Johnson 

14 III , 133 Nev. at _, 402 P.3d at 1274. Therefore, these subsections are ban-ed by the doctrine 

15 of law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43 , 28 P.3d. at 519- 2 I. Pelle ... rini , 11 7 Nev. at 884, 

16 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-

17 16, 535 P .2d at 798-99; Va1erio1 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P .2d at 8 7 6; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 9 52 

18 860 P .2d at 710. 

19 Only Claims 2 I (A , (B), and (G) cover new ground. Third Petition at J 2. Regardless, 

20 Mr. Oram cannot be considered ineffective for failure to raise them. As the Nevada Supreme 

21 Court explicitly found of the death-penalty challenges he did in fact raise, "these clairns should 

22 have been raised on direct appeal and Johnson has not demonstrated good cause to overcome 

23 the procedural default." Johnson III, 133 Nev. at _ , 402 PJd at 1274. Here, the only good 

24 cause asserted for this untimely and successive Third Petition are those meritle s grounds 

25 discussed in Section II supra. This is not 'good cause" for making an untimely constitutional 

26 cha11enge to Nevada' s lethal-injection protocol, 2 subsections (A) and (Bt or a claim tl1at the 

27 death penalty itself is racially discdminatory subsection (G). As such, post-conviction counsel 

28 was not ineffective for not raising these procedurally baned claims-particuJarJy when it is 
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clear that Mr. Oram did in fact raise other challenges to the death penalty. Without any chance 

2 of success, Johnsm1 cannot establish that he would be prejudiced if this entire claim were 

3 dismissed per the mandatmy procedural bars. 

4 22. Claim Twenty-Two: Ineffective Assistance of Counsel - Direct Appeal 

5 In this ground, Johnson alleges his appellate counsel was ineffective for failure to 

6 challenge the kidnapping conviction and the i111peachment of a witness. Third Petition at 324-

7 25. Again, this is one of the few grounds that is not waived. See Section III , Intro, supra; NRS 

8 34.810(1); Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 1059. However, Johnson admits that this 

9 claim was previously raised and denied in his first post~conviction appeal. Thfrd Petition at 

10 11. Indeed the Nevada Supreme Cowt denied Johnson ' s c1aim of ineffective assi stance of 

11 appellate counsel for not challenging the kidnapping or the impeachment in his postconviction 

12 appeal. Johnson III, 133 Nev. at _, 402 P.3d at 1277, 1279. Therefore, these subsections are 

13 barred by the doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43 , 28 P.3d at 519-21. 

I 4 Pelle&rrini, 117 Nev. at 884 34 P.3d at 535~ McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at I 276 

15 (1999), Han, 91 Nev. at 315- 16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 

16 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. Because Johnson does not allege that any pa1ts 

17 of this claim cover new grounds, this entire claim is summarily dismissed. Third Petition at 

18 12. 

19 23. Claim Twenty-Three: Judicial Bias 

20 ln this ground, Johnson alleges that three separate district coutt judges were biased 

2 l and/or had conflicts of interest while presiding over his case; fu1ther, Johnson claims, the 

22 Nevada Supreme Court ' s review was unconstitutional , and every elected judge-that is , every 

23 judge in Nevada-is ineligible to review his case. Third Petition at 326- 34. This is one of 

24 Johnson 's few claims that was· not previously raised at least in pa11. See Third Petition at I 0-

25 11. As an initial matter, if Johnson indeed claims that elected judges may not review capital 

26 cases this Cow1 itself bas no business reviewing Johnson ' s case. Thus this Court must choos 

27 to ignore subsection 23{E) if it is to decide on any of Johnson s Third Petition. Alternatively , 

28 
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Johnson is welcome to maintain the claim, abandon this state proceeding, and seek reJiefwith 

2 an un-elected federal judge, as he has already done. 

3 a. 23(A): Judge Sobel Alleged Bias 

4 Even though Judge Sobel was removed as a judicial officer in 2005- five years after 

5 presiding over the guilt phase of Johnson ' s trial- Johnson has not actually alleged that Judge 

6 Sobel was specifica11y biased against Johnson. Third Petition at 326. The claim that he was 

7 biased "against defendants like Jolmson" is a bare and naked claim that this Court should not 

8 credit. HarnTove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Johnson bas not demonstrated that he has 

9 any information that would supp01t a specific claim of Judge Sobel ' s judicial bias against 

10 Johnson. 

11 b. 23(B): Judge Becker's Alleged Conflict of Interest 

12 Johnson admits that the merits of this claim were examined by the Nevada Supreme 

13 Com1 in its June 29, 2007 Order Denying Johnson's motion for extension of time to file a 

14 petition for rehearing. Third Petition at 329; Exhibit 23. The Court explicitly found that "the 

15 result would have remained the same regardless of [Judge Beckees] participation," because 

16 although "'four justices O sign[ ed] the majority opinion in Johnson [II], tlu·ee justices signed a 

17 concurrence. ;\II seven justices of this court were in agreement that Johnson' s death sentence 

18 should be affirmed." Exhibit 23 at 2. Because this Cou11 has no supervisory authority over the 

19 Nevada Supreme Com1, it cannot feverse this finding. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43, 28 P.3d at 

20 519-21. 

21 c. 23(C): Judge Gates' AJleged Bias 

22 Johnson's claim that his final penalty phase judge employed a prior Clark County 

23 District Attorney's Office intern- let alone that said former intern "worked on Johnson• s case 

24 and had access to his fi les' - is a bare and naked clafo1, unsupported by any citation 

25 whatsoever, that this Coult should not credit. Third Petition at 329; Harttrove, 100 Nev . at 502l 

26 686 P.2d at 225. Johnson has not demonsh·ated that he has any infonnation that would suppott 

27 this claim. 

28 / / / 
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d. 23(D): Nevada Supreme Court's Review 

Johnson's claim that the Nevada Supreme Court must articulate ' standards ' in its 

independent review of death sentences is utterly without merit. Third Petition at 330. NRS 

177 .055(2) explicitly states that the Comt must consider: 

(~) Whether the e_vidence suppo11s the finding of an aggravating 
circumstance or circumstances; 
( d) Whether the entence of death was imposed under the 
influence of passion, prejudice or any arbitrary factor; 
and (e) Whether the sentence of death is excessive1 considering 
both the clime and the defendant. 

Johnson fails to indicate what other "standards" might be required, let alone any 

authority for requiring them. Johnson cannot support this bare and naked claim. Har ove, l 00 

Nev. at 502, 686 P .2d at 225. 

e. 23(E): Elected Judges as Ineligible for Death-Penalty Review 

Again, if Johnson continues to asse1i his c1aim that elected judges may not review 

capital cases, this Court should not review Johnson ' s case. Third Petition at 331- 34. Any 

finding made by this Court about the merits of Johnson ' s claims would thus be tainted by what 

he alleges is the inherent bias of an elected judiciary. More to the point an untimely and 

successive habeas petition is not the place to challenge Nevada's entire judicial system. There 

is absolutely no good cause that could justify such review at this stage. 

With no possibility of success in challenging these individual judges, let alone 

Nevada 's entire judicial system, prior counsel were not ineffective for not making these 

chalJenges, let a]one with respect to Judge Becker, where counsel did in fact make a challenge. 

Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues in the first post-conviction 

proceedings . Without any chance of success, Johnson crumot establish that he would be 

prejudiced if this entire claim were dismissed per the mandatory procedural bars. 

24. Claim Twenty-Four: Weighing Standard at Penalty Phase (Including 
IAC) 

ln this ground, Johnson alleges his penaJty phase ju1y should have made its 

deten11ination that the mitigating circumstances olltweighed the aggravating beyond a 
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reasonable doubt and that counsel was ineffective for failing to move for said instruction. Third 

2 Petition at 235- 3 7. Again, the second l1alf of this claim is one of the few grow1ds that is not 

3 waived. See Section Ill , Intro, supra; NRS 34.810(1); Franklin, 110 Nev. at 752, 877 P.2d at 

4 1059. In addition, this is one of Johnson ' s few claims that was not previously raised at least in 

5 part. See Third Petition at 10-11. However, the claim is without merit. 

6 Last year the Nevada Supreme Court rejected Johnson's interpretation of Hurst v. 

7 Florida, 13 6 S. Ct. 616 (2016) put fmth by another defendant sentenced to death, holding that 

8 "Hurst did nothing more than apply Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002), 

9 and A J Jrendi v. New Jere ,, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000) to Flmida's death penaJty 

10 procedme~ it made no new law relevant to Nevada. " Jeremias v. State 134 Nev._, 412 P.3d 

11 43 53 reh'g denied (Apr. 27, 2018), ceti. denied, 139 S. Ct. 415 (2018). This claim wouJd 

12 have had no chance of success at the penalty hearing (during wl1ich time in 2005 Hurst had 

l 3 not even been decided) or on appeal (due to the Court' s explicit holding in Jeremias). 

14 With no possibility of success on appeal , appellate counsel was not ineffective for not 

15 raising this issue. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising this issue in tl1e first 

16 postconviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot establish that he 

17 would be prejudiced if d1is entire claim were dismissed per the mandatmy procedural bars. 

18 25. Clajm Twenty-Five: Unrecorded Bench Conferences 

19 In this ground, Johnson alleges that he was dep1ived of meaningful appellate review 

20 because some unspecified bench conferences were unrecorded. Third Petition at 338-40. 

21 Johnson admits that this claim was previously raised and denied in this first direct appeal and 

22 then raised in full and denied in his first post-conviction appeal. Third Petition at I 0- l l. 

23 lndeed, the Nevada Supreme Court held that Jolu1son failed to show plain en-or with regard to 

24 off-record bench conferences in the issue in his direct appeaJ. Johnson I, 118 Nev. at 806, 59 

25 P.3d at 463 . Then, the Court denied Johnson ' s claim of ineffective assistance of counsel 

26 concerning this issue in his post-conviction appeal. Johnson Jll, 133 Nev. at _ 402 P.3d at 

27 1276. Therefore, it i barred by the doctrine oflaw of the case. Evans, 117 ev. at 641 3, 28 

28 PJd at 519- 21. Pelle •rini l 17 Nev. at 884 34 P.3d at 535; Mc elton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 
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1 P.2d at 1276 (1999) Hall, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valerio 112 Nev. at 386, 

2 915 P.2d at 876- Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710. Because Johnson does not allege 

3 that any parts of this claim cover new grounds, this entire claim is summarily dismissed. Third 

4 Petition at 12. 

5 26. Claim Twenty-Six: International Law 

6 ln this ground, Johnson alleges the trial comi violated his rights under international law. 

7 Third Petition at 341-42 . Johnson admits this claim was previously raised and denied in his 

8 first post-conviction appeal. Third Petition at 11. Indeed, Johnson raised claims that his trial 

9 and sentence violated international law in his appeal from the denial of his First Petition. 

10 Johnson 111, 133 Nev. at_, 402 P.3d at 1274, n.3. Therefore, it is ban-ed by the doctrine of 

11 law of the case. Evans1 117 Nev. at 641-43 2 8 P .3d at 519- 21. Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 884, 

12 34 P.3d at 535; McNelton, 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Han, 91 ev . at 315-

13 16, 535 P.2d at 798-99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 

14 860 P.2d at 710. Because Johnson does not allege that any pa1is of this claim cover new 

15 grounds, this entire claim is sw111narily dismissed. Third Petition at 12. 

16 27. Claim Twenty~Seveu: Jury's Implicit Bias 

17 In this ground, Johnson alleges that all juries are inherentJy, implicitly biased. Third 

18 Petition at 343-44. This is one of Johnson s few claims that was not previously raised at least 

19 in pa11. See Third Petition at 10- 11. However, the claim is without merit. 

20 Johnson has not offered a single fact to suppol't his allegation that his penalty phase 

21 jurors suffered from implicit bias. Nor has he cited anything except a 2014 New York 

22 University Law Revi.ew a.iiicle to supp01i hi s allegation that imphcit bias even exists- let 

23 alone that it is more inherent in death-qualified jurors than in others. He cites no case Jaw to 

24 suppo1t his allegation that it is error not to i nsb·uct a jmy on such bias. Tbus, this is a bare and 

25 naked claim that should be summarily dismissed. Har Tove, l 00 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. 

26 Because Johnson has not demonstrated that he has any infoi-mation that would suppo11 a 

27 specific claim of implicit bias that led to his death sentence, be has not established any 

28 possibility of success on appeal; thus, appellate counsel was not ineffective for not raising this 
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issue. Accordingly, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues in the first 

2 postconviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot establish that he 

3 would be prejudiced if this entire claim were dismissed per the mandatory procedural bars. 

4 28. Claim Twenty-Eight: Freedom of Association 

5 In this ground, Johnson alleges a violation of his right to freedom of association. Third 

6 Petition at 345--46. This is one of Johnson s few claims that was not previously raised at least 

7 in prut. See Third Petition at 10- 1 1 . However, as with his related prosecutorial misconduct 

8 argument, the claim is irrelevant. Section UI(B)(16)(b), supra. Johnson himse.lf based a large 

9 part of his 1nitigation case on gang psychology and on his own involvement in gangs as an 

10 explanation for various life choices. Johnson n, 122 Nev. at 135 l 148 P.3d at 772. Counsel 

11 would have had no chance of success challenging the State's presentation of gang-related 

12 evidence, on whatever grounds, either at b·ial or on appeal. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective 

13 for not raising these issues in the first po t-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of 

14 success, Johnson cannot establish that he would be prejudiced if this entire claim were 

15 dismissed per the mandat01y procedural bars. 

16 29. Claim Twenty-Nine: Death Penalty Ineligibility 

17 In this ground, Johnson alleges he is ineligible for the death penalty, entirely, due to his 

18 age and borderline inteJlectual functioning. Third Petition at 347- 53 . Johnson alleges this 

19 claim was not previously raised. See Third Petition at I 0-11. However, as discussed supt"a, 

20 Johnson asse1ted a Roper argument in his second direct appeal, which the Nevada Supreme 

21 Comtrejected. John on 11, 122 Nev. at 1353= 148 P.3d at 774 (''Because there is no question 

22 that Johnson was not a juvenile when he committed the murders, his reliance upon Roper is 

23 misplaced." ). See Section Il(D), supra. Therefore this pait of the claim is baJTed by the 

24 doctrine of law of the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641-43 28 P.3d at 519- 21. Pellell rini, 117 

25 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d at 535· McNelton, l l 5 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall, 91 

26 Nev. at 315- 16, 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Valerio, 112 Nev. at 386, 915 P.2d at 876· Hogan, 109 

27 Nev. at 952 , 860 P .2d at 710. To the extent Johnson now attempts to assert new scientific and 

28 sociological research and non-binding extra-state precedent to add support to his previous 
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J argument that Roper should be extended, this cannot he]p him avoid the law of the case. Third 

2 Petition at 347- 52; Hall, 91 Nev. at 316 535 P.2d at 798- 99; Pertuen 110 Nev. at 557- 58, 

3 875 P.2d at 362. 

4 As discussed, .Johnson ' s argument that he is ineligible for the death penalty under 

5 Atkins is also without merit. 536 U.S. at 304 122 S. Ct. at 2242; NRS 174.098; NRS 175.554; 

6 see Section II(D), supra. Under Atkins, and relevant Nevada law, Johnson would have to 

7 establish intellectual disability-not mere borderline intellectual functioning. Intellectual 

8 disability is defined as "significant subaverage general intellectual functioning whkh exists 

9 concmTently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested dming the developmental 

10 period." Id. Jolmson has been evaluated repeatedly by defense mental health expe1ts and none 

11 have ever diagnosed him with intellectual disability. Exhibits 143, 145, 173; Transcript, May 

12 3 2005, 14-133. Thus any Atkins claim would not have been successful. 

13 Johnson has not offered any authority to supp01i his argument that two factors that, 

14 independently, would not have disqualified him from the death penalty can somehow be 

15 combined to disqualify him. Thi.rd Petition at 353 . Therefore, even ifthis Comt construes this 

16 claim as one suitable for a habeas petition, counsel was not ineffective for not raising this 

17 claim on direct appeal. Thus, Mr. Oram was not ineffective for not raising these issues in the 

18 first post-conviction proceedings. Without any chance of success, Johnson cannot establish 

19 that he would be prejudiced if this entire claim were dismissed per the mandato1y procedw·al 

20 bars. 

2 1 30. Claim Thirty: Cumulative Error 

22 ln this ground, Johnson alleges he is entitled to relief due to cumulative error. Third 

23 Petition at 354. Johnson admits this claim was previously raised and denied in his first 

24 postconviction appeal. Third Petition at 11. Therefore, it is ba1Ted by the doct1ine of law of 

25 the case. Evans, 117 Nev. at 641--43, 28 P.3d at 519- 21. PeJlegrini, 117 Nev. at 884, 34 P.3d 

26 at 535; McNelton 115 Nev. at 396, 990 P.2d at 1276 (1999), Hall , 91 Nev. at 315- 16, 535 

27 P.2d at 798-99; Yalei-io, 112 Nev. at 386,915 P.2d at 876; Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952,860 P.2d 

28 
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at 710. Because Johnson does not allege that any parts of this claim cover new grounds, this 

2 entire claim is summarily dismissed. Third Petition at 12. 

3 ORDER 

4 THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief 

5 shall be, and it is, hereby denied. 
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DA TED this __ day of January, 2021. 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 

BY 1 ~v0d.JA! r 
A A . HE -
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar # 10539 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 

2 I hereby certify that service of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, was 

3 made th.is 26th day of January, 2021 by Electronic Filing to: 
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AC/S1..-ylcr Sullivanlcd 

By: Isl E.Davis 

RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Email: randol_ph fiedler a fd .or • 

ELLESSE HENDERSON 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Email: eJJesse hender.son:!!-fd. r • 

Employee for the District Attorney's Office 
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February 1, 2021 

 
 
Alexander G. Chen 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
 
 
 Re: State v. Johnson 
  Case No: A-19-789336-W 

 

Dear Mr. Chen: 

 We are in receipt of your proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 
Order in this case, e-mailed to us on January 26, 2021 by Eileen Davis. We have the 
following objections: 

• On a number of occasions, the proposed order refers to 
“mischaracterizations,” and in one particular place refers to “several other 
mischaracterizations of prior claims in this Third Petition.”1 This 
commentary, itself a mischaracterization, is neither necessary nor 
appropriate for an order of the Court. We request this language be removed. 

• The proposed order greatly expands the scope of the district court’s minute 
order.2 The proposed order must “accurately reflect[] the district court’s 

 
1 See, e.g. Proposed Order at 55 (“disingenuous attempts to mischaracterize counsel’s words”); id. at 56 (“Johnson 
again mischaracterizes his penalty-phase counsel’s words . . . .”); id. at 65 (“However, as with several other 
mischaracterizations of prior claims in his Third Petition . . . .”). 
2 Compare Proposed Order (76 pages long) with Minutes (May 15, 2020) (3 pages long); compare,, e.g., Minutes 
(May 15, 2020) (denying all claims on basis of procedural default without ruling on individual claims’ merits) with 
Proposed Order at 29–76 (discussing merits of individual claims). 

411 E. Bonneville Ave. 
Suite #250 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Tel: 702-388-6577 

 

Rene L. Valladares 
Federal Public Defender 
District of Nevada 

Lori C. Teicher 
First Assistant 
 

Randolph M. Fiedler 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 

FEDERAL PUBLIC 
DEFENDER 
- District of Nevada-

AA12350



findings.”3 Indeed, district courts are required to provide “sufficient 
specificity to provide guidance to the prevailing party in drafting a proposed 
order.”4 Nothing in the district court’s minutes provided a basis for expansion 
of the court’s findings in the Proposed Order. The Nevada Supreme Court has 
noted that it is inappropriate for a district court to adopt a proposed order 
that includes determinations for which it did not make express findings.5 We 
request that the proposed order be reduced to the rulings for which the court 
provided specific guidance. 

I thank you in advance for your consideration of these matters. If you have any 
questions, please do not hesitate to reach out: (702) 388-6577 or 
randolph_fiedler@fd.org. 

  

Very truly yours, 
 
 
/s Randolph M. Fiedler 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 

 
3 See Byford v. State, 123 Nev. 67, 69, 156 P.3d 691, 692 (2007). 
4 Id. at 70, 156 P.3d at 693. 
5 State v. Greene, 129 Nev. 559, 565, 307 P.3d 322, 325–26 (2013). 
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FFCO 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
ALEXANDER CHEN 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #0010539 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
    Plaintiff, 

  -vs- 
 
DONTE JOHNSON, 
#1586283 
 

                                     Defendant.. 
 

 

CASE NO: 
 
 
 
DEPT NO: 

A-19-789336-W /  
98-C-153154-1 
 
 
VI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF 

LAW AND ORDER 
 

DATE OF HEARING:  FEBRUARY 13, 2020 
TIME OF HEARING:  9:30 AM 

 THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable JACQUELINE 

BLUTH, District Judge, on the 13th day of February, 2020, the Petitioner not being present 

but represented by the Federal Public Defender’s Office, by and through RANDOLPH 

FIEDLER and ELISE HENDERSON, the Respondent being represented by STEVEN B. 

WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, by and through ALEXANDER CHEN, Chief 

Deputy District Attorney, and the Court having considered the matter, including briefs, 

transcripts, arguments of counsel, and documents on file herein, now therefore, the Court 

makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law: 

// 

// 

// 

Electronically Filed
10/08/2021 7:44 AM

Statistically closed: USJR - CV - Other Manner of Disposition (USJROT)

~-~4.:,._ 
CLERK OF THE COURT 
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FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 NRS 34.726 requires [u]nless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that 

challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year after entry of the 

judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after 

the appellate court issues its remittitur. Here, the remittitur on the appeal of the second penalty 

phase issued on January 28, 2008. The instant petition was filed on February 13, 2019, which 

is more than eleven years and therefore well beyond the one year time bar. The State, in its 

opposition, also plead laches under NRS 34.800(2) which states [a] period exceeding 5 years 

between the filing of a judgment of conviction, an order imposing a sentence of imprisonment 

or a decision on direct appeal of a judgment of conviction and the filing of a petition 

challenging the validity of a judgment of conviction creates a rebuttable presumption of 

prejudice to the State. The prejudice can only be overcome if the petitioner shows that the 

petition is based upon grounds of which the petitioner could not have had knowledge by the 

exercise of reasonable diligence, or the petitioner demonstrates that a fundamental miscarriage 

of justice has occurred. NRS 34.800(1). No such showing has been made. 

 NRS 34.810 states a second or successive petition must be dismissed if the judge or 

justice determines that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior 

determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge or 

justice finds that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior petition 

constituted an abuse of the writ. The instant petition is the third petition in this matter. The 

first petition was filed on February 13, 2008. Counsel was appointed for Petitioner and 

extensive briefing commenced. An evidentiary hearing was conducted over three days in June 

2013. The Court denied the petition and the findings of fact and conclusions of law was entered 

on March 17, 2014. Petitioner filed a second petition on October 2, 2014 which was denied 

and a findings of fact and conclusions of law was filed on February 4, 2015. Subsequently, 

Petitioner initiated federal habeas proceedings on April 23, 2018 and while those were still 

pending, the federal public defender filed the instant petition on his behalf. The grounds in the 

instant third petition are not new and the prior determination was on the merits as shown 
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through the evidentiary hearing and findings of fact/conclusions of law resulting from his first 

petition. Therefore, the petition is successive.  

 The procedural bars can be overcome if the petitioner can prove good cause and 

prejudice. Here, the petitioner has failed to do so. Additionally, if Petitioner is entitled to 

counsel in his first petition, he may assert an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in a second 

petition. Crump v. Warden, Nevada State Prison, 113 Nev. 293, 302, 934 P.2d 247, 253 (1997) 

(holding that ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel could constitute the cause 

necessary to prevent procedural default). Here, Petitioner claims that post-conviction counsel’s 

deficient performance provides the cause and the merits of the underlying claim provide the 

prejudice required to overcome all three procedural bars. Petitioner claims that counsel’s 

failure to do any extra investigation beyond the record and raise certain meritorious claims 

was ineffective and thus the bars do not apply. This court disagrees with Petitioner’s analysis 

to overcome the procedural bars as detailed below.  

 First, upon review of the record, this Court finds that the Batson claims, juror conduct, 

and the jury instructions have been addressed in previous petitions where they were decided 

on the merits. While certain claims regarding expert testimony on why individuals may change 

their testimony, coerced statements and blood spatter may not have been raised previously, 

this Court does not find post-conviction counsel deficient for failing to raise them. In order to 

show ineffective assistance of counsel, the Petitioner must show that counsel’s representation 

fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that prejudice resulted. Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). Prejudice results when, but for counsel’s error, there 

is a reasonable probability that the result of those additional claims would have changed the 

result of the proceedings.  

 Second, the failure to conduct additional investigations in this case does not raise to the 

level of ineffective assistance of counsel. A defendant who contends that his attorney was 

ineffective because he did not adequately investigate must show how a better investigation 

would have rendered a more favorable outcome probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 87 

P.3d 533 (2004). Strickland states that a fair assessment of an attorney’s performance requires 
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that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight. Ford v. State, 105 

Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989)(internal citation omitted). Here, Petition does not 

assert with specificity what an additional investigation would have uncovered and how it 

would have changed the outcome.  

ORDER 

  THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief 

be DENIED.  

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Petitioner’s Motion for Discovery 

be DENIED. 

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Petitioner’s Motion for an 

Evidentiary Hearing be DENIED.  

  DATED this _____ day of September, 2021. 
 
   

  
DISTRICT JUDGE 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
 
 
BY /s/ Alexander Chen 
 ALEXANDER CHEN 

Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #0010539 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dated this 8th day of October, 2021 

C79 0B5 012C DE6B 
Jacqueline M. Bluth 
District Court Judge 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 

I hereby certify that service of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, was 

made this 1st day of September, 2021, by Electronic Filing to: 

 
     RANDOLPH M. FIEDLER 
     Assistant Federal Public Defender 

Email: randolph_fiedler@fd.org  
 
ELLESSE HENDERSON 
Assistant Federal Public Defender 
Email: ellesse_henderson@fd.org  
 

 

 

 By: /s/ E.Davis 

 Employee for the District Attorney's Office 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AC//ed 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-19-789336-WDonte Johnson, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

William Gittere, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 17

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law was served via the court’s 
electronic eFile system to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as 
listed below:

Service Date: 10/8/2021

ECF Notifications CHU ecf_nvchu@fd.org

Jeremy Kip Jeremy_Kip@fd.org

District Attorney's Office motions@clarkcountyda.com

Sara Jelinek sara_jelinek@fd.org

Randolph Fiedler Randolph_Fiedler@fd.org

Celina Moore celina_moore@fd.org

Steven Owens steven.owens@clarkcountyda.com

Ellesse Henderson ellesse_henderson@fd.org

Eileen Davis Eileen.davis@clarkcountyda.com

Alexander Chen Alexander.Chen@clarkcountyda.com

AA12357
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NEFF 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

DONTE JOHNSON, 
 
                                 Petitioner, 
 
 vs. 
 
WILLIAM GITTERE; ET AL., 
 
                                 Respondent, 

  
Case No:  A-19-789336-W 
                             
Dept No:  XVII 
 

                
 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT, 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER 
 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on October 8, 2021, the court entered a decision or order in this matter, a 

true and correct copy of which is attached to this notice. 

You may appeal to the Supreme Court from the decision or order of this court. If you wish to appeal, you 

must file a notice of appeal with the clerk of this court within thirty-three (33) days after the date this notice is mailed 

to you. This notice was mailed on October 11, 2021. 
 
      STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CLERK OF THE COURT 

 

 

 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF E-SERVICE / MAILING 
 
 I hereby certify that on this 11 day of October 2021, I served a copy of this Notice of Entry on the 
following: 
 

 By e-mail: 
  Clark County District Attorney’s Office  
  Attorney General’s Office – Appellate Division- 
     
 

 The United States mail addressed as follows: 
Donte Johnson  # 66858 Rene L. Valladares,        
P.O. Box 1989 Federal Public Defender       
Ely, NV  89301 411 E. Bonneville, Ste. 250       
      Las Vegas, NV  89101       

 
 

 

/s/ Heather Ungermann 
Heather Ungermann, Deputy Clerk 

/s/ Heather Ungermann 
Heather Ungermann, Deputy Clerk 

Case Number: A-19-789336-W

Electronically Filed
10/11/2021 8:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

AA12358
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FFCO 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
ALEXANDER CHEN 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #0010539 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
    Plaintiff, 

  -vs- 
 
DONTE JOHNSON, 
#1586283 
 

                                     Defendant.. 
 

 

CASE NO: 
 
 
 
DEPT NO: 

A-19-789336-W /  
98-C-153154-1 
 
 
VI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF 

LAW AND ORDER 
 

DATE OF HEARING:  FEBRUARY 13, 2020 
TIME OF HEARING:  9:30 AM 

 THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable JACQUELINE 

BLUTH, District Judge, on the 13th day of February, 2020, the Petitioner not being present 

but represented by the Federal Public Defender’s Office, by and through RANDOLPH 

FIEDLER and ELISE HENDERSON, the Respondent being represented by STEVEN B. 

WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, by and through ALEXANDER CHEN, Chief 

Deputy District Attorney, and the Court having considered the matter, including briefs, 

transcripts, arguments of counsel, and documents on file herein, now therefore, the Court 

makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law: 

// 

// 

// 

Electronically Filed
10/08/2021 7:44 AM

Statistically closed: USJR - CV - Other Manner of Disposition (USJROT)

~-~4.:,._ 
CLERK OF THE COURT 

AA12359
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